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PREFACE.

Says the poet

:

" He thnt writes,

Or makes a feast, more certainly invites

His judges than his friends
; there's not a guest

But will find something wanting, or ill drest.''

Conscious that much truth is contained in the

above lines, the writer does not present this work

to the public with the expectation that it will meet

the approval of all who read ; but literary fame not

being the object for which it was written, he trusts

that he will be in no wise disconcerted by the criti-

cisms it may call forth. He would say, however, to

the individual inclined to regard the work as one

unworthy the attention of the public, that it will be

far more becoming in him—considering the want of

histories of the Townships—to employ his time and

talents in preparing one which will be entitled to
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respect, than only to indul^i^c in fanlt-fin(lin,<;s witli

the one now issued.

In the
;
reparation of tliis history, it has ])een the

desire of tlie wi'iter to " ^ive credit to whom credit

is due ;" yet, lie doubts not tliat tliere are worthy

sons of worthy sires, living in the townships about

which he has written, whose names do not appear in

these i)ages ; but by the intelligent, the impossibility

of noticing all the pioneers and their posterity, in a

volume of this size, will at once be seen.

More lengthy ])iographical sketches of many who

are noticed in the following pages would gladly have

been given ; but this could be done only by swelling

the work to a large volume, or by excluding many

names which now appear.

Much kindness and politeness has generally been

extended to the writer, by those with whom he has

come in contact in collecting material for this work,

and for which he would embrace this opportunity to

acknowledge his gratitude.

SuTTOX, C. E., Uth Dec, 1800.
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THE EASTERN TOWNSHIPS.

ST. ARMAND.

That part of Canada which now forms St. Armand,

with the exception of a tract of land four miles square

which has since been added, was formerly included in

the Seigniory, described below :

—

RoLLAND Michel Baiibin, &c.

FRANfoits Bigot, &c.

On the petition presented to us by the Sieur Nicolas

Rdn^ Levasseur, builder of the King's ships in this

colony, praying that he would be pleased to grant him

a tract of land of six leagues in front along the Missis-

kouy, in Lake Champlain, by three leagues in depth

on both sides of the same, the said six leagues in front

to be taken at a distance of eight arpents below the

first fall situate three leagues up the said river, as-

cending the said river Missiskouy ; the whole in fief

and seigniory, with the right of superior, mean and

B
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inferior jurisdiction (haute, moyenne et basse jus-

tice), and that of fishing, hunting and trading with the

Indians, as well opposite as within the said tract of

land ; having r ;gard to the same petition.

We, in virtue of the power jointly entrusted to us

by His Majesty, have given, granted, and conceded,

and do give, grant, and concede to the said Sieur

Levasseur the said tract of land of six leagues in front

by three leagues in depth, as herein above described
;

to have and to hold the same unto the said Sieur

Levasseur, his heirs and assigns, foi' ever, under the

title of fief and seigniory, with the right of superior,

mean, and inferior jurisdiction, and that of hunting,

fishing, and trading with the Indians throughout the

whole extent of the said concession ; subject to the

performance of fealty and homage (foi et hommage)

at the castle of St. Louis de Quebec, to which he shall

be held under the customary rights and dues, agree-

able to the Custom of Paris followed in this country ;

and on condition that he shall preserve and cause to be

preserved by his tenants, the oak timber fit for the

building of His Majesty's ships ; that he shall give

notice to the King of the mines, ores and minerals

which may be found within the extent of the said con-

cession ; that the appeals from the judge who may be

established there shall lie before the royal jurisdiction

of Montreal ; that he shall keep thereon house and

home (feu et lien'), and cause the same to be kept by

his tenants ; that he shall immediately clear and cause

i

I

I



HISTORY OF ST. ARMAND. 11

to be cleared the said tract of land, and satisfy us of

the works which he shall have caused to be performed

from this dav till next fall, in default whereof the

said concession shall be and remain null and of no

avail ; that he shall leave the King's highways and

other roadways necessary to the public, and cause the

same condition to be inserted in the concessions which

he may grant to his tenants, subject to the customary

cens et rentes and dues for each arpent of land in front

by forty in depth ; that he shall allow the beaches to

be free to fishermen, with the exception of those which

he may require for his own fishery ; and should Ilis

Majesty hereafter require any portion of the said tract

of laud to erect thereon forts, batteries, military places,

stores, and public works. His Majesty shall have the

right of taking it, as well as the timber necessary for

the said works, and the firewood for the garrisons of

the said forts without being held to pay any indemnity
;

the whole under the pleasure of His Majesty by whom
he shall be held to have these presents confirmed

within one year.

In testimony whereof, &c.

Given at Quebec, the twenty-third day of Septem-

ber, one thousand seven hundred and forty-eight.

(Signed)

Counters!2:ned and scaled.

La Galissoniere,

and Bigot.

(True copy,) Bigot.
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The preceding grant was ratified by the King of

France, on the 30th of April, 1749.

This Seigniory was subsequently purchased by the

Hon. Thomas Dunn, who was once a member of the

Legislative and Executive Councils for the Province

of Lower Canada, and one of the Judges of the Court

of King's Bench, for the District of Quebec.

When the boundary hne between the United States

and Canada was determined, much of the Seigniory

became a part of the territory that now constitutes the

State of Vermont ; hence was lost to the Seignior.

A tradition is extant, that the Provincial Govern-

ment compensated the Hon. Mr. Dunn for this loss by

a grant of certain tracts of land situate in this part of

the Province.

A letter addressed to the Crown Land Department

inquiring as to the truth of this tradition, elicited the

following reply

:

Department of Crown Lands.

Ottawa, 22nd October, 1866.

Sir,

In reply to your letter of the 16th insf , in reference

to the information requested in your pre . ious commu-

nication of the 26th ult., I beg leave to inform you

that there is no record in this office of any grant
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especially distinguished in the light of a compensation

to the Hon. Thomas Dunn, for deficiency of territory

in the Seigniory of St. Armand. However, a grant

was made by Letters Patent from His Excellency Lord

Dorchester, bearing date of 2nd February, 1796, to

Thomas Dunn, Esq., and associates, of40,595 acres in

the township of Dunham.

If any such compensation was granted, the record

of it would easily be found in the archives of the

Province, deposited in the vaults of the Government

House, at Montreal.

I have the honor to be,

Sir,

Your obedient servant,

A. Russell,

Assistant Commissioner.

Search was made in the vaults alluded to in the

above letter, but an answer was returned that no

records relating to the matter in question could be

found. But however this may be, it seems to be a

fact that, during the lifetime of Mr. Dunn, " four

miles square " were annexed to the east end of the

present Seigniory of St. Armand, the lots in which

have been ceded to purchasers on the same terms as

those in the Seigniory proper.

The land in that part of the Seigniory which was
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included in Canada, was granted in lots to grantees,

by deeds wliicli set forth the engagement of the ven-

dee to pay the price agreed upon, with interest, by

a day fixed, as also one shilling for every hundred acres

yearly, for ever. And it was added that the Seignior

released the lands from every claim, seigniorial or other-

wise, for ever, such quit-rent alone excepted.

The territory now known as St. Armand is eighteen

miles in length by four in breadth, and bounded north

by Stanbridge and Dunham, east by Sutton, south

by Vermont, and west by Missisquoi Bay. Being of

such length, much inconvenience was formerly ex-

perienced in attending to the duties pertaining to its

ecclesiastical affairs, hence, it was thought ^advisable

to have it divided into two parishes.

Preliminary steps for effecting this division were

taken, and on the 9th of August, 1834, Letters Patent

were issued which made the division proposed. The

parishes thus erected are known as the parishes of St.

Armand East and West.

In the arrangement of this work, the attention of the

reader is first called to St. Armand West.



PHILIPSBUEG.

Eighty-four years ago, that portion of Canada now

called the Eastern Townships was unknown to the

civilized world. The red man, only, had hunted the

wild animals that roamed in the forest that covered it,

and angled for the fish that sported in its lakes, ponds,

and rivers.

The first party of white men that broke, as settlers,

into this trackless wilderness, came in the fall of 1784,

and settled on the shore of Missisquoi Bay, and in the

section adjacent. The names (*) of the early settlers

are as follows :—Adam Deal, Harmonas Best, Lewis

Streit, Christjohn Wehr, Christjohn Hawver, Alex-

ander Taylor, John Ruiter, Koonrod Best, John Sax,

Alexander Hyatt, Gilbert Hyatt, Jacob Barr, Philip

Luke, John Mock, James Anderson, Joseph Smith,

Frederick Hayner, Gtirret Sixby, and Peter Miller.

(•) These individuals may not all have arrived at the same
time, but if there was any difference in the periods of their

arrival, it was small.
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All were loyalists, and most, if not all of them, had

been in the British service during the American revo-

lution. Nearly all of them, too, as their names indicate,

were of Dutch origin, and had left the States and

come to Canada some years previous.

It is stated as a reason why they came to Missisquoi

Bay, to settle, that an exploring party had recently

visited this section of country, and carried back to the

settlements on the St. Lawrence a flattering account

of their discoveries.

The nearest market at this time was St. Johns

—

more than twenty miles distant by land, and sixty by

water. In 1783, a grist mill was built at the place

now called Burlington, in Vermont, and to this mill

they frequently had to go in an open boat, to procure

food for their families.

They purchased their land of the Hon. Thomas

Dunn, at the price of two shillings an acre.

Three hundred and fifty acres of land, on a part of

which the village of Philipsburg now stands, was pur-

chased by John Ruiter.

Harmonas Best settled on a lot north of the land

owned by Ruiter, on the Bay shore.

South of the premises of Ruiter, Alexander Taylor

purchased one hundred acres, and on this the remain-

der of the village stands.

h

!'
IHi
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Another half* lot, bouucling Taylor's on the south, was

pnrehased by John Ilawver.

The next lot towards the same point of com|)ass,

was bought l)y Chrlstjohn "Wehr. "William Morgan now

owns the land formerly belonging to Haw^ver, and

part of that owned by Wehr.

The lot, next in succession in a southerly direction,

was bought by Lodwick, or, as he was commonly called,

Lewis Streit. This lot he sold about 1820, to Lewis

F. Streit, his nephew. The latter also bought fifty

acres of the land owned by Wehr, and on this he now

resides with his son.

Mr. Ruiter built a house on a spot just west of the

site of the present rectory. This was opened as a

pubhc house by Philip Ruiter, his son, soon after its

erection.

The elder Ruiter was an agent for Dunn's land,

and he was succeeded in this agency by his son

Philip.

From the latter, the village of Philipsburg derives

its name.

Alexander Taylor erected a dwelling on the spot

now occupied by the house of Wm. Morgan. This

building was destroyed by fire about 1802. A school-

teacher and his wife, who had come from one of the
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neighboring townships, and put up here for the night,

were consumed in it.

Ralph, a son of Alexander Taylor, was a man of

some influence in this section, and Avas once elected a

member of the Provincial Parliament. He was for

several years a Justice of the Peace. His son, Ralph

Taylor, jr., for a time held the office of Collector of

Customs at Frelighsburg.

When the first settlers came to St. Armand the

streams were in several places obstructed by beaver

dams. Owing to this, much of the land was free from

timber and overflowed with water. A great benefit

was thus, providentially, conferred on the pioneers.

They tore down the dams constructed by the industri-

ous beavers, and the grass, springing up in Inxnrinnr'e-

on the land recently covered with water, furnished

abundant sustenance for their animals.

Several of the number whose names are given above,

having settled at and near the place now called St.

Armand Station, a school-house for the accommodation

of both this locality and that at the Bay was built

between the two sections, on a spot near the present

dwelling of J. A. Deal. This house was erected a few

years after the country around w^as settled, and was

used both for a school-house and as a place for holding

public worship.
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The fii\st religious meetings iii this section were

appointed by Lorenzo Dow. In 1799 he came to

Canada, and visited Dunliam, Sutton, and other

localities toward Lake Memphramagog. He says :

" Returning through these places to Missisquoi Bay^

the prospect of good increased. From thence, I pro-

ceeded round the north end of the Bay to the west

side as far as I could find inhabitants. The roads

were so sloughy and miry that they were almost im-

passable ; however, I got places to accommodate the

inhabitants for meetings all along. Here, for thirty

miles there was no preaching until I came ; but the

Lord made bare his arm. Returning, I held meetings

at the same places, and found the prospect to increase."

The first Methodist meeting in St. Armand, of which

we have any record, was a quarterly meeting held at

Philipsburg, on the 20th of September, 1806. The

name of the presiding elder was Henry Eames ; of the

preacher, Reuben Harris.

The first Methodist church in the Eastern Town-

ships was built at this place in 1819. This church

is still used by the Wesleyan Society.

St. Armand was first embraced in the Essex Circuit.

In 1806, it was included in the Dunham Circuit. In

1821, Rev. James Booth, a British missionary, came

to Missisquoi Bay, and labored on what was called the
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St. Armand Circuit, embracing St. Armand, Stan-

bridge, Clarencevillc, Dunham, and Sutton.

In 1825, Mr. Lang came from Shefford to this

Circuit, and for many years labored -svith great zeal

and earnestness, as well as with great success, in

preaching the gospel of Christ in the then scattered

settlements of these townships.

In 1839, a portion of the St. Armand Circuit became

connected with the Durham Circuit. The names of

the localities embraced in the latter, will be found in

the history of Dunham. At this time, the Rev. "VVm.

Squire was laboring on the St. Armand Circuit. Mr.

Squire was a wise, laborious and useful minister of

Christ.

The same that can be said of almost every religious

society that has been in existence for such length

of time, may be said of the Wesleyan Society of St.

Armand West—it has passed through prosperity and

adversity.

At present its prospects are brightening.

Rev. J. Armstrong is now on the St. Armand

Circuit, laboring with earnestness for the good of

souls.

" The first effort to plant the Church of England

east of the river Richelieu, commenced at Philipsburg
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by the Rev. James Timstall, January, 1801, whose

register shows entries from the 20th of that month, to

the 17th of May, 1802. Between 1802, when Mr.

Tunstall left, and 1804, there was a Rev. Mr. Short;

but how long he stayed, or what were the extent and

cflfects of his labors, there are no records to sliow."

In 1804, the Rev. C. C. Cotton, of whom an

account will be found in the history of Dunham, in

another part of this volume, came to Philipsburg, where

he remained till the 28th day of March, 1808, when

he was succeeded by the Hon. and Rev. C. J. Stewart.

The success of Mr. Cotton was very limited. He

reported to the Society at homo, that the people had

not even a room set apart for divine service ; that they

refused to give anything towards the support of a

clergyman ; and that even on Christmas, when the

whole strength of the congregation might be expected

to assemble, there were only six persons present to

celebrate the Saviour's birth-day by receiving the holy

communion.

The reluctance which those people manifested to

give anything to support the preaching of the gospel

amongst them, has been, and is still too often discovered

in people of other localities, by clergymen called to

labor among them. Especially is this disposition

bscrvcd in secluded districts, even among professors

;
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many scorning to require a long time to be taught that

the clergy have wants common to the Uiity.

In 1811, Mr. Stewart opened a new church in the

west part of St. Arinand. It was erected more than

a mile south-east of the village of Philipsburg, on the

land now owned hy John Solomon. " This church

was called in honor of the Apostle of the Gentiles, St.

Pauls ; it was about fifty-five feet long by thirty-nine

wide, and was surmounted by a steeple." At the

time it was opened, so states Mr. Stewart, a great

concourse of people assembled in it.

" On Saturday, the 22nd A))ril, 1843, the spire of

this church was blown down, dohig much damage to

the building, which was before very ill placed, and

inadequate for the wants of the people. The Rector,

the Rev. Mr. Whitwcll, took advantage of the accident

to urr'e the removal of the church to the villa"re ofo o
Philipsburg, -where after working hard at raising the

necessary funds, he had the satisfaction of seeing

the present substantial and commodious edifice com-

pleted."

In 1815, Mr. Stewart went to England, and left his

mission in charge of Rev. James Reid, who, for three

years, had been engaged as a school-teacher at the

Bay. Mr. Reid had charge of the mission at St.

Armand until 182G. In 1834, he was assigned the

I If
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rectorship of the east Parish ; and the Rev. Richard

Whitwell was appointed Rector of the Parish of St.

Arraand West.

A more full account of Mr. Stewart and Mr. Reid

will be found in the history of Frclighsburg.

The following sketch of Mr. Whitwell is taken from

the " Church Chronicle," and such other records as

have fallen in the way of the writer :

*' Among the early pioneers of the Church of

England in the Eastern Townships, may be mentioned

the Rev. Richard Whitwell, M.A., who being animated

with the true missionary spirit, volunte'ered under the

auspices of the S. P. G., to carry the glad tidings of

the Gospal and preach the ' unsearchable riches of

Christ,' in one of the new missions in the backwoods

of Lower Canada, at that early date, sparsely settled,

and in many parts almost an unbroken wilderness.

" He crossed the ocean in company with the Hon.

and Rev. Dr. Stewart, and, after a voyage of fifty-six

days, reached Quebec on the loth of Sept., 1821.

" After a hurried visitjoif observation and exploration

through the principal settlements in the Eastern Town-

ships in company with Dr. Stewart, he finally was

appointed to the new mission of Shefford, Avhich the

bishop considered as having the first claim. There,

he arrived about the 22nd of Dec, 1821, and com-

menced his labors by dividing his Sunday services
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between East and West Shefford, -with sometimes a

third service at a school house or private dwelling,

and also occasional services in the neighboring town-

ships.

" Having labored in this field about five years with

many gratifying proofs that his labor was not in vain,

he, with the advice of his highly esteemed friend, Dr.

Stewart, applied for the mission at Philipsburg then

vacant, for which he duly received the appointment.

He arrived at Philipsburg, the principal village in his

new sphere of labor in the mission of St. Armand

West, on the 10th of October, 1826. Divine service

was then held at the church one and a-half mile from

the village, and also at Pigeon Hill, and occasionally

at school-houses in different parts of the parish. He
also was the first to perform Divine service at Bed-

ford."

In 1846, after the new church mentioned above

had been opened for Divine service, the health of the

rector beginning to fail, he provided himself with an

assistant, the Rev. WiUiam Jones. But although he

was abk to resume regulaf 'duty after a short rest

from his labors, and continued his charge till 1855,

he was then, on account of his increasing bodily infirm-

ities, obliged to resign, and waS succeeded by the

Rev. C. A. Wctherall in 1856.

The following address was then presented to him by

the churchwardens and parishioners :

! Illl'

'it 11
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" To the Rev. Richard Whitwell, M.A. :

" Reverend and Dear Sir,- -We cannot allow you

to resign the Rectorship of this parish, without express-

ing our real regret that your state of health is such as

to compel you to give up a trust, which you have so

faithfully discharged for the space of thirty years.

*• Many who sat under your teaching, when your

voice, health and strength were more adequate to that

important duty, and who heard the Gospel of Christ

preached with much earnestness and pathos, have not

been spared to unite with us at this time, in expres-

sions of gratitude for the benefits derived through the

blessing of God on your instructions and admonitions.

" The intimate connexion which subsists between a

clergyman and his parishioners, affords many oppor-

tunities of experiencing his kindness, sympathy and

consolation, under the most trying circumstances of

sickness, affliction and bereavement ; for all such

instances of the Christian pastor's solicitude which we

for so long a period have received as your parishioners,

we beg you to accept our warmest acknowledgments.

"We also receive as a proof of your continued interest

in the welfare of the parish, the liberal proposal made

by you and accepted by the Church corporation of the

exchange of parsonage property.

" Permit nis, dear Sir, to express our satisfaction that

you, with your kind and neighborly family, are to

continue to abide among us, that we may still have

the advantage of your counsel, advice, and friendship.

c
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" That you, Mrs. Whitwell and family, may long

enjoy a large measure of health and happiness, in

your comparative retirement, is the cordial wish and

earnest prayer of

Yours respectfully.

Alex. Young, O.W.,

D. T. R. Nye,

and forty others.

Parish of St. Armand West, 2nd April, 1856."

Wm. Roberts, C.W.,

P. P. Russell,

The subject of this brief memoir was born at Haxly,

near Yorkshire, England, in 1787, and was therefore

at the time of his death, the 4th of April, 1864, in

his seventy-eighth year. In his own words, he had

lived to see a second church erected in the parish

during the incumbency of the present rector, the

Rev. H. Montgomery, and an increase in the episco-

pate in Canada from one to five, and of the clergy

from thirty-two to three hundred and fifty, since his

arrival in the country in 1821.

He was, as appeared in his obituary, one of the

oldest clergymen in Canada, and a man of sterling

character and learning, universally beloved, not only

by his parishioners, but by all who had the privilege

of his acquaintance. His funeral sermon was preached

by the Rev. Canon Reid, D.D., who, with the vene-
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rable Archdeacon Scott, also present, both old and

highly valued friends, have since gone to their reward.

The Rev. C. A. Wetherall continued but a short

time in the parish, having resigned the rectory in

October, 1858, and was succeeded by the Rev. H.

Montgomery, the present rector.

In 1813, a body of Americans commanded by Col.

Clark made an attack on Philipsburg. A small force

of Canadian militia was stationed here, and had they

been supplied with arms would doubtless have repulsed

the enemy. On the day that the attack was made, •

the chief officer in command of the Canadians was

absent, consequently the command devolved on Major

Powell. Either through cowardice, or treachery, this

officer refused to give the arms of which he had

charge, to the men ; therefore they were left to the

mercy of the foe. A few of them, however, were

armed and fired on the Americans, wounding one

;

but this only provoked them to fire a volley in return,

which killed one and wounded several.

Being defenceless, the Canadians saw that it would

be folly to resist, hence surrendered. Thus nearly

one hundred and fifty were taken prisoners.

The following spring the Americans made another

raid on this village, yet did but little damage.
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About the beginning of the present century a store

was opened at Phihpsburg by Day & Gibson. It

was erected near the site of the present Custom

House.

The second store in the village was opened in 1807,

by Anthony Rhodes ; this is now occupied as a store

by J. W. Eaton. Besides this, there are at present

two stores in the place ; one owned by D. T. R. Nye,

Esq., the other by Mrs. Kcenan.

Mr. Nye has beer\ engaged in trade here for forty

years, during which time he has held several muni-

cipal offices. lie has been postmaster the greater

portion of the time since 1829.

Calvin May was an early physician in this village.

His son, Horatio May, succeeded him, and was an

influential and skilful physician here for several years.

He died in 1848.

J. S. Brigham, M.D., followed him in the practice

of medicine, and has become widely known as a prac-

titioner.

After the " Missisquoi Standard" had ceased to

exist at Frelighsburg, the printing-press which had

been used in pubhshing it was removed to Phihpsburg,

and a paper called " The Gleaner " was pubHshed

by Hamilton Carr.
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After '" The Gleaner " had been m existence a

year, another journal, called the " Missisquoi News,"

began to be published by W. W. Smith. Six months

afterwards, the publication of '' The Gleaner " was

discontinued.

The " Missisquoi News " was pubhshcd here a

year, and then removed to St. Johns, where, with the

" Missisquoi " dropped, its publication is still con-

tinued.

W. W. Smith has been engaged in business at

Philipsburg much of the time for thirty years. He is

now connected as an officer with the Custom House at

this port, and is the present warden of Missisquoi

County.

The first collector of customs at the port of Phil-

ipsburgh was Chas. H. Jones, appointed to this office

in 1840. Three or four years afterwards, he was

succeeded by P. P. Russell, Esq., who held it until

his death, which occurred in 1862. Mr. Russell was

a man highly respected and of much influence. He

was a justice of the peace and a member of the Mis-

sisquoi County Council established by an act passed

in 1847.

J. Henderson is the present collector.

Philipsburgh was incorporated in 1846. Col.

Henry Dyer was the first mayor.
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A high school was established here in 1849. It is

still continued. ,

Long before many of the present flourishing villages

of the Eastern Townships had an existence, Philips-

burg had become a place of considerable life and

importance. The following description of it in its

youthful days, is copied from Colonel Bouchette's

" Topographical Description of Lower Canada,"

published as early as 1815 :

" The village of Philipsburg is conveniently situated

on the edge of the Bay, about one mile from the Pro-

vince line. It is a handsome place, containing about

sixty houses, exceedingly well built of wood, many of

them in the peculiar style of neatness common to the

Dutch, and the others more in the fashion of the

American than the Canadian villages. Some regTird

has been paid to regularity in the formation of the

principal street, which has a lively and agreeable

'

appearance. Between this street and the Bay are

many store-houses^ with wharfs for landing goods at a

short distance from them.

" At this place there are many of the inhabitants

employed in trade and mercantile pursuits, besides

artizans, and perhaps more than a due proportion of

tavern-keepers. From the wharfs there is a ferry to

the opposite side of the Bay, a distance of four miles."

All who visit Philipsburg at the present day, will

sam
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readily endorse the above statement, that "it is a

handsome place ;" but they will discover that its

growth since the period at which the above descrip-

tion of it was written has not been great. The majo-

rity of the buildings are comparatively new and of

modern style, yet there are a few which have decidedly

an antiquated appearance.

A short distance south of this place, on a delightful

road leading to Vermont, is the village grave-yard,

overshadowed with trees. Here,

" Where heaves the turf in many a mouldering heap,

Each in his narrow cell for ever laid,

The rude forefathers of the hamlet sleep."
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ST. AEMAND STATION.

The first settlers in this part of St. Armand were

Garret Sixby, Joseph Smith, Frederick Hayner, and

Peter Miller.

Mr. Sixby was from Albany, New York. Rather

than bear arms against the mother country during the

revolution, he chose to become an exile from his native

land. In company with eleven other young men, who,

like himself, possessed hearts loyal to the British Gov-

ernment, he started for Canada.

One of their number who had previously been to

this Province, undertook to guide them in the wilder-

ness, through which they had to pass. For a while,

they pursued their course in safety, nothing occurring

to damp their hopes of a prosperous journey ; but, in

crossing a stream, on a raft, their guide lost his pack,

containing the compass which was to direct them on

their way. In consequence of this, the party was lost,

! ll
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and wandered many days in t. wilderness, suffering

incredibly both from hunger and fatigue. So sorely

pressed were they by hunger, that the dire temptation

of devouring one another came before them, but this

a kind Providence enabled them to withstand. Being

obliged to subsist chiefly on roots, they soon became

so weak that they were scarcely able to walk.

When thus reduced in strength, they fortunately

reached the shore of Lake Champlain. Approaching

it to quench their thirst, they heard a splashing in the

water, a short distance from them, and on going to

learn the cause of it, found a large fish in the shallow

water near the beach, struggling to get off. Regard-

ing this as an interposition of Providence to save them

from a horrid death, they secured the fish, and took

courage.

Soon after this they arrived at a spot where soldiers

had recently encamped. Here, they found fragments

of meat and bread, which they gladly ate, and being

thus strengthened, pushed forward with renewed cou-

rage, and finally reached Montreal, where they all

enlisted. They continued in the British service until

peace was declared.

While in Montreal, Mr. Sixby was married, and,

after being discharged from the army, took up his resi-
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dence on the St. Lawrence, and turned his attention

to farming. Soon afterward, however, he came to St.

Armand and settled on the lot now owned by his son

Peter, where he spent the remainder of his days. lie

died in 1827. He had eight children, all of whom

settled in St. Armand and the neighboring townships,

and were successful in life. Only four of them arc at

present living.

Joseph Smith came from the vicinity of Albany, and

also served in the British army duxing the revolution.

He was one of the first settlers in St. Armand West,

and settled on the lot where his son John now resides.

Peter Miller purchased the lot south of the one

owned by Mr. Sixby, and bounded south by the Pro-

vince lino. Two of his ^rand daughters now live on

this lot.

Frederick Hayner settled on the lot now owned by

Hiram Moore. The barn, and a portion of the house

he built, are still standing. The latter antiquated

structure is on the north side of the road leading to

Philipsburg. It fronts the railroad, and many times a

day its dilapidated walls echo the scream of the loco-

motive—strange contrast to the sounds they echoed

nearly four-score years ago.

There are no descendants of Mr, Hayner in this
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country. In 1801, he sold his farm and isiblUe to

Nicholas Moore, and left the place.

Mr. Moore came from Dutchess County, New York,

lie built a large tannery—the first in the country

—

soon after he came here. The railroad now passes

over the place where it stood. His son, Hiram Moore,

now resides on the homestead. Hon. P. H. Moore,

another son, is a resident of this part of St. Armand.

Being a man of ability, his talents were early called

into requisition. He was the first registrar appointed

for the County of Missisquoi. He is now a member of

the Legislative Council.

Col. Philip Luke, of whom a sketch is given in the

history of LaGrange, bought two lots west of that

bought by Mr. Miller. He opened a store at this place

a few years after settling here, and also built an

ashery. Much of the bread of the early settlers was

procured by making ashes. Many of them sold the

ashes to those engaged in the manufacture of pot and

pearl ash ; others manufactured the potash themselves.

Some men supported their families almost entirely in

this way. Heaps of old ashes may be seen on many

of the farms in our Townships, beside which, at a for-

mer day stood the leaches where the pioneer procured

the means of subsistence,
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Mr. Luko continued trading here several years. At

the time he discontinued tliis bushiess, Johnson Holt

was trading near the place where the covered bridge

now crosses the stream, east of the village. He also

owned an ashery at this place. Mr. Holt was a man

of some influence, and was once elected representative

for the County of Missisipioi. Ho ceased trading

about 1811, and was followed in the business by a

man named Lester.

In 1838, Peter Sixby and John Smith built a store,

near where the hotel of P. Smith now stands. A few

years afterward this was burned down, and the present

store of Capt. P. Smith was erected.

Capt. P. Smith, a grandson of Joseph Smith, an

early settler mentioned above, resides here, and is a

leading man in the place. He erected a large hotel

here in 1865.

In that year a post-office was established with the

name of St. Armand Station, and Mr. Smith was ap-

pointed postmaster. He was also elected Captain of

the Company of Volunteers recently organized in this

parish.

Until the post-office was established, this place was

known by the name of Moore's Corner—a place made

memorable in the annals of the Townships, by being



HISTORY OF ST. ARMAXD. 87

^o'

the

ap-

n of

this

was

lade

the scenic of a skirmish between the loyaHsts and rebels

during the rebelHon of 1837. An account of this

skirmish in f^ivon in the followintr oHicial rcj)ort

:

" Fiu:lI(jiisbur(}, St. Armand, Dec. 7, 1837.

" Sir,—I have the honor to report for your Excel-

lency's information, that yesterday morning I left this

place, by a previous arrangement with Col. Knowlton,

of Brome, n company with Capt. Henry Baker of St.

Armand, having under my command a company of vo-

lunteers to the number of about fifty men, armed with

such guns as could be collected, to form an escort to

waggons for conveying the arms and ammunition of

Col. Knowlton's battalion from Phihpsburg. I had

proceeded only a few miles on my way, when an ex-

press from Philips])urg met me with the information

that a considerable body of rebels had passed through

that village early in the morning, to the State of Ver-

mont, and were expected to return to burn it the same

night.

" I immediately dispatched expresses in different

directions, to raise men armed or unarmed, and bring

them to Philipsburg, where I had directions from Col.

Knowlton to deal out the arms intended for his batta-

lion, if necessary.

" In consequence of receiving certain information, I

left the waggons four miles east of PhiHpsburg, and

struck tla'ough the woods, so as to meet the loaded

waggons, at the head of Missiskoui Bay, in order' to
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strengthen the escort from Caldwell's Manor and St.

Armand West. We then proceeded in company to

Philipsburg, and reached it at half-past four p.m.,

wnere I found men assembling from different points,

and that scouts had come in from Swanton, Vermont,

with the information that a large body of men well

armed and equipped, and having with them two pieces

of cannon, had taken up their line of march for this

Province.

" In this emergency, orders were issued to supply the

men with muskets and ammunition from the waggons,

and at six o'clock a position was taken, half a mile

south of the village on the west road leading to

Swanton.
" We had occupied this position nearly two hours in

expectation of the enemy, when positive information

came in that they had taken the east road leading to

Swanton, and that they were within three miles of the

Bay village.

" I instantly ordered a strong guard to remain on the

west road, and marched to a position two miles and a

half east of the village, and drew up my men on a

height to the left, commanding the highway at the

intersection of the Swanton road, leading north and

south, with the St. Armand road leading east and west,

where I.found the picket! and advanced guard had

retired unperceived before the enemy, who were two

hundred strong.

" The force under my command amounted to about
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three hundred men (of whom not one hundred were

engaged) ; but before it was possible for me to reduce

them to order, the van of my line had commenced

firing without command.

" To a commander of your experience, I need hardly

apologize for the impetuosity of an undisciplined body

hastily taken away from their farming occupations, and

placed in sight of an enemy, only a few hours after

arms had been placed in their hands. This premature

fire was instantly returned by the rebels ; and this fire

was kept up on both sides, for about ten or fifteen mi-

nutes, when the enemy retreated back toward the State

ofVermont, leaving behind them one dead, two wounded

and three prisoners.

" One of the wounded is Robert Shore Milnea Bou-

chette, of Quebec, who led the advanced guard of the

rebels, and is severely hurt. The other is slightly

wounded, and reports himself to be a nephew of Julien

Gagnon, of St. Valentine in L'Acadie, habitant, the

leader of the party. They left also two pieces of can-

non mounted on carriages, five kegs of gunpowder,

six boxes of ball cartridge and seventy muskets, part

of them in boxes, and two standards.

" From the undisciplined state of the loyalists, the

darkness of the night, it being nine o'clock, and the vici-

nity to the woods, the rest of tho party made their

escape. The vicinity of the Province line was also in

favor of their escape ; for the universal feeling through-

out this part of the border is that not a man shall cross
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the line armed, even in pursuit of invaders from the

other side, so that to any demands made by your Ex-

cellency, or the Governor-in-Chief, an answer cannot

with truth be made by the general or State govern-

ments of the United States, that the people of this Pro-

vince have done anything contrary to the treaties

existing between that country and Great Britain.

" 0. J. Kemp,

Captain.

" To his Excellency Sir J. Colborne."

A railway, called the Montreal and Vermont Junc-

tion Railway, passes through this place, and intersects

the Stanstead, Sheiford and Chambly Railway, a short

distance east of St. Johns. It was completed in 1864,

and has given considerable activity to this locality.

A station house has been built here, and from this,

the place has taken its present name.

Though the number of buildings is rather too small

to deserve the name of village, the prospect is that it

will soon be largely increased.



PIGEON HILL.

George Titemore was the first who settled in the

vicinity of Pigeon Hill. He came from Columbia

County, N. Y., in 1788, and took up his residence

three-fourths of a mile south of where this village

stands, on a lot at present owned by his grandson,

Henry Titemore, and Niel Rhycard. The trials

through which he passed in procuring a subsistence

for his large family in this wilderness, were many slxi^

severe.

Fortunately there was a " beaver meadow" near

his habitation, where he found pasturage and hay for

his animals ; but sustenance for himself and family

was not so easily obtained. About 1792, a famine

occurred, and so destitute was this and the other few

families then living in this section of St. Armand, that

they were obliged to go into their wheat fields and shell

out the unripe grain and boil it for food. At this time,
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having heard that a man Uvmg in Berkshire, Vermont,

had provisions in plenty, Mr. Titcmore went to see

him, and purchased one hundred pounds of flour for

which he paid $9.00. This load he took on his back

and carried it through the woods to his residence,

fifteen miles distant. About the same time he had the

good luck to shoot a moose which he discovered grazing

with his horses, and this he kindly divided with his

famishing neighbors.

Such was the scarcity of provisions, and so low were

wages at this period, that Mr. Titemore sometimes

went to the Bay and worked all day, with his horses,

receiving at night a single loaf of bread as the price of

his labor.

This pioneer died in 1832, aged 76. He had thir-

teen children, eleven of whom arrived at the age of

manhood. There are only two of these living in St.

Armand. Sophia Titemore, a sister who accompanied

him to St. Armand, died in 1796, and was buried in

the forest on the spot now used as the grave-yard at

Pigeon Hill. She was probably the first white person

who died in this section, and was the first buried in

that grave-yard. '

A few months after Mr. Titemore became a " so-

journer in the wilderness," Henry Groat, from the

ij! I.
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State of New York, followed him, and settled on the

lot where Robert Thomson now lives. He died here

as early as 1811. He has no descendants in the

country. The stream east of Pigeon Hill, near which

he resided, is from his name called Groat Creek.

In 1791, a man from the States named Adam Sa^-er

came to Pigeon Hill, and commenced clearing, and

built a log house on the spot where now the widow

Morse resides. A short time after this, three of his

brothers, and his father, David Sager, came here and

settled. They purchased the two lots on which the

village now stands.

By a singular coincidence the name of the wife of

Adam Sager was Eve, but what their domestic life

was, tradition does not inform us. Knowing, however,

the trials experienced by the early settlers, Ave can

imagine, that they, in common with the human family,

often had occasion to lament the foUies of Adam and

Eve the first. Mrs. Sager was killed by Ughtning

about the commencement of 1825.

Peter, a brother of Adam Sager, Hved sixty-six

years at this place, and died here in 1858. Noah

Sager, his son, resides here, and is proprietor of the

Frontier Hotel. He is also a trader, and has been

postmaster since 1851, the time when the post-office

was established
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This place was long known as Sagerfield, but, owing

to the large numbers of pigeons that frequented it, the

name was changed to Pigeon Hill.

The first public house was opened about 1803, by

John Martin, on the spot noAv occupied by the Frontier

Hotel.

The first store was opened by Peter Yeager about the

year 1810, near where Adam Oliver now trades. He

only traded two or three years, and was succeeded by

Adi Vincent and son. They remained only two years.

Some years after this, Gath Holt opened a store near

the site of the present Episcopal Church. This was

destroyed three or four years afterward by the explo-

sion of a keg of gunpowder. Fortunately this occurred

on Sunday when no one was near the store ; the

cause of the explosion is unknown. Abel Adams was

also engaged in the mercantile business in this place

for more than thirty years.

The first school-house at Pigeon Hill was erected

near where the present school-house stands, about

1803.

Religious meetings were held here many years ago*

The Rev. Thomas Best, a Methodist preacher from

Highgate, Vermont, formed a society about 1804. A
society of this denomination has been in existence here

ever since.
',1
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The Methodist Church now used was built in 1825.

The Rev. Barnabas Hitchcock, long connected with

the Methodist Church in Canada, spent the last years

of his life in this village. The following obituary

notice, copied from the Minutes of the Wesleyan Con-

ference, was written by the Rev. J. Armstrong

;

" The Rev. Barnabas Hitchcock was born in New
England in February, 1785. When a boy, his father

removed to Lower Canada, and settled in the township

of Stanbridge. He was awakened under the earnest

and faithful ministry of the Rev. Hezckiah C. Wooster,

and was converted at the age of sixteen, when it soon

became manifest that he possessed talents for useful-

ness. He was licensed as an cxhorter in 1811, and

as a local preacher in 1823. Having gone into

Vermont, and been employed in the itinerant ministry

of the Methodist Episcopal Church, he was ordained a

deacon in 1830. After travelling three years in the

States, he returned to Canada, and lived four years in

Montreal, where he was useful in a remarkable revival

of religion in that city. He was recommended to the

Missionary Committee in 1835, and, three years later,

.ordained to the office of the sacred ministry. Subse-

quently he labored a part of the time in the itinerant

work, spending the rest chiefly on his farm.

" Mr. Hitchcock was an active, energetic man, and

a lively, earnest and useful preacher. He had a clear

musical and powerful voice ; and he rarely allowed
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bad roads .or storms to keep him from his appoint-

ments. He was generally acceptable in the circuits

in which he labored, and had many warm friends in

various parts of Canada and the United States. He
died in peace, in St. Armand, Canada East, on the

12th of October, 1864, in the eightieth year of his

age."

For many years, the Rev. Mr. Whitwell, rector of

St. Armand West, held services in this village, but

there was no Episcopal Church here at the time of his

ministrations.

In 1859, since the Rev. H. Montgomery became

rector, a church was erected. It was consecrated

in June, 1860, by the Lord Bishop of Montreal.

Fourteen persons were confirmed at the same time.

In 1857, Rev. B. S. Reynolds, an Adventist, formed

a society in a neighborhood about a mile and a half

north of Pigeon Hill. This society, which had become

much larger than it was when first formed, commenced

building a church in 1864 ; but it is not yet completed.

For several years, a secret organization, known as

the " Fenian Brotherhood," has existed in the United

States, its ramifications extending among a certain

class of the Irish population both of this Province and

the Green Isle, whose wrongs its avowed object was to

redress. The leaders of this Quixotic enterprise, from
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the beginning of. the organization, appealed^ to every

IrisJiman., every " lover of liberty," to aid in freeing

Ireland from the " despotic rule" of Great Britain.

Though the numbers of the " Brotherhood" were

gradually augmented and their means increased, the

order was merely a subject of ridicule until the close

of the late American rebellion. At that time, thou-

sands who before enlisting had been the oifscouring

and outlaws of the lake and seaboard cities of the

Unitod States, were discharged from the Federal

armies. Rendered doubly reckless by the scenes of

war and bloodshed through which they had passed,

they were let loose upon the country like so many

boasts of prey. At length, tired of the monotony of a

life free from excitement, and disg\isted with the pros-

pect of being obliged to gain a hvelihood only by

honest labor, these characters united with the " Fenian

Brotherhood."

The leaders of this Vandalic crew were men of

higher intelligence, but of the same grade of morality
;

restless, lawless spirits, ready to seize on any prospect

promising to bring to them notoriety or pecuniary

gain.

Such was the Fenian army in the fall of 1865, when

the scheme of seizing Canada and making it a place of
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rendezvous for fitting out an expedition to rescue

Ireland from " British thraldom," was conceived by

the prolific brain of the Fenian '* Head Centre."

Immediately thrilling proclamations were issued, the

Fenian press teemed with inflammatory appeals to the

"philanthropic" and "patriotic" Irish, and "blood

and thunder speeches" burst in rapid succession

upon the country. Money was soon poured into their

coflfers, arms were collected, men enlisted ; and this

horde, on the first days of June last, made their first

attempt to put into execution their project of seizing

Canada. This Province was to be assailed at difierent

points. The first attack^ was made on Canada West,

where, after an unsuccessful attempt to estabhsh them-

selves, they were driven from the Province. They

next appeared in a considerable body on the frontier,

in Vermont, encamping in Franklin, preparatory to a

raid into the Eastern Townships.

Instead of being a well-disciplined, soldierly army,

they were ragged, dirty, and half-armed ; and the low

order of intellect discoverable in them showed clearly

that a rational idea of the design proposed by their

leaders had never broken in upon their chaotic senses.

Plundering and burning being more congenial

to their tastes than fighting for military fame, they

Iji

iiiii
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contented tliomsclvcs with thinking of the former,

leaving the chivah'ic design of freeing Irehmd to be

doted on by tlieir more visionary and less practical

leaders.

On Tlmrsday, the 7th of June last, a party of about

fifty Fenians left their camp in Franklin, and came to

Pigeon Hill, for the purpose of stealing horses and

plundering dwellings. They broke into the hotel of

JSoah Sager, and stole or destroyed almost everything

contained in it. " Furniture was broken, bedclothes

were torn or carried off, clothes taken in exchange for

their own cast off and left behind ; wines, spirits, pro-

visions carried offer destroyed, and the house strewed

with straw and filth. The post-office seals were car-

ried off or destroyed, and the mail matter, letters,

papers, blank forms, returns, books, &c., all torn up

or trampled under foot in inextricable confusion."

They also visited the house of William Thompson,

stealing clothing, breaking glassware, and repeating

the scenes enacted at Mr. Sager'a. The next day,

Friday, about sixty Fenians came to the village, and

spent the day in plundering.

In the evening of the same day, about twenty of the

party went to the hotel of F. B. Carpenter, and ordered

supper. Before leaving, they took from Mr. Carpen-
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tcr about fifty dollars In monoy. (.)niy a few of tlu*

party romaineil in the village over night ; the rest

returned to the camp.

On Saturday morning, about ten o'clock, William

Thompson, and two other residents of the place, saw

four British horsemen, not far from the village, on the

road leading to St. Armand Station. When discovered,

they were halting, and the men ran J:oward them,

beckoning them to approach.

They galloped forward and secured as prisoners

five of the Fenians, scattered about the village, still

engaged in plundering. The same day they arrested

aiiother, who was coolly riding a farmer's horse in this

vicinity.

At two o'clock, P.M., on the same day, a body of

British, with two pieces of artillery, advanced from St.

Armand Station. These troops scoured the woods,

between the road leading from Pigeon Hill to Franklin,

and the one leading from St. Armand Centre to the

same place, and took several prisoners.

This day closed the Fenian raid on St. Armand.

They had been allowed to carry on their work of rob-

bery for two or three days unmolested. The inhabi-

tants were destitute of arms, and were generally awed

by the false reports in circulation, that several thou-

II!!!
I
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sand Fenians were hovering on the frontier, just ready

to rush like an avalanche upon tliis country. Govern-

ment moved slowly, neglecting to send troops at once

to the point invaded, hoping the rufTians wonld ven-

ture far enough into tlio country, so that, when

attacked, they could not easily retreat across the

Province line. But further trouble was at this time

prevented by the action of the United States Govern-

ment, which issued orders to have the Fenian leaders

arrested, and the arms and munitions of their army

seized, which was accordingly done.

Notwit' -.landing the incursion of this band of des-

peradoes, Pigeon Hill now assumes its wonted aspect.

As the name denotes, this village is situated on an

elevated portion of ground. The ascent is so gradual,

however, that in approaching the place the traveller is

conscious of ascending nothing more than a gentle

acclivity. The village, though small, is very pleasant,

yet it lacks that variety of scenery which makes many

of our country villages attractive. The land around

is smooth, presenting many attractions to the agricul-

turist.
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Tradition informs us that at the commencement of

the American Revolution a man named Simpson Jenne

was an inhabitant of the town of Clarendon, Vt.

Loyal to the British Government, he soon found

that this place was not a safe one for his residence, and

he speedily made his way to Canada. He enlisted at

Quebec, was made lieutenant of a company of volun-

teers, and afterwards accompanied Burgoyne on his

expedition against the Americans. After the defeat

of that general, he was permitted, with many others,

to return to Canada. Whether his family accompa-

nied him when he fled from Clarendon, we are unable to

say ; but, if they did not, they soon found him in the

Province. His house was burned by the exasperated

Veriiionters, and his property confiscated.

After his return to Canada, he resided in different

localities until the fall of 1789, when he came to St.

I i"
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Armand, and settled on a lot of land, about two miles

east of the spot on which now stands the village ot

Frelighsburg.

Here, in the midst of the primeval forest, seven

miles from any other human habitation, he erected his

dweUing—a rude log cabin, covered with slabs spHt

from the basswood. The only animals that he brought

with him were a horse and cow. The former he relied

on for help in performing the many hard labors that

were before him ; but, unfortunately, he was deprived

of the service of this valuable animal. Turning him

out in the forest to feed, soon after reaching his des-

tination, he strayed away, and was never afterwards

seen or heard of by his owner.

Having neither hay nor grain, Jenne and his boys

were obliged to cut browse for their cow, and in this

way she was carried through the following winter.

Fortunately, for the family of this pioneer, game

was plenty, and supplied them in a great measure

with food. During the winter succeeding their arrival,

Jenne shot six moose, which were valuable not only as

food, but their hides proved very serviceable in the

various uses to which he put them. Bears and wolves

were not numerous at that time ; but, as the country

became settled, their numbers increased, being at-
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tractcd, doubtless, by the cattle aud sheep of the

settlers, on which they made frequent attacks.

For three months after his family came here, they

saw no human being except one another. At the

expiration of that time, they were visited by a party

of Indians of the Caughnawaga tribe, who made this

section of Canada a portion of their hunting grounds.

In the spring following the arrival of Jenne to this

place, a man named Jeremiah Spencer settled on an

adjoining lot lying towards the west. He was also an

inhabitant of Clarendon at the breaking out of the

revolution. Like his neighbor, he was also strongly

prejudiced in favor of the British ; but it seems he did

not find himself obliged to leave his place of residence

until the approach of Burgoyne. He was compelled

to do service in the army of that general, and bear

arms against the Americans. Returning to his home

as soon as Burgoyne was defeated, he found his pro-

perty confiscated, and he then started with his family

for Canada. Arriving safely at St. Johns, he enlisted

in the British service^ in which he continued until the

close of the war, when he took up his residence at

CaldwelFs Manor, and subsequently in St. Armand

.

Thus, these two men who had been neighbors in a

foreign land, who had lost their property and been

I
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exiled by the same fate, found themselves neighbors

once more, destined to endure hardships in the future

in the capacity of pioneers.

The nearest place where grain or provisions of any

kind could at this time be purchased was Missisquoi

Bay, and to this place they frequently had to resort

for supplies during the first few years of their residence

in the wilderness. After purchasing their grain, they

carried it on their backs to Saxc's Mill in Highgate,

Vermont, and after being ground they returned with

it in the same manner to their homes.

In order to avoid swamps, they were obliged to

pursue a circuitous route, thus making the distance

from the mill to their dwelling place more than twenty

miles. A daughter of Jenne, now aged 92—recently

informed the writer that her father had brought on his

back this distance, a load weighing one hundred and

six pounds. Labors of this kind were of course under-

taken only when necessity demanded. They soon

began to raise grain, but some years elapsed before

they raised it in sufficient quantities to supply their

families with bread.

Much of their corn was prepared for food by pound-

ing^in a mortar which nearly every early settler con-

structed for the purpose. The model was originally

obtained from the red man.
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A log, three or four feet in length, had one end

hollowed by fire so as to hold a considerable quantity

of corn. This log was then made to stand on the

opposite end, and the corn, being placed in the hollow,

was reduced by pounding to the required degree of

fineness. *

The descendants of Jenne are numerous, and are

found in St. Armand, and in townships adjacent.

Simpson Jenne, a grandson, now resides on the lot

purchased by his grandfather.

Three grandsons of Spencer, thriving farmers, dwell

in this vicinity.

• The labor of pounding the corn, was rendered much less, by

a spring-pole which was frequently brought into use.

Sometimes, instead of a log, a stump was hollowed by fire and

used for a mortar. This aparatus for preparing corn for food

was generally called a " plumping mill."

t
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ST. ARMAND CENTRE.

The name of this place indicates its local position.

Until 1862, it was always known as Cook's Corner.

The first settler in this vicinifcj was John Titemore,

brother of the earliest settler at Pigeon Hill. He

came to Canada with his brother, and, soon after, settled

south of this place, on the lot now owned by C. F.

Warner. He lived here many years, and died about

1848. He had ten children, who settled near here
;

only two of them are now living.

A man named Perry came here about 1790, and

commenced work on the lot now owned by Abram

Titemore. In 1794, he sold his land and improvement

to Thomas Whitman.

About 1792, John Toof, from the State ofNew York,

with his four sons, came to this part of St. Armand, and

took up two lots of land south of where the present

village stands. The greater part of these lots are now

owned by his grandsons, John and Wellington Toof.
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Mr. Toof had nine children, all of whom, save one,

settled in this locaUty . They were all industrious and

successful in life.

A store was opened here, by Geo. Cook, on the

land now owned by John Toof, as early as 1796.

From this man the place derived the name of Cook's

Corner.

A public house was opened here by a man named

Gowan, about 1811. E. B. Peckham is the proprie-

tor of the present hotel ; he also has a store under the

same roof.

A post-oflSce was established here in 1862. Abram

Titemore is the present postmaster.

This locality will long be remembered as the scene

of the principal exploits of the chivalric *' Army of

Ireland." On the sixth of June, last, a body of

Fenians, whose numbers were variously estimated from

six hundred to one thousand, crossed the Province

Line, and encamped on the farm of James Eccles.

From this body small squads detached themselves, and

went in diflferent directions, stealing horses and cattle,

and performing other acts worthy of the Fenian charac-

ter. Among their military achievements at St. Armand

Centre, they visited the dwelling of Henry Shutts, and

commenced .aking glassware and furniture, and
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continued this soldierly business until they had de-

stroyed almost every thing in the house. They also

entered upon the premises of John Toof, stole con-

siderable property from his dwelling, destroyed much,

and finally killed eighteen sheep.

The house '' Edward Titemore was one of the

dwellings plundered. Here they stole a tub of butter,

eight hundred pounds of sugar, and, upon leaving his

premises, killed a cow, a sheep, and hog. At the

house of Mrs. Buck they broke out the windows, broke

her bureau and other furniture, and piled the frag-

ments in the centre of the room.

On Thursday night, the 7th of June, between ten

and eleven o'clock, a small party of Fenians, returning

from Frelighsburg, broke into the house of Nelson

Vincent, and finding Mr. Vincent in bed, roused him,

and then addressed him with an insulting inquiry.

On answering, one of the party called him a liar, and

then aimed a revolver at his head ; but fortunately it

missed fire. They then proceeded to rob his house,

and, after collecting such things as they wished to

carry oif, sat down to drink the brandy they had

stolen from Frelighsburg. Not regarding this as

congenial society, Mr. Vincent seated himself in an

adjoining room. Soon after this, he saw by the light
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shining through a window of the apartment in which

the Fenians were engaged in their debauch, one of the

party emerging from the room to the verandah, and

thence passing into tlie st^oet. Immediately recog-

nizing him as the Fenian who had snapped the revol-

veT at him, he thought the opportunity a favorable

one for punishing him for the double crime of robbery

and attempting to murder. A.ccordingly, he slipped

noiselessly out after him, seized part of a stake lying

in the yard, and, coming up behind, felled him to the

ground with a heavy blow ; but fearii.^ that others

might leave the house and find him thus engaged, he

proceeded no farther, but quietly returned to the room

from which he came.

The Fenians soon found their companion, with a

frightful gash in his face, and carried him senseless

and bleeding to the verandah ; but he soon recovered

his senses, and was borne away by his comrades.

Another party of Fenians stole two calves from Mr.

Vincent, and drove them to their camp. Their owner

followed, and, laying the case before the Fenian com-

mander, through his influence obtained his calves and

received a protection ; a copy of which is given below.

To any one knowing what a filthy, ragged, undisci-

plined and ignorant set of renegades they were, that
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John W. Mahan commanded the language of this

official document, appears rather ridiculous ;

" Head-Quarters, 2nd Brigade,
1st Div., Army of Ireland.

June 8th, 1866.

All guards will protect the property of Nelson

Vincent, and not allow soldiers to molest him or his

family.

Soldiers of this command will faithfully observe this

protection.

By Command of

John W. Mahan,

Bri(/. Gen, Commanding.

John F. Doherty,

Capt. & A. A.G."

Receiving this, Mr. Vincent departed in better

spirits, trusting that his " protection " would secure

him from further trouble and insult from the Fenians
;

but his favorable opinion of the discipline of the " army

of Ireland" somewhat diminished, when, on showing

his *' protection " to the Fenians who accosted him,

he was requested tO go with it to a place " noted for

being more spacious than cool."

The sad accident recorded below was an indirect

result of the Fenian raid,
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On the night of the 10th of Juno, Margaret Vin-

cent, a maiden lady r.ged 71, residing with her

widowed sister, xMrs. Hannah J. Eccles, a mile and

a half south of St. Armand Centre, was shot by

British soldiers searching at that place for Fenians.

Miss Vincent had gone a few rods from the house

for a pail of water, and was returning with it when she

was discovered by five soldiers who, but a short time

before, had learned that Fenians were lurking in that

vicinity. It being quite dusk, the soldiers did not

discover that she was a female, and, being much ex-

cited from the impression that Fenians were near, they

commanded her to halt ; but, being deaf, she probably

did not hear them, and continued on. They then fired

two or three shots past her, to warn her to obey their

command ; still, not supposing herself to be the object

at which their shots v:ere directed, she pressed for-

ward. By this time the soldiers had become fully

assured that the person was a Fenian attempting to

escape, and they fired ut her, and she fell mortally

wounded. Her sister, Mrs. EccleSy heard the firing,

and went to the door to ascertain the cause of it, when

she heard the soldier? exclaim, " He falls !
" but never

for a moment supposed it to be other than a Fenian

they had discovered. The next moment, however, the

$':
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soldiers camo up near the gate of her front yard, and

she hoard them exclaim, " My God ! it is a woman.'*

Frantic with fear, she rushed to the spot and found her

•later expiring, having been shot through the head and

neck.

It is but justice to say that the soldiers shared in the

grief of the bereaved sister ; they all shed tears, and

strove in every way to comfort the friends of the

deceased. They attended her funeral on the following

Tuesday, wearing badges of mourning, and presented

Mrs. Eccles with $25.00 for the purpose of procuring

a gravestone for her sister, accompanying it with the

request that she would have inscribed on it the follow-

ing epitaph :

^

SACRED TO THE MEMORY OF

MARGARET VII^CENT,
WHO WAS

Accidentally shot by a picquet of the 1th Boyal Fusiliers,

AT ST. ARMAND FRONTIER,

ON THE NIGHT OP THE IOtH OF JUNE, 1866.

This stone is erected hy the officers and men of the Regi-

ment, as a tribute of respect for her memory and

of sympathy with her relatives and friends.

Miss Vincent and Mrs. Eccles had lived here to-

gether on the homestead for twenty-eight years. Both
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At this place, there are several dwelling-houses and

shops such as arc generally found in small country

villages. Several fine farms surround the village, on

some of which are extensive groves of maples, which

annually furnish large quantities of sugar.
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This little village is situated on Pyke River about a

mile and a half northwest of Frelighsburg.

The land on which it stands was purchased at an

early day, by Philip Luke. Mr. Luke, who lived near

Albany at the opening of the revolution, went to New

York and enlisted in the British service, and was com-

missioned as lieutenant. After the close of the war

he came to Canada, and was one of the company that

settled at Missisquoi Bay. Not long afterward he pur-

chased three lots of land where the village whose his-

tory we now give is located.

Some years since, his heirs claimed remuneration of

the British Government, for losses said to have been

sustained by him on account of his loyalty to this Gov-

ernment during the revolution ; the claim was accepted,

and the heirs liberally rewarded.

In 1790, Isaac Lagrange, from the town in New

York where Luke formerly resided, came to Canada,
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and purchased the three lots above mentioned. He

built a house on a spot a few rods north of where the

bridge now crosses the stream at this place, and soon

after built a saw mill. His son, Abram Lagrange,

settled here in 1796. Two years later, he commenced

building a grist mill, the second one built in St. Ar-

mand East. A year or two after this, he erected an

axe and scythe factory, and subsequently a mill for

custom carding and cloth dressing.

EUas Truax, also from the State of New York, set-

tled here in 1792. He built a log house near where

the woollen factory now stands.

This man affords a striking example of longevity and

of the long time the human mind and body may retain

their faculties. He is now ninety-four years of age,

has a good memory, jovial nature, and can walk twelve

miles in a day. Two years ago, he skated across

Franklin Pond, in a very short space of time. Within

his remembrance, many of the Eastern Townships that

are now thickly settled, and afford scenes of active life,

were covered with dense forests, inhabited only by

wild animals. He was the first who felled trees in the

township of Dunham. He now lives with his son Elias,

an able farmer and respected citizen of Franklin, Ver-

mont,
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Omie, a son of Abram Lagrange, followed the occu-

pation that had engaged the attention of his father. In

1833,'he built a factory here for manufacturing cloth,

which is still in operation. In 18G4, he built five

respectable habitations, for tenants. Possessed of an

enterprising spirit, he frequently either augments the

number of buildings or commences some new business

which gives increased activity to the place. He

opened a store here two years since. In 1865, he

was appointed justice of the peace and postmaster

—a post-office having been established here, at that

time, with the name of Lagrange.

Job Chadsey was one of the pioneers who settled in

this section. He came from Vermont about 1790, and

settled on the lot now owned by Peleg Spencer. He
spent his remaining days at this place. He had sev-

eral children, but only a few of them settled in this

part of the country. Richard, one of his sons, now

lives near Lagrange's factory, and owns the race-

course.

In 1794, Matthew Lampman, from Grand Isle

County, Vermont, purchased the lot now owned by C.

S. and L. Reynolds. At the same time, his son, Abram

Lampman, settled on the lot bounding his father's on

the north.



IIISTORT OF ST. ARMAND. 69

the occu-

father. In

ing cloth,

built five

)cd of an

nents the

business

ice. He

1865, he

)stmaster

J, at that

lettled in

790, and

T. He

ad sev-

in this

jns, now

|e race-

id Isle

byC.

Lbram

jr's on

In 1796, the elder Lampman sold his lot to Benja-

min Reynolds, from Pownal, Vermont. Mr. Reynolds

was one of the many who, favoring the loyalists during

the revolution, had their property confiscated. He

had eight children, three of whom settled in the east

part of St. Armand. Two of his grandsons, whose

names are given above, noAv reside on the lot he pur-

chased of Lampman.

C. S. Reynolds was a school commissioner and mu-

nicipal councillor for several years, and was a member

of the County Council established in 1847. During

the late rebellion, he was a lieutenant of militia, and

was subsequently made captain.

Lester Reynolds has also been a member of the

Municipal Council.

Abram Lampman remained in St. Armand two or

three years after his father's departure, when he also

left.

About 1798, Thomas Baker—also a loyalist—from

Rhode Island, came to St. Armand, and. settled on a

lot adjacent to that purchased by Benjamin Reynolds.

Two of his sons, Henry and Arnold, settled on the

homestead.

The latter dying, his farm came into the hands of

his brother Henry. He was an influential citizen, and
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"was once mayor of the Missisquoi County Council. His

son Lewis now owns the homestead, and is one of the

prominent citizens of this locality.

In 1802,' John Krans, from the State of New York,

with four brothers, came to St. Armand. John settled

a little more than a mile west of the site of the present

village of Lagrange, on a lot now owned by his son

Hiram.

His brother Peter took up an adjacent lot, but he

soon afterward died, and this fell into the hands of

John. The latter built a grist and saw mill at this

place, which were in operation for many years ; but

there is only a saw mill here at present. The descend-

ants of John Krans dwell in this vicinity, and are

generally energetic and influential citizens.

Lagrange was visited by the Fenians. On Thurs-

day, the 7th of June, a party numbering about fifty

came to the house of C. S. Keynolds ; and the family

being absent, they broke open the doors, and during

the three days thoy remained in St. Armand, some of

them found quarters in this dwelling. Many here sup-

plied themselves with clothing, leaving their own filthy,

vermin-covered rags, strewed about the premises. They

killed fowls, and feasted on the best the house afforded.

Others of the " Brotherhood" took up their abode

H"
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at the house of L. Reynolds, and made his parlor their

sitting room. Tilting back in their chairs, their feet

elevated on the table, they smoked cigars and drank

choice wines and liquors stolen from Frelighsburg.

They lounged and slept on the beds, scattered their

fiHh and vermin through the house, broke open trunks,

drawers and chests, stealing or destroying their con-

tents.

At the house of Lewis Baker, they performed many

similar acts, and abused Mr. Baker in the most cow-

ardly manner, compelling him, at the point of the bay-

onet, to feed, saddle, and unsaddle their horses, and

even hold the stirrup for them to mount their stolen

steeds.

Lagrange, by whatever road approached, viewed

from whatever point it may be, is regarded with inter-

est by the traveller. The land rises abruptly in front

of the village, on the west, thus cutting short the view

in that direction ; but toward the north and south it

rises more gradually and presents a variety of pleasing

scenery. A valley, through which Pyke River runs,

extends toward the east, turning as it passes onwar*^

in a south-easterly direction. The above stream on

entering the village pours down a rocky declivity many

feet through a flat-bottomed basin in which stand the

mills of Lagrange.
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John S. Gibson is said to have beentlic first settler

at this place. He came here about 1790, and built a

log house near the spot now occupied by the grist mill.

A brief sketch of his life is given in an obituary notice

which we copy from a number of the " Missisquoi

Standard," published on the 15th December, 1835.

" Died, at Sutton, on the 18th November, Mr. John

S. Gibson, aged 89 years. The scenes through which

this old man passed were varied, and many of them

dangerous. He was a hunter in his youth, and with

no other guide th'^n the planets, and no provisions save

what he obtained with his gun, he traversed the New
England States and Lower Canada ; the countries at

that time being a pathless wilderness. He was aUo

an actor in the revolutionary war. On several occa-

sions he fell into the hands of the Indians, and narrowly

escaped destruction. At one time he was suspended

over a fire to be burnt alive ; at another he was tied
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under a horse's belly, and the horse was then turned

loose. At the burning of Royalton, Vermont, he was

taken prisoner by the savages, and conveyed to Grand

Isle, where he was confined upon his back with stakes

and cords for the space of nine days^ and must have

perished, had it not been for an Indian woman who

kindly provided him with the means of subsistence."

It seems he did not place a high value on his im-

provements, for he soon disposed of them, with the

possession of the land on which the village now stands,

for a dog.

This account may seem rather incredible, but it is

said by old inhabitants to be true. A man named

Owens was the purchaser. He built a grist mill iu

179i, on the spot at present occupied by the saw-mill.

Two years afterwards, Owens sold out to two men,

Conroy and Yumans, from St. Johns. They enlarged

the grist mill, and built a saw-mill on the opposite side

of the river. Their house was erected on the hill,

just east of the spot now occupied by the Academy.

They had been here only a short time when they sold

out to Abram Freligh, from Albany, N. Y. He
purchased of them the two hundred acres they occu-

pied, with all the improvements thereon, for four

thousand dollars. From his name, the village derived

its present name of Frelighsburg. Near the time of
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his death he made a singular will—bequeathing his

property to that one of his children who should sur-

vive the others. All—eleven in number—were to

have the use of the property during the time they

lived. But Richard Freligh, one of the heirs, pur-

chased the heirships of the others, ^nd became sole

j^roprietor of the estate. This man once represented

Mirfsisquoi County in the Provincial ParUament.

Several families settled here soon after the arrival

of Conroy and Yumans. These men presented an

acre of land to a blacksmith, named John Wilhs, and

on tliis he erected a slab-house and a log shop. The

house stood where now stands the house of E. S.

Reynolds, and the shop a little to the west. A man

named Isaac Smith built a house on the site of the

present residence of Dr. Rowell. He had a shop

containing a trip-hammer on the south side of the

river.

About 1797 a man named Wood opened what pur-

ported to be a tavern. It was built of large, unhewn

hemlock logs, and stood near the site of the store owned

by the late Col. Kemp.

Many individuals have engaged in the same busi-

ness in this village since that time. There are now

two hotels here, the proprietors of which are H.

Chadburn and James Burk,
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Elijah Kemp, from Springfield, Vermont, arrived

at this place on the 4th of July, 1799. He had served

in the American revolution, and received a pension

from the United States.

So bad were the roads of that period, that ho was

eleven days in making the journey from Springfield to

Frelighsburg.

He lived here till his death, which occurred on the

6th of December, 1834. During his residence in

Frehghsburg, he was actively engaged in business, and

was a man of influence. He left five sons—Levi,

Lincoln, James, Oren, and Anson—all men of intelli-

gence and more than ordinary business capacity. ^

Levi, the only one now living, was for a long time a

merchant in this place, and for seventeen years served

as postmaster.

He was one of the commissioners of the first Com-

missioners' Court, estabhshed here, and still holds the

same office.

Anson was for twenty years a justice of the peace,

and was the first collector of customs appointed for

the port of Sutton, and subsequently was collector at

Frelighsburg.

Oren was also a merchant for many years, and

besides held several public offices. At the commence-



II

76 HISTORY OF ST. ARMAND.

'it'

ment of the rebellion, ho was captain of the Missisquoi

militia, and was promoted to the rank of lieutenant-

colonel. He was once mayor of the Parish in which

he lived, also mayor of the County Council, established

in 1847. At the period of his death ho was agent for

Dunns and Crown land. 0. B. Kemp, Esq., his son,

one of the efficient business men and prominent citi-

zens of this place, is now Crown land agent.

The first store in Frelighsburg was opened by

George Wallace, either in 1801, or the year following.

This was near the bridge, where now J. Cochran's

house stands.

Not far from the same time, trade was commenced

by Griffin Reynolds and John Jones. The store of

Reynolds was on the spot now occupied by the stone

house of W. S. Baker. Subsequently, Joel Ackley

opened a public house on the same premises ; this was

the second tavern in the village. Jones traded at the

foot of the hill where now stands W. S. Baker's

tannery.

Various merchants have engaged in business here,

since that period. Mr. Abel Hurlbert, still residing

here, was a merchant in the place about forty years,

and during the time accumulated a respectable fortune.

He has been a Justice of the Peace, Capt. of Mihtia,

ilH
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and a Commissioner of the Commissioner's Court.

lie is a son of Abel Ilurlbcrt, one of the pioneers at

North Pinnacle.

There are at present five stores in Frelighsburg.

W. H. Pattison, E. S. Reynolds, and J. II. Smith have

been here as morchants for the past fifteen years, and

as such are still doing a profitable business. Mr.

Pattison is a justice of the peace, postmaster, and

lieutenant of the Company of Volunteers recently

organised in the east parish of St. Armand. J. H. Smith

is also a justice of the peace, and during the greater

part of the period of his residence here, has been

secretary-treasurer of the Board of School Commis-

sioners, and much of the time secretary-treasurer of

the Municipal Council. E. S. Reynolds has also held

municipal offices.

Frelighsburg has been, and is still, the home of

individuals who have distinguished themselves in the

medical profession.

Brown Chamberlin was an early physician in the

place and popular in his vocation. After practicing

several years, he died, and was succeeded in his profes-

sion by his brother J. Chamberlin. The latter has been

a resident of Frelighsburg for forty years, and such is

his skill as a practitioner, that for a long time his aid
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and advice have been sougl* -ra both sides of the

boundary line through a territory «"mbracing many

square miles. lie is also a justice of the peace. lie

was lately appointed a commissioner to investigate the

claims of those who suffered from the Fenian raid, and

to apprize the damages the sufferers received.

S. P. Bamum, who died here a few years since, was

a respected member of the medical profession. A. J.

Rowell, now residing here, has also won a prominent

place in the Esculapian ranks.

As the residence of eminent divines who have

propagated the tenets of the Church of England,

Frelighsburg has been particularly noted. The Rev.

C. J. Stewart, who came here in 1808, was the first

Episcopal clegyman who performed Divine service in

the place.

This remarkable man, who was the fifth son of the

Earl of Galloway, was born on the 13th of April, 1775.

He was educated at Oxford, where he graduated in

1799. For eight years after this he had charge of a

parish, and then, in his thirty-second year, offered his

services to the Society for the Propagation of the

Gospel, and was appointed to the mission of St.

Armand in Canada. He arrived at Philipsburg in

November, 1807, and, a few months later, came to

Frelighsburg.

' ,' ."-fti.-fc.frMy /j^:^fi
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The state hi which he found things on his arrival,

may be learned from the following account which is

copied from his biography :

" Mr. Stewart reached this unpromising station on

Saturday, and as there was only one tavern in the vil-

lage, he took up his lodgings there. He then asked

the landlord if he would hire him a good-sized room,

as there happened to be one in the house. The good-

natured man, not knowing to what purpose his guest

proposed to put it, readily agreed to do so. * Then,'

said Mr. Stewart, ' you will please have chairs and

benches placed in it, that we may have service there

to-moiTow, and I will thank you to give a general

notice to the people of the town, that a clergyman of

the Church of England will preach the Gospel to

them."

" The landlord was taken by surprise, and did all he

possibly could to dissuade the missionary from his

purpose, telling him, among other things, that a minis-

ter had come there to settle not long before, but had

found everything so unfavorable that he had left in

despair.

" * Then,' replied Mr. Stewart, Hhis is the very place

of duty for me. Here I am needed, and, by God's

grace, here I will remain, and trust to Him, in whose

hand are the hearts of all people, for success.'
"

Contrary to the expectations of the landlord, a re-

spectable congregation assembled at the inn to listen to
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the prcaclicr, and on several successive Sundays he

held meetings in the same room. His opinion of the

locality and its inhabitants we learn from an extract

from a letter written to his mother, the Countess of

Galloway, on the 20th May, 1808 :

" Of the country, however, I shall say that it

scarcely furnishes the necessaries of life, and that

anything out of it is not easily got, communication in

it and all around it being very difficult. The people

are worse in appearance, or rather manner, than in

reality or principle. They are very rude, but less

profligate than in our country. They have all sorts

ofnotions and sects in religion, rather than being less

religious or more unchristian than our people. Far

from it ; I find sincere Christians of all denomina-

tions ; and no wonder they are divided, where they

have no teachers except Methodists and Baptists, and

they very ignorant. Many are willing to be instructed

by me, and more have been out of the way of, and

inattentive to, true religion than averse to it."

The charity manifested by this man affords a worthy

example to all Christians. How different this lan-

guage, " I find sincere Christians of all denomina-

tions," from that used by so many narrow-minded

professors, who neither see nor acknowledge piety in

any beyond the pale of their own denomination. What

he says in regard to the ignorance of Methodist and

!M ii

i! ,!i:
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Baptist preachers of those days will be readily en-

dorsed by those who know anything of the general

lack of education in this country at that time.

Though many of them, doubtless, were men of

piety, who labored earnestly to point sinners to the

Lamb of God, their uncouth manners and expressions,

their want of general information, would cause them

to appear to a man of Mr. {Stewart's education and

refinement astonishingly ignorant.

He soon had the satisfaction of seeing that his

labors were producing an influence upon the inhabi-

tants. /

Services were held in a school-house until a church

could be built, which was in 1808. On the following

January this church was opened, and, on the occasion,

one thousand persons were present. During the

summer of the same year, the Bishop of Quebec visited

the place, and confirmed sixty.

A church was built in the parish of St. Armand

West, in 1811, at an expense of four thousand dollars,

and it is said that two-fifths of the cost of these two

churches was borne by Mr. Stewart. It will be seen

by the following paragraph that he was not less gene-

rous in his acts of charity to the poor :

" Throughout the extensive sphere of his missionary

labors he was known and beloved by the faithful
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followers of Christ of every name. Many a widow's

heart would leap for joy when, on pointing to the

valuable cow which furnished nourishment for her

numerous family, she would say, ' That was presented

to me by good Mr. Stewart!' or, patting the head of

her little flaxen-haired boy, she would exclaim, ' He is

sent to school by that best of men, the minister at St.

Armand !'
"

From such accounts, we form a high opinion of his

piety ; and this opinion becomes still more exalted

when we consider the pleasures, comforts, and honors

of which he voluntarily deprived himself in leaving his

native land.

He visited England in 1815, remained two years,

and then returned to Canada.

During his absence he was honored with the degree

of Doctor of Divinity. On the 1st of January, 1826,

he was consecrated Bishop of Quebec. He died on

the 13th of July, 1837.

For a more complete history of this eminent Chris-

tian, the reader is referred to his biography, written

by the Kev. J. N. Norton.

Rev. James Reid was the immediate successor of

Mr Stewart in the church at Frelighsburg.

The reader may learn much of this noted Christian

from the foliowina; extracts from his funeral sermon,

til

i
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preached by the Rev. Canon Bancroft, D.D., and

from a sketch of his life, published in the " Montreal

Gazette," of Feb. 3,1865 :

if

" You mourn the loss of a father and a prophet

—

one who, for nearly fifty years, has been the shepherd

of the flock. It is not often, in these days, that so

great a blessing as you have enjoyed falls to the lot of

a Christian community. The name of your late pastor

has been identified with the Eastern Townships, and

especially with this parish, ever since any of us can

remember. Born in the town of Dunkeld, in Athol,

Scotland, he came out as a missionary, sent by Robert

Haldane, and commenced his labors as an evangelist.

Through the instrumentality of the present Lord Bishop

of Toronto, then rector of Cornwall, and Bishop Stew-

art, then a missionary, he was led into the Church of

England, and, in 1812, removed to Missisquoi Bay,

where he took charge of the Government school. In

1815, he was ordaihedby the firsc }''«5h^p of Quebec,

Dr. Mountain, when lio ci^me to Frehghsburg to succeed

Dr. Stewart, and c- iitiiiuod rector until his death. For

several years h vras in t'large of the whole seigniory,

and was the .'iiJy clergvman in these country parts,

with the exception oi Mr. Cotton and the Rev. Canon

Townsend, with whom he was ordaine d. The succes-

sor, as I have said, of the sainted Bishop Stewart in

this parish, he enjoyed the love and confidence of that

holy man, with whom he corresponded until the day of
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the Bishop's death. * After I came to this country/

he wrote in one of his letters to me, 'I enjoyed a

blessed intimacy for twenty-five years, both by con-

versation and by letter, with the Hon. and Rev Dr.

Stewart, a godly man, in whom there was no guile.'

"Dr. Reid was thus a connecting link with the first

fathers of the Church. Indeed, he was himself a

father, and often, on this account, was he asked to

employ his vigorous pen in tracing the early history of

the Canadian Church ; but such was his native mo-

desty, that he could never be prevailed on to do it. It

must be gratifying to you to recall the esteem in which

he was ever held by the Bishops and clergy of the

Church—indeed, by all who were acquainted with

him. •

" His native strength of mind, cultivated by study,

with his many amitible qualities, and his love for the

Church, of which he had become, by conviction, a

devoted member, made him ever welcome in the coun-

cils of the Church, and at the houses of the Bishops

and clergy.

" He was frequently called to preach sermons before

the clergy, and was one whom our Right Rev. Fathers

delighted to honor. He was the first clergyman upon

whom the University of Bishops' College conferred its

highest Theological honorary degree, and was, I

believe, the first of the honorary Canons selected

by our venerated Diocesan. He was held in great

esteem by the late Lord Bishop of Quebec (Dr,
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Mountain), and by the venerable Bishop of Toronto

(Dr. Strachan).

" The book he loved the most was the Word of God,

which he constantly read, with prayer, for the teach-

ing of the Holy Spirit, and, next to it, the Prayer

Book, many portions of which he had committed to

memory. In spiritual hymns and songs he also

greatly delighted."

The remaining extracts are from the " Gazette" ;

—

" Dr. Reid was, to the last days of his life, a stu-

dious man. It may be said of him, in the line of the

poet—

' Gathered up Avisdom with each studious year.'

And he was a man of vigorous mind. He thus became

possessed of great stores of learning—much greater

than most men of the present day possess ; and this,

indeed, was merely an incident of a long quiet coun-

try life, with very few distractions. We have some-

times heard it said of old and studious men, that they

had forgotten more than their contemporaries had

gathered, and something of this sort may be said of

Dr. Reid, apphed to a period of half a century ago.

He was well read in politics and ancient and modern

literature, including that in the Gaelic tongue, as well

as in theology, which was his particular study. A
favorite pursuit of his in his late years was the reading

of the Scriptures in the original.

" Yet, with the possession of this great learning,
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coupled with the advantage of an independent posi-

tion, the old minister was an exceedingly simple—nay,

humble-minded man. This was due as well to his

natural disposition as to study of the example of his

venerated predecessor, who was, as we have intimated,

in his eyes, the model of a Christian gentleman. With

another disposition and another example for emulation.

Dr. Reid might have made himself more noted, and his

light more shining in the eyes of men. But

' Unskilful he t/ iawn or seek for power,
Bj doctrines fitted to the varying hour !

'

"

Dr. Reid was one of that very small number of

Christian ministers who have been respected and

loved by the mom,bers of all other denominations.

During a residence of twenty years in the Townships,

the writer has never heard any speak ill of this truly

pious divine—indeed, all unite in saying that he was

an exemplary man.

How much he valued the precept and example of

his predecessor, the noble Bishop Stewart, we learn

from an article written by himself, and published in

the " Church Chronicle" in 1862. He says :

" The writer of this article enjoyed not only his

intimate acquaintance, but the great blessing of his

Christian friendship, for which he is thankful to the

Giver of all good ; and never, he trusts, never will

forget, to his latest breath, that he had before him the
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example and counsel of a man so devoted, so heavenly-

minded, so humble, so full of resignation to the will

of God, and so purely zealous to promote His glory."

The transcendent importance of example is here

illustrated. Bishop Stewart, in the exercise of self-

denial, in earnest endeavors to better the condition of

his fellowmen, in his strict attendance on devotional

duties, and in his Godly conversation, was all the

while exerting a most salutary influence on those

around him, especially on the young man who was to

succeed him in his charge. Mr. Reid listened to his

instructions, and observed his examples, until—uncon-

sciously, doubtless—he imbibed his spirit and prin-

ciples, and thus became one calculated to fill the void

made in the hearts of the people by the departure of

Mr. Stewart.

He died January 14th, 1865. Rev. C. Reid, his

only surviving son, is Incumbent of a church in Sher-

brooke.

Two or three years before the death of Dr. Reid,

Rev. J. B. Davidson became his curate, and at the

period of his death he succeeded to the rectcrfehip.

Religious meetings were held at Freliglisburg by

Baptists and Methodists, in the early part of its exist-

ence, and the latter have since continued their labors,
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but never formed a society till 1861. This was forired

by Rev. J. Armstrong. The number uniting mih

this, small at first, has received several additions.

In 18*34, Frelighsburg, which had for twenty-five

years formed a part of the Dunham Circuit, became a

Circuit itself, embracing St. Armand East, and Stan-

bridge East. Rev. J. Stenning was the first appointed

to this Circuit. After remaining here a year, he was

succeeded by the Rev. D. Sutherland, who also

remained a year, and was succeeded by the Rev. J.

Davis, who is still on the Circuit. The Methodist

Society now have a Parsonage at this place, and have

recently purchased land for a grave-yard, and whereon

to erect a church.

In 1813, a company of about sixty Americans came

to Frelighsburg and the immediate neighborhood, and

drove off" one hundred and fifty head of cattle, which

individuals living in the northern towns of Vermont

had driven across the Province line, to sell to the

British. The next spring, a body of about five hun-

dred came to this village for the purpose of plundering

the stores; but the goods having all been previously

removed, they obtained but little, and returned to

Vermont without doing any damage.

The Registry Ofl&cc of the County of Missisquoi
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was for many years held at this place. Hon. P. II.

Moore was the first registrar of the County. In 1844,

R. Dickinson received the appointment, and is still

in the office. Mr. Dickinson had previously been

Registrar of the County of Shcfford, being appointed

in 1830.

The first collector of customs appointed for the

port of IVelighsburg, was Major Burton, from Quebec.

He entered upon his duties in 1844, but died in the

course of a few months. In the winter of the same

year, Ralph Taylor, jun., became collector. In the

month of May, 1846, he was succeeded by Anson

Kemp, Esq. He died in 1865, and II. J. Parker

received the office of collector.

The " Missiskuoi Standard," a weekly journal, was

published here for four or five years. The first num-

ber was issued on the 8th of April, 1835.

The " Standard' ' was a powerful enemy of the radicals

during the rebellion of '37 and '38, and its attacks

upon them were frequent and severe. James M.

Ferres, who had been for sometime a school-teacher at

Frelighsburg, was called to the editorship of this

paper

.

For nearly two years he occupied the editorial

chair, when, owing to the ability displayed in his writ-
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ings, he was called to Montreal, and trusted ^>ith the

management of the editorial department of the *' Mont-

real Herald.'* Subsequently he became proprietor

and editor of the " Gazette,' and left this in 1854, to

represent the interests of Brome County, in the Pro-

vincial Parliament. He was twice elected, and served

as representative of this county seven years. In 1861,

he was appointed inspector of prisons and asylums,

and still holds the office.

While in Parliament, Mr. Ferres was an active

member. He did much for the county he represented

especially in the way of having roads opened up and

in establishing educational institutions. After his de-

parture from Frelighsburg, the " Standard" was pub-

lished by J. D. Gilman.

Frelighsburg, like other villages of St. Armand, was

destined to receive a visit from a detachment of the

" Army of Ireland." As their exploits here were

similar to those already described in this work, a full

description of them would doubtleijs be uninteresting

to the reader. The merchants were the principal

suflerers at this place ; all the stoxes being entered,

and a large share of their contents stolen, damaged,

or destroyed.

In closing: the history of the Fenian raid on St.
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Armand, it may be proper to state that a sum of

115,400 was voted by the Provincial Parliament as

compensation to the suflferers from this raid.

This place was first known as Conroy's Mills—

a

name it retained till the arrival of Mr. Freligh

.

In the early part of its existence, it also received

the name of Slab City ; and it is almost as extensively

known by t title as by that of Frelighsburg. The

latter, howcvcr, is more generally used at present than

it was a few years since.

The way in which the not very complimentary name

" Slab City" originated, was this : Many years ago,

a number of men from the surrounding country,

happening to meet here on a certain day, concluded

to have a jollification at a tavern. One of the party,

a man from Dunham, getting intoxicated, was refused

another glass by the landlord, Joel Ackley. Highly

indignant, the inebriate at once commenced Philippics

against Slab City—^hence the name.

It may be said, that the only thing at that time in

Frelighsburg suggestive of this name, was one slab

house, mentioned above, and a few slab fences.

In 1860, a Town House and an Academy were

erected here. The latter receives an annual grant of

two hundred dollars*
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The following graphic description of Frclighsburg is

copied from an article written for the " Church Chro-

nicle," in 1864, by the late Dr. Rcid :

" Pyke river runs through the midst of the village,

supplying water power sufficient to turn a grist and

saw mill, and also other works for manufacturing pur-

poses if well improved, which would draw together an

increase of population, and furnish employment and

business both to house and to feed them. But the

natural advantages of the locality have been allowed to

pass away unprofitably, though the locality itself is

most beautiful, and an object of admiration to all

strangers who pass through it. It is surrounded on

all sides, except the openings which let in and out the

little river, not with lofty mountains, but gentle swells,

which conceal the village from the traveller, coming

from every point of the compass, till he arrive within

a mile of the church. From its early settlement, eight

roads met and centred in the village, and these roads

branch out into thirteen or fourteen roads within the

distance of three miles and a half.

" In fixing upon FreHghsburg as the head-quarters

of his mission, Mr. Stewart thought, as everybody else

thought, that the place was sure to grow rapidly, both

in population and business ; and in this expectation,

common to all, he pitched his tent in it, and deter-

mined to build a church, as to all appearance the most

eligible place for a church in the vicinity. Freligha-
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burg, however, has not yet answered the expectations

that were then so fondly entertained.

" The village lots were not sold, but let out on long

leases and annual rents, which people did not hke.

The owner of the land kept all the water-power

privilege in his own hands, and beyond a grist and

saw mill, which never did much business, he made no

other use of the water, and wouUl not let it out to

others who would have made it useful to themselves

and the country. The result has been that the village

has not grown ; the inhabitants have not increased.

" They arc not more numerous now than they were

forty years ago. There arc several very good houses

that have been recently built ; but they do not occupy

new ground, only the ground on which the old houses

stood. New lots are not taken up, and probably will

not be, till certain questions respecting the estate of

the late Mr. Freli";h are settled."

Among the pioneers who settled near Frelighsburg

were William Ayer and Daniel Chandler.

Mr. Ayer came from New Hampshire about 1796,

and settled a mile east of this village on a lot now

owned by E. S. Reynolds. His son, James Ayer,

followed in 1798, and settled near him. He lived in

this parish till 1855, when he died. One of his sons,
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Jamos Ayer, a respectable farmer, now lives at

Abbott's Corner.

Daniel Chandler, from Connecticut, settled here, in

1800, on a lot now owned by the heirs of James

Hagan. Two of his sons, Horace and Harlow, have

always lived in this section. The former, who has

very recently removed to Brome, still owns a large

farm here, on which he lived. He was for many years

one of the leading men in St. Armand. His brother

Harlow has also discharged the duties of several public

offices for his parish.

James Lee, an Englishman, who settled in this part

of St. Armand, in 1822, was a man highly respected.

He was a justice of the peace and commissioner of

the Commissioners' Court. He died in 1864.



ABBOTT'S CORNER.

The very early history of this place is numbered

with the lost things of the past. Neither record nor

tradition has fallen in the way of the writer, to show

who cleared the first ^' patch," or erected the first

cabin on the site of the present village. The first

settler, of whom we have any account, was Ebenezer

Clark. He came from the State of New York in

1795, and took up a lot between Abbott's Corner and

Frelighsburg, a part of which is now owned by the

heirs of James Hagan. A year or two after this, he

removed to the place now known as Abbott's Corner,

and settled on a lot at present owned by Chauncey

Abbott. Another individual had been here before

him, ftnd made a small clearing and commenced build-

ing a log house, on the spot now occupied by the

dwoihng of Shubael Smith ; but who he was, where

he came from, or when he came, are questions for

others to answer.
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About the earliest settlers in this Section were Rev.

Jcdediah Hibbard and Dr. Jonas Abbott. The former

came from Lebanon, New Hampshire, in 1797, and

settled on the lot now owned by Mrs. Leo. Many of

the descendants of Mr. Hibbard live in St. Armand.
•

Nathaniel, one of his sons, settled where his oivn son,

Johnson Hibbard, now resides. Ho was a respected

citizen, and for several years a justice of the peace.

Of his children, but three have settled in St. Armand.

Charles, his youngest son, has recently returned from

Burmah, where for the past fifteen years he has been

laboring as a missionary. The homestead is owned by

Mr. Johnson Hibbard.

Dr. Jonas Abbott camo from Bennington, Ver-

mont, to St. Armand, and settled on the lot now

owned by his grandson, Chauncey Abbott, nearly at

the same time that Mr. Hibbard came. He lived

here several years, then went to Kingston, C.W.,

and was engaged as a druggist. He accumulated a

fortune in this business, and then returned to St.

Armand, where he spent the remainder of his days.

From Dr. Abbott this place derives its present name.

As will be inferred from the history already given,

he was a prominent and influential citizen. Commis-

sioners' Courts were formerly held alternately at this
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place and at Philipsburg. Dr. Abbott was one of the

commissioners, and was also justice of the peace, and

colonel of militia. •

Chaunccy Abbott is the only representative of the

family name now residing here. He is a justice of

the peace, and has been mayor of the Parish Council.

Shubael Smith js also among the prominent citizens

of this locaUty. lie has resided here several years,

and held municipal ofl&ces. His son, H. II. Smith,

formerly a merchant here, has been postmaster since

the office was established in 1852.

There is no store here now ; several atkjmpts to

establish trade at as many different dates only proving

successful for a short time.

In 1826, a distillery was built a few rods east of

the spot now occupied by the dwelling of Columbus

Scofield. It continued in operation eight years.

A Baptist Church was organized hero on the 6th of

September, 1799 ; Elder Jcdediah Hibbard being its

pastor. The first " Church meeting " was held at

the house of EbciDzer Clark, on the 12th of July,

1800. A house for public worship was erected by

this society soon after its organization, but every ves-

tige of this structure has long since passed away.

The present Baptist Church edifice was built in 1841.

I
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Elder Hibbard was pastor of the Church for several

years, and was a zealous and successful preacher.

lie was succeeded by Elder William Galusha. Sub-

sequently Elder Homer Smith was pastor of this

Church.

He was born at Pawlet, Vt., August 21st, 1782.

In conjunction with his father, he settled when very

young on a farm in St. Armand, upon which ho con-

tinued to reside as long as ho Hved. From his youth

he was much engaged in religion ; was active and

deemed useful in the Church, and finally in view of

the destitution of this region was Hcensed and ordained

as a Baptist minister when nearly forty years old.

From that time, he devoted himself a good deal to

study and preaching, mostly without any pecuniary

consideration. He continued, however, to carry on

his farm, and acquired a competent estate.

He died 12th of October, 1837, in his fifty-sixth

year. His son, Harvey D. Smith, a man of respecta-

bility and influence, resides on the homestead.

A Methodist society was formed hero as early as

1806, and since that period has flourished with diflfe-

rent degrees of prosperity. A chapel was built by

this society in 1841.

Abbott's Corner has long been noted for the mora-
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lity of its inhabitants. It is a fact worthy of note,

that it contains no jrog shop, or place where spiri-

tuous liquors arc vended. Its citizens are generally

church-going people, and their hospitality precludes

the necessity for a public house. The young men

have warmly espoused the temperance cause, and have

united with tho Order of Good Follows.

;• The village is situated about two miles south-east

of Frelighsburg. The site is much more elevated than

that of the latter place, and is pleasant, airy, and

healthful.

Settlors made their way into the forest along where

the road now leads from Abbott's Corner to Richford,

Vt., as early as 1798. Prior to this date, Isaac

Gibbs purchased four or five hundred acres of land in

the section where Thomas Miner now lives.

In or near the above year, Capt. J. B Scofield,

from New Hampshire, settled on the lot now known

as the Whitman farm. He planted an orchard, a part

of which is still remaining ; it is said to have covered

originally more than fifty acres.

Mr. Scofield, in his day, was considered a. great

farmer. At one time, he owned thirty cows ; a dairy

that at that period elicited the astonishment of all the
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inhabitants of tho adjacent localities. His descend-

ants reside at Abbott's Corner, and in that vicinity,

and are numbered with the well-to-do farmers.

Dr. Allen Miner, from Connecticut, a settlor cotem-

porary with Capt. Scoficld, purchased either the whole

or a part of the land owned by Gibbs. He practiced

medicine during the first years of his residence here.

Two sons, Thomas and Casper, live in this vicinity.

About 1800, Thomas Arms from Clarendon, Vt.,

settled on the most south-easterly lot in St. Armand.

He planted a large orchard here, once the best orchard,

it is said, in this part of Canada ; a vestige of it still

remains.

Mr. Arms was for a long time Deacon of tho Rich-

ford Baptist Church. He was in better circumstances

than many of his neighbors, and the only man in this

section who was proprietor of a frame house.

The road passing by his dwelling was for years the

only one by which people living eastward could con-

veniently reach Montreal—the only important market

at that time accessible to the inhabitants of the East-

ern Townships or the towns in the north part of Ver-

mont. .

The Green Mountams, over which there were no

roads, seemed almost to prohibit intercourse between
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those townships situated on opposite sides. Under

such circumstances, Mis3is([uoi river was made to per-

form the office of a highway. Travellers descended

this stream in hoats to Richford, and in case they were

going to market, entered Canada hy the road described

above.*

The house of Thomas Arms being of good size, ho

frequently entertained those going to, or returning

from Montreal, or places in that direction.

The reader is doubtless aware of the extent to which

smuggling was carried on along our frontier in the

days of the Embargo, and has heard many exciting

and laughable stories of events, connected with this

illicit business.

Smuggling was engaged in extensively in the sec-

tion of which we are speaking, and an account of one

of the difficulties arising therefrom is given to show

the state of society in those days, and the disregard

of the lavf

.

During the last war between Great Britain and the

United States, Capt. Bradford Powell was an official

of the American Government stationed at Richford to

preserve the " Embargo " from violation at that place.

In the fall of 1814, a man living in Potton went to

Montreal, purchased a load of goods, and was returning



102 TirSTORY OP ST. ARMAND.

"with it through Uichford, when it was seized by Powell.

A night or two after this, the cattle of the official and

those of his brother, John Powell, who it seems had

assisted in seizing the goods, were driven into Canada

as far as Dunham.

The o^vner of the goods was charged with the crime,

when, without denying the charge, lie attempted to

justify himselfon the ground that he had been unjustly

treated ; asserting that, though he had no right to

dispose of the goods in the States, he had a right to

convey them through American territory to Canada.

The question then arose, whether Powell had not in

reality transcended his duty in seizing the property
;

a question involving, of course, the ri£'ht of transit of

goods through the country in time of the " Embargo."

After much wrangling, the parties thought the most

speedy way of settling the question was by arbitration,

and the premises of Thomas Arms were fixed upon as

the place for holding it. A judge, for an arbitrator,

and a lawyer, both from Canada, were employed by

the individual from Potton, and similar dignitaries,

from Vermont, by Powell.

Preparations, suitable to so great an occasion, were

made by all parties. A grocery was erected on the

Province line by young men from Richford, and this,
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with the arhitratlon, was siifliclont to attract a crowd

for three or four day:^. At tlie exi)iration of that

time, it was decided that Powell had not transcended

his duty, and tliat the cattle should be restored.

Several of the descendants of Thomas Arms live in

this part of St. Armand. Two of his grandsons arc

connected as clergymen with the Baptist Church.

Rev. A. L. Arms has for the past seventeen years

been actively and successfully engaged in the cause

of Christ, preaching in Vermont and in several of our

own townships. Wherever ho has labored it may

be said of him :

" His preaching mucfi, but more his practice wrought,

(A living sermon of the truths ho taught,)

For this by rules severe his life he squar'd

:

That all might see the doctrine which they heard."

Rev. George Arms, his brother, still a student in

a theological institution, preaches occasionally in the

towns of the northern part of Vermont.



NOETH PINNACLE.

About 1796, Reuben Dodge settled in the valley

north of the Pinnacle, on the lot now owned by Vinten

Barnes. This land afterwards passed into the hands

of his son, Brewer Dodge, and was owned by him till

1817.

Not far from the time that Dodge settled here, a

man named Holiday settled on the lot at present

owned by W. H. Hurlburt, Here, he remained until

1804, cleared twelve acres, and built a saw-mill on

the site of the present saw-mill of H. Deming. He

then sold out to Vinten Barnes from Pittsford, Ver-

mont.

Mr. Barnes was the first who brought a waggon to

this locality. Here he spent the remainder of his

days.

George Barnes, one of his sons, in 1817, purchased

the farm of Brewer Dodge* He opened a store in
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1829, and continued trading till 1842. About the

same time that he opened his store, he built an ashery,

and for several years manufactured pot and pearl ash.

Many of the neighboring inhabitants who procured a

livelihood by making and selling potash, here found a

convenient market.

Mr. Barnes died in 1850. His estate passed into

the hands of his second son, Vinten, who still resides

on the homestead. He is an influential citizen in this

locality, and is a member of the Municipal Council of

the parish of St. Armand East. In 1865, a post-

office was established here with the name of North

Pinnacle, and he was appointed postmaster.

Luther Smith, from Colerain, Mass., came to this

section and settled about 1805. He died in 1830.

His widow, a woman of piety and strong intellect,

remained on the farm, and reared a large family.

Her son, L. R. Smith, now resides on the homestead.

In 1808, Abel Hurlburt settled on a lot in the

extreme north-east part of St. Armand. In November

of the same year, he built a grist and saw-mill on a

stream crossing this lot. These mills were in suc-

cessful operation several years, but only faint traces

of them are now in existence. A spot near them,

which was cleared at the same period by one of his

1
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sons, is still encompassed by woods, and until recently

was an uncultivated common.

Mr. Hurlburt was from Shelburne, Vt. He came

to St. Armand in 1793, and settled in the north-east

part on land now owned and occupied by W. Ferres.

He lived here till 1808. Two of his brothers came

here about the same time that he did, and settled near

him.

Other settlers came to North Piimacle near the

beginning of the present century, but as the majority

of them soon sold their improvements to others, a

history of them would only present to the reader an

uninteresting profusion of names and dates.

St. Armand has ever shown a decided spirit of

loyalty. During the late rebelUon, the mihtia dis-

played their patriotism and courage by the alacrity

with which they responded to their country's call.

Besides the militia companies, there were raised two

companies of Volunteers,—one in the east parish by

Capt. Starke ; the other, which was a company of

cavalry, by Capt. Hiram Moore.

Two companies of Volunteers, organized a few

months since, now exist in St. Armand. That in the



an

of

ds-

|*ity

ill.

(wo

Iby

of

JW

Ihe

HISTORY OF ST. ARMAND. 107

east parish is commanded by Capt. Leonard Titemore
;

the one in the west parish by Capt. Peter Smith.

Had these companies been allowed to remain in their

respective parishes, as they desired, there is little

doubt that St. Armand would have been spared much

of the trouble occasioned by the Fenians.

St. Armand is not wanting in facihties for educating

her sons and daughters ; besides the two academies

already mentioned, there are twenty elementary

schools in the two parishes.

The number of communicants in the diflferent Pro-

testant Churches in St. Armand is as follows ;

Episcopalians 140

Methodists 140

Baptists 50

Adventists 40

Agriculture is the chief employment of the inhabi-

tants. The most recent improvements in agricultural

implements will here be found, and much skill

observed in cultivating land, and taste in erecting and

preparing buildings for dairy purposes.

The streams which water St. Armand are small, and

fewer in number than those in some of the townships.

In the west parish two small streams, one running

in a north-westerly, and the other in a southerly
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direction, unite a short distance north of St. Armand

Station, and form Rock river, which proceeds in a

south-westerly course to Vermont.

Groat Creek, rising near the Province line, in the

west part of the east parish, runs north-west through

a part of St. Armand West, and enters the township

of Stanbridge.

In the east parish, several brooks coming from

different directions effect a junction a short distance

south-east of Frelighsburg, forming Pyke river, which

also takes a north-west course, and passes into Stan-

bridge.

Only a small portion of St. Armand is covered with

the forest ; the most of it being under a good state of

cultivation.

The surface in the west parish is generally level

;

some of it being low and even marshy. In the latter

places, cedar formerly grew in plenty, but the demand

for it in later years has far surpassed the supply.

In the east parish, the surface is more broken, yet

there is but little of it that is not adapted to tillage.

In the east part of this parish the well-known Pin-

nacle rises up in " solitary grandeur." Standing

alone in the midst of a comparatively level country,

it may be seen many miles in every direction, save
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the east, where other mountJns hide it from the view
of those residing toward Lake Memphramagog. From
Its summit, one gets a view of a large territory with
Its vaned scenery. Villages, rivers, lakes, ponds,
hills mountains, valleys, woodland and meadow, liem the prospective.



DUNHAM.

Dunham is ten miles square. It is bounded on the

north by East Farnham, east by Brome and Sutton,

south by St. Armand, and west by Stanbridge. It

was erected into a township, and the greater portion

of it granted to a Company of " Associates," * in

1796 ; the first of the townships erected in Lower

Canada.

As the term "Associates" is not generally well

understood, a few words by way of explanation may
*

not be amiss.

NAMES OF THE GRANTEES.

Thomas Dunn, Joseph Buck, John Helicker, Jacob Helicker,

George Sax, Matthew Hall, William Farrand, David Farrand,

Joshua Chambers, Amos Woodard, David Reychert, John Rey-

chert, John Blake, Thomas Best, Daniel Mills, Jeremiah Rey-

chert, Daniel Traver, Alexander McDougall, James Pell, Andrew
Ten Eyck, Henry Ten Eyck, Archibald Henderson, Henry Hall,

Elisha Dickenson, Jacob Best, sen., George "Wagner, Abraham

Lampman. John Mills, Stephen Jenne, Jacob Best, Adam Deal,

Lodwick Streit, Samuel Mills, Philip Ruiter, and Jacob Ruiter.
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Any individual of responsibility who had sustained

losses from his loyalty to the government or otherwise

merited reward, could, by pursuing a prescribed course,

in company with a certain number of others of undoubt-

ed loyalty, obtain a grant of five-sevenths of a town-

ship. The individual who took the most active part

in procuring this grant, and bore the expenses, was

denominated—"Leader."

The course pursued was substantially as follows

:

The Leader, with the other individuals, who were

called Associates, presented a petition to government,

in which the claims of the petitioner were set forth, and

the tract of land prayed for described. The grant

was made only on condition that the Leader and each

of the Associates should take the oath of allegiance,

and themselves, their heirs, or assigns, should make

" actual settlement " and certain improvements in the

township before a specified time. The improvements

necessary to be made, may be learned from the Letters

Patent erecting the township of Brome, which will

be found in another part of this work.

Five-sevenths only of the township were granted

to the Leader and Associates, and these were divided

equally among them ; the remaining two-sevenths

being reserved for the support of the Protestant Clergy
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and for the disposition of the Crown. But a private

bargain was previously made between the Leader and

each Associate, in which it was stipulated that the

Associate should have a certain number of acres

—

generally two hundred—and should deed back to the

Leader all he should draw more than this amount.

The Leader was to defray the expense of opening a

road through the township, of building mills, and of

having the township surveyed ; the land deeded to him

by the Associates being received as compensation for

the expenses thus incurred.

These private bargains, in many cases, were not

faithfully adhered to by the Associates, and much

trouble and tedious and expensive litigation frequently

arose in consequence.

After the first settler had " pitched his tent '' in

Dunham, this township was settled with considerable

rapidity. So rapid was the influx of settlers, that

there is comparatively little diflference in the periods

at which its different localities became the dwelling-

place of pioneers.

Among those who first sought a home in this town-

ship was Mr. Andrew Ten Eyck, from New Jersey.

Born and bred beneath the fostering care of Great

Britain, and taught to respect and love her institu-
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tions, he could not brook the idea of renouncing, with

his neighbors, allegiance to George the Third, and par

consequent
J
received the ignoble title—in that country

—of Tory. For several years after the close of the

revolution, the loyal old Dutchman—much to his dis-

relish—continued to live in Ne^v Jersey, and witness

the practical workings of a republican government

;

but filially declaring that he could no lon^^or cn'lnrc

H, in 1793 or '94 he came to Canada,, and settled in

the south-western part of Dunham, on a lot now owned

by Andrew Ten Eyck his great grand-son. But the

temporal happiness which this faithful loyalist had

sought in Canada was not of long duration ; he died

in 1799.

A year after he came to this Province, he was fol-

lowed by one of his sons, named Hendrick, who had

inherited his father's love for the British Lion. He

settled on a lot adjoining that of his father. During

the revolution he lived in the city of New Yoi'k.

While there he was obliged to resort to stratagem to

prevent being pressed into the British naval service,

by press-gangs. Knowing that the soldiers were ex-

empt from impressment, he obtained a. red coat and

wore it, thus preserving himself from the clutches of

the press-man. This coat, in a remarkable state of
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preservation considering its age, is still in the posses-

sion of his grand-children, who reside on the home-

stead in Dunham.

Mr. Ten Ejck drove to Canada four cows and a

yoke of oxen, for which he procured pasturage on a

neighboring beaver-meadow. In winter, he sustained

them with browse.

So destitute was this place at that time of every

appearance of civilization, that a tuft of Timothy

grass which sprung up by a stump, the summer after

his arrival, aflforded a cheering sight. It was first

discovered by Mrs. Ten Eyck, who, in surprise, im-

mediately called her husband to see it.

Hendrick Ten Eyck came into possession of his

father's lot after his death ; and though his health was

considerably impaired, he effected large improvements

on these two lots. He had a wen on his face, from which

he had long suffered, and, continually increasing in size,

it put an end to his life, in 1815. He was an honest,

industrious man, and at his death was comfortably

situated with regard to this world's goods. He had

seven children —three sons and four daughters. Two

of the sons died while very young ; the remaining one

was drafted during the war of 1812, and was one of

those taken prisoners at Philipsburg by the Americans.
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He was carried to Grcenbush, N. Y., where he died,
•

*n the twenty-third year of his age. Three of the

daughters settled in Dunham, and one in Stanbridge.

One of those who settled in Dunham married a cousin,

named Andrew-Ten Eyck, and remained on the home-

stead. He died in 1832. His widow and her children

still own the home of their fathers.

Another pioneer in this part of Dunham was Asa

Westover—the second son ofMoses Westover—an early

settler in North Sutton. He came with his father to

the latter place, where he spent two years, and then, in

1798, took up his residence in Dunham. An indivi-

dual had previously taken up the lot on which he set-

tled, and had erected a *' shanty," and "slashed"

about ten acres of the forest. All the property posses-

sed by Mr. Westover when he came here, consisted of

a cow and an axe. The former he gave to the occu-

pant of the lot for his improvements, and with the latter

undertook to maintain his family. Prosperity crowned

his efforts. Some men seem to be endowed with the

precise faculties for accumulating property. As if

possessing a foreknowledge of events, and are thus

enabled to tell how every move will " turn out," every

investment they make proves a success. Without

any apparent desire for wealth, and without making



110 HISTORY OF ST. ARMAND.

any bustle in the world, an increase of property attends

their every movement as naturally as the school boy's

snow-ball is augmented in size by every revolution it

makes in the damp snow ; so that the life which was

commenced in penury is closed in affluence. Thus

was it with the pioneer of whom wo write. Frugal,

industrious and retiring in manners, he pursued " the

even tenor of his way," and soon became able to pur-

chase the improvements of a neighboring settler ; and

thus, from time to time, made additions to his original

farm, until he had obtained eight hundred acres.

Besides this, he owned several hundred acres in neigh-

boring townships.

At the time the Rev. Mr. Stewart resided in Fre-

lighsburg, Mr. Westover was, through his preaching,

brought under the influence of the Gospel. He united

with the Church of England, of which he remained

a faithful member until his death, which occurred in

1832.

He contributed liberally toward the erection of the

first Church edifice at Frelighsburg, and was seldom

absent from his seat in it on the Sabbath. He was

a man of integrity, a staunch loyalist, and as an agri-

culturist, second to none in Dunham. He was twice

married. By the first marriage he had eleven children

—nine daughters and two sons.
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The two latter, Daniel and Asa, live on the home-

stead. Two hundred acres of this was sold previous

to the father's death, ^iid the remainder—six hundred

acres—was divided equally between them.

Daniel, the eldest son, has added largely to his

portion of the estate, and is successfully engaged in

agricultural pursuits. He has been a justice of the

peace for many years, has been a member of the

Municipal Council, and is a lieutenant-colonel of militia.

Asa is also a prosperous agriculturist. He has

on his farm a large " sugar place," the fame of

which has spread throughout the Townships. He

manufactures from it, annually, from five to seven

thousand pounds of sugar. At the Provincial Indus-

trial Exhibition held at Montreal under the direction

of the Board of Arts and Manufactures for Lower

Canada, in August, 1860, he was awarded a bronze

Medal for a sample of refined maple sugar. At

the Great Exhibition held in New York in 1853, he

received honorable mention for samples of refined

maple sugar and syrup.

Like his brother, he is highly respected by the in-

habitants of his native township, and has served them

in different capacities as a municipal officer.

The brothers have been somewhat engaged in manu-
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facturing tile, and have supplied many individuals in

the Townships with this article.

In 1794 or 1795, Jonathan Hart, from the States,

settled in the south part of the Township on the mar-

gin of what is now called Selby Lake. He brought

under a state of cultivation most of the lot on which

he settled, and lived here till 1810, when he sold it,

and went to Upper Canada.

After passing through several hands, the same lot

in 1822, was purchased by Jonathan Selby from Eng-

land.

Being an intelligent active man, Mr. Selby was a

valuable addition to the business talent of the Township.

He died in 1850, leaving two sons, Thomas and

Joseph.

The former settled on the homestead, and is one of

the influential and useful inhabitants of Dunham. He

is a commissioner of the Commissioners' Court, and

is mayor of the Municipal Council. His brother,

Joseph, is a merchant, and an energetic, enterprising

man.

On a lot north of that purchased by Mr. Selby, and

adjacent to it, WiUiam Farrand, from the States, set-

tled in 1794. He had cleared about twenty-five acres

of this lot, when he sold it to Joseph Baker from Peter-
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sham, Mass. This was in October, 1799. Much was

said at that time in Massachusetts concerning the

superior quahty and beauty of the land in Dunham

;

and Mr. Baker, having a large family of boys, for

whom he wished to obtain land, v-os led to try his fortune

in Canada. He was influenced much also in deciding

to take this step, by his wife ; a woman of energy and

strong mind, and possessing much love for British insti-

tutions. Her family espoused the cause of the loyalists

at the beginning of the revolution, and for that reason

were exceedingly obnoxious to their less loyal neigh-

bors.

Through his enterprising spirit, and the efficiency of

his business talent, Mr. Baker became a prominent

citizen of the Township. Among the positions he

occupied, he was a captain of militia, a commissioner

of the Commissioners' Court, and a justice of the peace.

He was a noted peace-maker ; never issuing a warrant

except in cases of aggravated wrong, without first

laboring to effect a settlement amicably. He died in

November, 1836. His wife died in 1841.

They had eleven children. Ten of these—five sons

and an equal number of daughters—lived to have

families.

WiUiam, the eldest son, settled in Dunham, and,
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through industry and more than ordinary business

talent, accumulated a fortune. He was engaged in

mercantile pursuits for thirty years. The following

are extracts from an obituary notice of him, published

in the "Montreal Gazette " of May 26, 1866 :

" William studied medicine, but never practiced

;

and, after teaching a government school for a time, com-

menced business, in which he was actively engaged

till some fifteen years ago. He always took a leading

part in matters connected with the Church of England

in his district, contributed freely to its support, and

gave an organ to his parish church.

" He was returned to Parliament in 1835, and was

one of the little band of loyalists who opposed Mr.

Papineau and his party.

" He was a man of clear and strong convictions ; and,

though tolerant towards those who diflfered from him,

he never dissembled or shrank from expressing his

own opinions. During the stormy discussion before

the Rebellion, he seemed to see with almost prophetic

vision, the result of an appeal to arms. The scene

jn the House, when in burning words he denounced

the course of the party in power, and warned them of

the danger they incurred, is said to have been one of

the most exciting ever seen in the House,
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are also successful farmers. Edward, one of them,

has been postmaster at Dunham Flat nearly forty

years.

On the lot north of that purchased by Mr. Joseph

Baker, and adjoining it, Moses Knapp from Arling-

ton, Vermont, settled in 1797 or '98. He was a very

industrious man, possessed of great equanimity, and

was highly respected by his fellow-citizens. He died in

1816, leaving one child, a daughter, who married

Dr. Brown Chamberlin, mentioned in the history of

St. Armand. She was a woman of talent and much

amiability. Five children were the fruit of this union

—one son and four daughters. Brown Chamberlin, the

son, is an associate editor of the *' Montreal Gazette."

The eldest daughter married Dr. S. P. Barnum, also

mentioned in the history of St. Armand. The young-

est married John Lowe, a gentleman who is also an

associate in publishing the " Montreal Gazette."

The homestead is now owned by the heirs.

Before giving a sketch of other pioneers, we devote

a few pages to a description of the labors of the settlers

in making roads, and thus opening communication with

the inhabitants of other localities.

In the winter of 1796 or '97, Jacob Ball, Jeremiah

Spencer, Simpson Jenne, and a few others from St.
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Armand, and several from Dunham, went from St.

Armandjvk Dunham Flat, to the place now called St.

Hyacinthe, for the purpose of procuring salt. Four

or five of the number harnessed their horses before

sleds, and the remainder preceded them on foot, with

axes, to open the road.

At that period the place through which they had

to pass^ now occupied by the village of St. Cesaire,

was designated as the Upper Block House, from the

fact that a block fort had been erected there by the

French. The place now known as St. Hyacinthe was

then often called Yamaska, but quite as frequently,

the Lower Block House ; the French having also

erected a block fort there.

Before reaching the latter place they were met

by several Frenchmen, who, having heard of their

approach, were impelled by curiosity to visit them

;

not being accustomed to see horses harnessed abreast.

The habitants greeted them with enthusiastic cheers,

and, during their stay, treated them with the greatest

hospitality.

The road which was at this time opened answered

a good purpose for travelling in winter ; but the inhab-

itants of St. Armand and Dunham, desiring more

frequent communication with the Seigniories, decided,
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in 1804, on improving this road and on opening

another from West Farnham to the Upper Block

House. Accordingly they set themselves to work,

and, after spending four or five weeks, succeeded in

making it passable.

Though constructed at considerable expense of time

and labor, the pioneers were well satisfied with the

outlay. As soon as it was opened, the French came

in with salt, fish, &c., and received corn and other

articles in exchange.

After other roads were opened in the country, this

was neglected and consequently became obstructed.

Col. Stevens Baker, and Levi Kemp, Esq., when

young men, attempted to pass through it in 1813,

after it had fallen into a state of disuse, with a drove

of cattle ; and the hardships they endured on the

occasion are still remembered by them, and related

with zest.

The drove, consisting of one hundred and thirty-two

head, had been purchased by the fathers of the young

men named above, for the use of British troops,

stationed between St. Johns and Laprairie. As

American forces were at that time near the frontier,

it was thought best, in order to prevent the cattle from

falling into their hands, to drive them to the place ot
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delivery via West Farnham, and the Upper Block

House. Levi and Stevens, with an assistant or two,

were accordingly entrusted with them. At "West

Farnham they were told that it would be necessary for

them to get an individual acquainted with the road to

acTjompany them, which they did. The next morning,

taking a quantity of pork and several loaves of bread,

they placed them in one end of a bag, and in the

other put what was at that time considered almost as

essential—a keg of rum. Selecting a fine stout ox,

one that they thought looked the most able to carry

this load,—though they had some misgivings with

regard to his honesty, as he wore the mark of a rogue,

—a " gallows" on his horns,—they threw the bag

across his neck and resumed their journey. They

had gone some distance, when they found their path

hedged up by trees which had fallen across it, while

on either hand there was an interminable " windfall."

The only alternative was to make the larger cattle

jump over the fallen trees, and force the smaller ones

to crawl under them ; but owing to the obstinacy or

fear of sowe, they found this to be a work of time.

Three hours passed ere the cattle were all safely

beyond this barricade, and after the work was accom-

plished the boys began to feel a keen desire for dinner.

But where was the " baggage-master" ?

r:
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They then remembered that he 'was ono of the bold

ones which, on coming to the trees, had taken the

lead, leaping them with little ado. Doubtless he had

gone forward a short distance and was by the wayside

indulging iq a dinner of browse ; so on they went,

hunger quickening their footsteps. But the ox they

did not discover. They pushed forward as rapidly as

the almost impassable state of the road, and the tardy

pace of the hindermost cattle would allow ; still they

obtained no sight of the anxiously looked for beast.

As if to punish them for the indignity of selecting him

for a pack-horse, he strode straight onward, making

dinner with them a thing of anticipation.

The sun was just sinking in the horizon, when the

boys, half famished and worn out with their laborious

task, came up with the ox grazing quietly in a little

field by the side of the road, about a mile from the

Block House. They were not long in relieving him

of his burden ; and in telling the story at the present

day both aver that food or "spirits" never had a more

delightful relish than they had on that occasion.

After finishing their repast, they found that several of

the cattle had been left behind in the woods ; conse-

quently, part of the company had to return for them

while the others proceeded to the Block House. The

lost cattle were brought in, long after dark.
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Col. Baker has this among his rcmink onccs of

pioneer life, and thinks a useful lesson may be learned

from his adventures with the ox, \iz : That no one

should ever trust valuable property to the care of an

individual bearing the indisputable mark of a rogue.

Four or five years after the road from West Farn-

ham to the Block House had been opened, the same

enterprising pioneers who had performed the work,

desiring a more direct route to Montreal, determined

to open one from West Farnham to St. Thdr^se

Mountain ; a distance of fourteen miles. The wilder-

ness between these two places was then unbroken, and

the route of the projected road lay across a marsh, a

mile and a fourth in width. Through this, they had

to construct a causeway of logs. The road then made

is still travelled. For a long time it answered only for

winter travelling.

Several years elapsed before there was any dwell-

ing on this road where the traveller could stop ; but

it finally having occurred to a man named Murray,

that the place was a favorable one for the erection of a

house of entertainment, he built one of poles half way

between West Farnham and the Mountain. He then

purchased a hogshead of whiskey, which was rolled

from the Mountain to his habitation, a distance of

seven miles, on poles,

f
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The first veliiclo on wheels that ever came to the

vicinity of Dunham Flat was an ox cart, brought from

the States about 1802, by a Mr. Higgins who was

moving to Farnham. Finding the roads in a wretched

state, on reaching the house of Mr. Joseph Baker, in
«

Dunham, he exchanged his cart with Mr. B., for a

sled, receiving a cow, to boot.

Like all the townships, Dunham, in its earlier years,

was infested with bears and wolves—the pest of the

settlers. Seemingly conscious that their stay in the

place must be short, the wolves seemed determined to

make the year 1808 a season of continual feasting on

tha flocks of the inhabitants.

Among those that prowled nightly in the forest,

making the timid sheep huddle closely tog nher in

their folds by their frightful howls, was an old she-

wolf with four or five whelps, which roamed through

the woods around Dunham Flat and East Dunham.

One night this gang attacked eleven sheep of Mr.

Joseph Baker, which were confined in a yard near his

house, and killed them all. Ten of them escaped from

the yard when the wolves entered, but were run down

and destroyed by their pursuers.

Soon after this they, in the night, attacked a heifer

of Mr. Baker, which had been forgotten, and left in a

I
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field some distance from tho house. They pursued

and caught her, and at once commenced devouring the

hind parts of her body, while she was still alive,

causing her to sufifer excruciating tortures. For an

hour, the poor creature bellowed piteously, but there

were none to go to her rescue ; Mr. Baker being con-

fined to the house by an injured limb, and his children

absent from home at a frolic. The next morning the

heifer was found with her body half-eaten.

About this time the inhabitants oflfered a bounty of

thirty dollars for the head of every wolf that should

be killed in the township ; and this old wolf and her

young were captured, one after another, in the course

of a few months, by a man named Sargent.
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This village has been vcrj recently incorporated, and

in giving its history we shall give a sketch of the

individuals who first settled on the half lots included

in the incorporation. These parcels of land consist

of half of lots number ton, eleven, and twelve in the

sixth range, and half of lots number ten, eleven, and

twelve in the seventh range. Taking these half lots

in the order in which they are named above, the first

settlers on them were Jacob Helicker, Amos and

Gideon Hawloy, Lemuel Ilawley, Abraham Lampman,

John Wagner, and Lemuel Hawley and son.

With the exception of Lemuel Hawley, all were from

the State of New York, and came here dbout the same

time, which was not far from 1795.

The street running through the village from north

to south, follows the line which divides the two ranges

of lots named above ; and the pioneers erected their
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cabins on their respective lots, near this line, and thus

laid out the village in tlio form in which it still exists.

Jacob Ilelickor cleared Jihout forty acres of the lot

on which he settled. The site of his dwelling is now

owned by II. A. Church. The present Episcopal

Church is on the extreme north-west corner of the lot

he owned. He died in 1810.

The dwelling of Dr. Gideon Ilawley and his brother

Amos occupied the site of the stone house of the late

Oren Dunning. Dr. Ilawley was a man of consider-

able ability and a skillful physician. Amos was a

consistent Christian, industrious and highly esteemed.

Ho cleared up many acres of the lot he owned. These

brothers left the country in 1812, and went to Ohio.

Dr. Ilawley has a son now living in East Farnham.

Lemuel Ilawley was from Connecticut. He came to

Dunham about 1798. His house occupied the site of

that of the late William* Baker, Esq. He died about

1804, leaving the homestead in possession of his son

who sold it to Mr. Baker a few years afterwards.

Abraham Lampman was the father-in-law of Jacob

Helicker. He was an aged man, and, in felling a large

tree, he over-exerted himself, from the effects of which

he died in 180-4. Ho had a son who lived on the

homestead several years, and made some improve^

M

V
it

f
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There are now two hotels and six stores in this

village. The hotels are owned respectively by H.

A. Church and H. Seely. The merchants are H. A.

Church, P. S. Armington, Thomas Wood, Harvey

Lee, W. E. R. Orr, and James Oliver. The three

former have been in trade here some years.

Mr. Armington is an efficient secretary-treasurer

of the Board of School Commissioners, and of the

Municipal Council.

Mr. Wood is one of the leading men of Dunham
;

he is a justice of the peace, and has been mayor of

the township.

Edward Finley, Esq., is one of the influential busi-

ness men of the place ; he has held various public

offices, and is at present clerk of the Commissioners*

Court, and chairman of the Board of School Commis-

sioners.

It is believed that the first Methodist preacher who

preached in Dunham was Hezekiah C. Wooster.

About the middle of the year 1798, he was returning

home to die of consumption, induced by excessive

ministerial labors in Upper Canada, when he preached

a sermon in this township. Under this sermon, it is

said, three young men, who afterwards became minis-

ters of the Gospel, were converted to God. The next
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year, the eccentric Lorenzo Dow held meetings in

different parts of Dunham. Speaking of the effects

of these meetings, he says :
—" Some were angry and

spake evil of the way, and some were serious and

tender, and desired to hear again."

At this time, Dunham became a part of the Essex

Circuit. In 1806, it appeared as the head of a cir-

cuit, which embraced Dunham, St. Armand, Stan-

bridge, Sutton, and Potton. Brome, also, received a

share of the labors of the preachers in this circuit.

Dunham was afterwards included in the St. Armand

Circuit.

In 1839, it again appeared as the head of a circuit,

which embraced Dunham, St. Armand East, Stan-

bridge East, Sutton, and a part of Farnham.

The Rev. John B. Brownell was the first minister

on this newly-formed circuit of Dunham. He was

extensively known, and was remarkably useful ; being

a popular and powerful preacher. Under his earnest

and able sermons, many were converted and added to

the Church. Some of these are still living, and are

found among the office-bearers and principal support-

ers of the Church at the present day.

Dunham now forms a circuit of itself. When the

places named above were included, it was assisted
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largely by missionary funds. At present it supports

its own minister, and contributes largely to connexional

funds.

The Methodists now have three commodious Church

edifices in Dunham.

The members of this Church exercise an important

influence on the morals and religious interests of the

township, and here, as elsewhere, are found exerting

themselves to govern society with the principles of the

Gospel of Christ, and promote the prosperity of the

township in which they reside.

The greater part of the following history of the

Church of England in Dunham is copied from the

'' Church Chronicle.''

The Rev. Canon Townsend, the venerable Rector

of the parishes of St. George and St. Thomas, Cla-

renceville, spent his boyhood and youth in this neigh-

bourhood, and as he was present upon the occasion,

when in all probability the service of the Church of

England was used for the first time in this parish, he

has most kindly supplied the following account of that

erent, and probably the only biographical reminiscence

which we shall ever have of the clergyman who then

ofl&ciated.

' ii

r

" In complying with your request to communicate
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The Rev. Charles Caleb Cotton was the first minis-

ter of the Church of England who was officially

appointed to the pastoral charge of this township, in

which he lived and labdfed a little more than forty

years. The memory of the man is still vividly

retained by all here who had attained to adult age at

the time of his decease, and a few lines devoted to the

narration of some of the principal events of his life,

will be read with interest by many.

He was bom at Eton, Bucks, England, on Monday

the 31st day of July, 1775, and enjoyed the advan-

tage of being trained at the celebrated school of that

name, from which he was in due time transferred to

Oriel College, Oxford, where he received the degree

of A.B. On Thursday, the last day of the month,

in the last year of the last century, (Dec. 31st, 1799,)

being then in the 25th year of his age, he was ordained

Deacon by the Bishop of Lincoln (Tomline),and after

holding a brief curacy in England, and residing for a

short time in one of the Southern of the United States

of America, he was accepted by the S. P. G., and

appointed the first missionary of that society to St.

Armand. He occupied that position from 1804 until

some time in the year 1808, when by an arrangement

made between himself and Dr. (afterwards Bishop)
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Stewart, he left that missionary field and passed to

that of Dunham.

His habit of expressing, without modification, his

honest opinion of things, occasionally, for a time gave

oflfence ; but his immovable integrity and his unfailing

charity, soon secured for him the undoubting confi-

dence of all with whom he came in contact.

The sober-minded, the truth-loving, and the piously

inclined, who were scattered here and there through

the community, gradually came and listened to his

teachings, and placed themselves under his pastoral

care ; but it is not upon record that he ever caught

any with guile, or that he recommended the services

of the Church in which he ministered, by disregarding

her Rubrical requirements.

His simple habits and love of retirement, were

manifested by his selection of a home when he first

came to the place, for he domiciled himself, in the

family of one Mr. Andrew Ten Eyck, a family of

German descent, who resided nearly five miles from

that central position in the parish, in. which, from the

first, he established the Sunday services of the Church,

and the distance between which and his residence he

invariably passed over on foot, being as destitute of

equestrian skill as he was then unequalled through the

whole country for pedestrian ability. •
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Althou^li the seed he was sowing for the Church

fell much of it by the road-side, and much upon stony

ground, yet here and there it was received into the

honest and good hearts of such as having heard the

Word, have kept it and brought forth fruit with

patience. The progress of the Church was slow ; for,

although the enterprise was long and earnestly dis-

cussed, it was not until the spring of 1820 that a

subscription was actually completed for the building

of a church, and that undertaking was then so hap-

pily carried through, that an edifice of wood having

been completed, it was opened for Divine service on

Wednesday, the 26th day of September, 1821. That

building was never destined to receive Episcopal con-

secration ; but upon the occasion of its opening, which

was one of much interest to the community, the Kev.

Mr. Townsend preached a sermon from I Kings

viii. 63.

On the 5th of November, 1821, Dunham was

erected into a Protestant parish, by letters patent of

His Excellency, George. Earl of Dalhousie, the then

Governor General of Canada, thus being placed next

after Montreal, and only the second Protestant parish

in Canada, so far as relates to the order of erection

by Royal patent.
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From that time until the year 1844, there does not

appear to have arisen anything of a noteworthy char-

acter in the history and progress of the Church in this

parish. Many changes, of course, took place in that

quarter of a century among the inhabitants, many of

the more active and sincere friends of the Church

were gathered to their fathers—many removed to

what were then the western wilds of the United

States, or to Upper Canada, and the congregation of

the Church had been hardly able to hold its own, by

the natural increase of families. The population at

large was frequently convulsed by the various forms

of religious fanaticism, which through that period, to

a great extent, demoralized the people and caused

such an excitement as in a measure to drown the

voice of the Church ; yet but few of those who had

ever been gathered within her fold were prevailed

upon to share in the Babel confusion, the bruit of

which filled the land. But the effect of years was no

less evident upon the minister than upon his people.

His health had given way, and being no longer equal

to the regular and constant duties of his parish, an

assistant was provided. Henry Evans, for some years

a resident of the township of Kingsey, having been

ordained Deacon by the Lord Bishop of Quebec, on
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the 12th of May, 1844, was appointed to act as Mr.

Cotton's assistant, and he entered upon his duty in that

capacity a few weeks after. Having already attained

to middle age, and having acquired much experience

of the habits and character of the township inhabi-

tants by a good deal of intercourse with them, and

being apparently in good health, he went freely and

advantageously among the people. A mutual attach-

ment immediately grew up between him and his inte-

resting family on the one side, and the parishioners

on the other ; for he dwelt in the midst of the people,

and the interests and the work of the Church began"

greatly to revive. But he had hardly begun to under-

stand his field of labor before he was removed from it.

On Sunday morning. May 4th, 1845, less than a year

from the day of his ordination, while superintending

the Sabbath-school, he was taken suddenly unwell.

Being obliged to leave the church, he went to his

own house, and in a few short moments after his

arrival there, his soul winged its way to God. As

his amiable family had already won the esteem and

love of the people, they now received in tht fullest

degree their sympathy. Every heart shared with

them their grief; and although they shortly after

returned to Kingsey, where they had a property, they
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did not fail to carry with them, and they have ever

since retained, the sincere esteem and interest of the

people of Dunham.

The Rev. Mr. Cotton, who had somewhat recruited

during the short period of relaxation which he had

had, from the assistance of the Rev. Mr. Evans, again

undertook the parochial work ; but his strength soon

gave way, and the Rev. J. Scott, who was then the

Incumbent of Brome, was instructed by the Bishop of

Quebec to endeavor to render him as much assist-

ance as he could, without abandoning entirely his

own immediate sphere of labor.

Mr. Scott commenced his work in Dunham in Feb-

ruary, 1846, by undertaking a service there upon each

alternate Sabbath, and by giving as much time as he

could fairly divert from his other missionary fields to

pastoral visiting.

The wooden church, having been much neglected,

had become ruinous and unsafe, and he found it neces-

sary to enter at once upon the erection of a new one.

It was resolved by the people that they would under-

take to build one of stone, altogether plain and simple

in style, but of the most substantial and durable char-

acter. After much discussion on the subject, and

after many objections were overcome, it was finally

U

f
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resolved that it should bo strictly a parish church, in

which there should be no personal property allowed,

but the seats should be assigned to the subscribers

upon a consideration of the amounts now contributed

by the respective parties, having at the same time a

reference to their interests in the old church.

The name of the Rev. C. C. Cotton was among the

principal riibscribers to that undertaking, but he did

not live to witness its completion. On the 9th day of

October, 1848, after a painful and somewhat pro-

tracted illness, through which he exemplified the bles-

sedness of the Christian's hope and confidence, ho

quietly surrendered up his life into the hands of that

Goi who gave it, in the sure and certain hope of a

resurrection to eternal life. He was forty years the

minister of the parish, and though in some respects he

was eccentric, yet the integrity and simplicity of hia

character were beyond all praise, and such as were

ever the admiration of those who love truth and

uprightness. He was never known to encourage an

evil report, and he was eminently disposed to make

the most charitable allowances for those who had

fallen into sin. At the time of his death, he was the

oldest clergyman in the diocese.

The Rev. Joseph Scott was nominated by the Bishop
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as successor of Mr. Cotton in the rectory, into which

ho was inducted hy the Rev. A. Mountain, his Lord-

ship's chaplain and private secretary, in the month of

'

February, 1849.

Although far from being then completed, the build-

ing of tho church was so far advanced that it was

determined to open it for Divine service on the 26th

of September, 1849, which was twenty-eight years to

a day from tho time tho first church was opened in

the same way.

On the 16th oT June, 1851, Joseph Scott, rector;

W. S. Baker, church warden; J. C. Baker, and Joseph

Selby, presented a petition to tho present Lordship of

Montreal, praying that ho would set apart and conse-

crate the church by the na'iio of " All Saints Church ;"

and also praying his Lordship that he would set apart

and consecrate the ground adjoining for a burial

ground ; which petitions were granted, and his Lord-

ship immediately proceeded with the ceremony of con-

secration.

The church was erected at an expense of eleven

hundred pounds ; a small glebe has been purchased

and a parsonage house ; and all this has involved, in

the aggregate, a sum of nearly seven thousand dollars,

-which has been contributed since the 3rd of March,

1846.
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In the njeantimo, with a view to tho formation of

another parish at Cowansville^ about a quarter of tho

rectory has boon relinquished by tho rector, and in

the conceded part two churches have been erected.

Joseph Scott, D.D., Archdeacon of Montreal, by

whom the above account of the rise and progress of

the Church of England mission in Dunham was pro-

bably written, was a son of William Scott and Mary

Taylor, and was born in Yorkshire, England, on the

1st February, 1811. The family emigrated to tho

United States in 1817. He was educated at Bur-

lington College, Vt., and received from this institution

the degree of B.A.

In 1838, ho married Miss Bellmira Hewson ; the

ceremony being performed at Clarenceville by the

Rev. (now Canon Townsend). In 1840, he came to

Canada and taught school in Montreal. Three years

afterwards, he was ordained Deacon at Quebec, by

the late Bishop Mountain, and was placec'. in charge

of the mission of Brome, where he labored till he suc-

ceeded to the rectory of Dunham. Here he remained

till his death, which, after several years of failing

health, took place tho 24th August, 1865.

The following paragraph is taken from a Report

of the Rev. Geo. Slack, Rural D6an of Bedford.
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" In concluding this Report, the Rural Dean is

certain that he does but express the unanimous feeling

of the whole Ruri-decanal Chapter, in giving utterance

to the deep regret and sorrow which we all must feel

that, meeting here in Dunham, we have no longer the

privilege of the genial and kindly presence amongst

us of the late venerable Archdeacon Scott. Although

as regards the Diocese at large, we have the advan-

tage of an able and worthy successor to the oflSce

which he filled, yet none can be what Dr. Scott was

to the members of this Chapter. United with us from

the first in all our lat)ors for the extension of the

Church, rarely absent from any assembly gathered to

promote some Church purpose, kind and charitable in

hisjudgments almost to a fault, his person and character

will long be embalmed in the memory of his brethren,

of the clergy, and the lay members of the Church in

this Deanery. And meeting here, as we do in his

late parish, where he was ever so happy to welcome

us, we desire to record this grateful tribute to his

memory >9

The Rev. John Goddon, who formerly had charge

of the mission of Potton and Bolton, has recently suc-

ceeded to the Rectory of Dunham.

The Missisquoi County Council, established in 1847,

held its sessions in the village of Dunham Flat.

The post-ofl&ce was esta^»lished here either in 1823

or 1824.
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Sylvester Armington was the first postmaster.

An academy was built in 1840, and has ever since

been in active operation. Quite a number of the young

men of the township have fitted for College at this

institution.

A town-house was built in 1856.

A cheese factory was erected here in 1865, by E.

.

E. Hill. It contains.twenty screw presses, three large

vats to receive the milk, and a steam boiler, for heat-

ing. There are, besides the building where the cheese

is manufactured, two drying-houses, thirty by sixty

feet each, and two stories in height.

The factory receives the milk of nine hundred cows.

It commenced work on the 1st of May, 1866, with

the milk of seven hundred, but the number was gra-

dually increased, so that by the first of July, there

were eight hundred. At the beginning of that month

one hundred more were added, making in all nine hun-

dred. From the first of May, up to the first of the

present month, 1853 cheeses, weighing 100 pounds

each, have been made at this factory. The price of

the cheese, thus far, has averaged twelve dollars per

hundred.

The expense of erecting this factory, including the

land on which it stands, was two thousand five hundred

4ollar3. •
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This being the first enterprise of the kind in Lower

Canada, much credit should be awarded to Mr. Hill.

Dunham Flat is one of the most pleasantly located

and beautiful villages in the townships. It is very

doubtful too whether there is another village of tho

same size in the townships, which embodies the same

amount of wealth. The dwellings, many of them, are

of brick, some tastefully built, and having an air of

wealth and substantiality. The land around is mostly

level.

v^
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NELSONVILLE.

The first settler at this place was Jacob Ruiter, a

son of John Ruiter, an early settler at Philipsburgh.

He came here in 1798. His father gave to him a

large quantity of land in different townships, and two

. 3 of this were located where Nelsonville now stands.

Mr. Ruiter built a log-house on the south side of

the river, nearwhere the bridge now crosses. In 1800,

he built a grist and saw mill, on the same side of the

river, and near his dwelling.

Both were borne away by a freshet a few years sub-

sequently. He afterwards erected similar mills, but

they too have long since disappeared. The present

grist mill was built in 1839, by Messrs. Carter &

Cowan, merchants of Montreal. Mr. Ruiter died in

1840, leaving nine children, most ofwhom have settled

in Dunham.

A carding-mill was built here in 1810, by William
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Beach. Other mills of the same kind were afterwards

built; the last one in 1843, by Hiram Traver. In

1858, this was changed into a woollen factory by

Peter Cowan, Esq. In 1863, S. N. Smith placed in

the same building machinery for stocking-knitting.

The first store at this place was opened by a man

named Hard, about 1810. It stood a few rods east

of the site of the present blacksmith's shop of J.

Jones. About the same time, the first public-house

was opened, by Moses Winchester. This same build-

ing was lately occupied by Jas. O'Halloran, M. P. P.,

as a dwelling-house. Besides two groceries and a drug

store, there are now three stores in the village, owned

respectively by Hiram Gleason, Esq., H. E. Gleason,

and S. N. Smith. Hiram Gleason, Esq., has traded

here*since 1856. He is one of the prominent business

men of the place. He was bailiflf for eighteen years,

and for sometime a Commissioner for taking affidavits

relating to proceedings in the Superior Court. He is

now a Justice of the PeacQ.

The drug store is owned by Dr. Chas. Brown, who

has been a successful practitioner in this village and

the surrounding localities for several years.

The groceries are owned respectively by P. H. Scott

and—— Quackenbush.
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Peter Cowan, Esq., traded for several years in this

village. He came here from Montreal in 1836, and has

been one of the prominent public men of the place ever

since. During the rebellion he raised a company of

Volunteers, and was appointed captain ; in 1847 he

was appointed acting adjutant of the 2nd Battalion of

Missisquoi Militia, retaining the rank of captain. In

1863. he received the appointment of major of this

battalion. He is now official assignee for the District

of Bedford, appointed under the Insolvent Act of

1864, and joint Sheriff of the District of Bedford.

He was Clerk in the District Council, and during a

period of sixteen years Clerk of the Circuit Court.

Since coming to the place, he has cleared one hundred

acres of land, near the village, of its forest, and taken

an active interest in all matters pertaining to public

improvements. He contributed largely toward build-

ing the Episcopal and Congregational Churches, the old

Court House and the Academy.

A post-office was established at this village in 1839,

with the name of Cowansville, rnd Mr. Cowan was

appointed postmaster. The place had previously been

called Nelsonville, but from the circumstance that a

village in Upper Canada bore the same name, to pre-

vent mistakes it was thought advisable to give this post*

office the name of Cowansville. For all judicial pur*
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poses, however, it has always retained its first name

—

Nelsonville. There is but one hotel in the village,

which is owned by H. Church.

Dr. Cotton, a son of the late Rev. Mr. Cotton,

Rector of Dunham, is a physician at Nelsonville.

The Sessions of the District Council, established in

1841, were held in this village. The Sessions of the

Circuit Court were also held here, until the erection

of the District Court House at Sweetsburg. Owing

to this fact, attorneys regarded it as a desirable place

of residence.

James O.'Halloran, Esq., the present Member for

Missisquoi County, settled at this place as an attorney

in 1849. He is a descendant of an old Irish family,

and was born near Fermoy, County of Cork, Ireland,

in September, 1822. He came to America in 1828,

and was educated at the Vermont University, where

he graduated in 1840. He read law and was admitted

to the bar in the States. In 1848 he came to Canada.

Four years later he married Miss Mary Ann Finley,

a daughter of Edward Finley, Esq., of Dunham Flat.

He was admitted to the bar, and in 1864 became

Queen's Counsel. In 1862 he was elected Represen-

tative for Missisquoi County. Possessing more than

an ordmary share of legal a^- -nien, Mr. O'Halloran,
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as a counsellor, has won deserved celebrity. As a

speaker, he is noted rather for his logical style than

for fluency. He is a man of strong prejudices, inde-

pendent spirit, not at all inclined to curry favor with

those whose views may be at variance with his own.

Persons coming in contact with ^'m, find that in

social life he alternates between an agreeable readi-

ness to converse and marked taciturnity ; the latter

peculiarity, however, is in a measure owing to the

assiduity with which he applies himself to the duties

of his profession.

G. B. Baker, Esq., a son of the late William Baker,

Esq., of Dunham Flat, is his professional partner.

During the comparatively short time that has elapsed

since he was admitted to the bar, his success as a

lawyer has been flattering.

J. A. McLaughlin, the present Principal of the

Cowansville Academy, has recently been admitted to

the bar. He was for several years Principal of the

Dunham Academy, in which place he gained the

reputation of a successful and popular teacher. He

is a thorough scholar, and his integrity will render

him a valuable addition to the legal fraternity.

E. Kemp, Esq., son of the late Col. Kemp of Fre-

Ughsburg, is an advocate residing in this village. He
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is also agent for Dunn's land and for a body of land

situated in Sutton and Potton.

The Rev. David Connell, while pastor of the Con-

gregational Church at Brome, C.E,, began to visit

Nelsonville about 1846, and to preac^ occasionally in

the Court House. He received such encouragement

to his labors, that soon after, at the request of the

committee of the Congregational Missionary Society,

he removed from Brome to reside at Nelsonville, still

continuing, however, his pastoral labors at Brome.

In the year 1852, a place of worship was built for the

use of the congregation under his care ; several Pres-

byterians rendering valuable assistance, especially the

late Andrew Cowan, Esq., whose enterprising and

benevolent Christian spirit made him always ready for

every good work.

Mr. Connell continued to preach at this place and

Brome till the year 1853, at which time he resigned

the pastorate though still remaining a member of the

Church, and was succeeded by the venerable Rev. Mr.

Miles, whose useful labors were terminated by death

in the year 1855. The Rev. Thos. Rathay succeeded

to the pastorate March 25th, 1855. It is recorded

that at a meeting of the Church held the previous day,

** It was agreed that the principles of doctrine and
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Church polity held by the Evangelical Congregational

Churches of England and "Wales, as set forth in their

declaration of faith and Church order, be acknow-

ledged and maintained by this Church. Nevertheless,

this Church maintains its right to judge all things by

the infallible Word of God, and to reject, or receive,

as seems in its judgment agreeable to the testimonies

of Divine truth." The following persons were then

associated in Chui'ch fellowship, and " promised to

walk together according to the commandments cf the

Lord Jesus, and to maintain in all their integrity the

rules and ordinances Christ has established in His

Church :" David Connell, Mrs. Connell, Mrs. Small,

Reid Paige, Mrs. Paige, Mrs. Miles, Mrs. James

Watson, John McElroy, Mrs. Hamilton, Philip Wood,

Mrs. Wood, and Miss M. A. Small.

Mr. Rathay resigned in the spring of 1856, and

the pulpit was supplied during the following summer

by Mr. Robert Hay, s^^^udent from the Congregational

Institute, Toronto.

In October, 1856, Rev. Archibald Duff, formerly

pastor of the Congregational Church, Hawick, Scot-

land, was cordially invited to the pastoral oflSce of the

Congregational Churches at Nelsonville and Brome.

Mr. Duff, having accepted the call, commenced his
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pastoral labors on the first day of tho following

month, and for upwards of five years ministered in

Nelsonville, Brome, and Farnham, with great diligence

and considerable success. Having received a call to

the Congregational Church, Shcrbrooke, he removed

from Nelsonville in February, 1862, and was suc-

ceeded by Rev. J. A. Farrar, who had recently

arrived from England. Mr. Farrar continued his

labors till February, 1866, when he removed to

South Troy, Vt. The pulpit was temporarily sup-

plied by Mr. S. N. Jackson, student of Congrega-

tional College of British North America, located in

Montreal.

At a meeting of the members and adherents of the

Church at Nelsonville, held April 20th, 1866, at

which were present also delegates from the Church at

Brome, it was unanimously resolved to gi^'e a call to

the Rev. Charles Poole Watson, formerly pastor of a

Congregational Church, London, C.W. The call

having been accepted, Mr. Watson entere(' upon his

pastoral labors May 6th, 1866, and is at present

ministering with much acceptance and usefulness,

preaching every Lord's day morning at Nelsonville,

and on alternate afternoons at Brome Comer and

Dunham Flat.

I

»

III
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The church edifice is of brick, and is beautifully

located in the centre of the village. It has a steeple

with bell, and is very neat and commodious. The

average congregation is about 130. Few country

churches have so good a choir, or give such promi-

nence to congregational singing.

As shown in the history of Dunham Flat, a quarter

of the Rectory of Dunham was relinquished by the

Rector. This division took place in 1854, and the

Rev. J. C. Davidson became Incumbent in the part

thus relinquished. During his ministrations," Mr.

Davidson has labored energetically for the interests

of the Church with which he is connected, and through

his exertions a Church edifice has been erected at

Nelsonville, and one at Sweetsburg. In the same

year in which he came to this place, with a design to

promote the interests of the Church of England and

the educational interests of the young in and around

Nelsonville, he and his son, J. B. Davidson, now

Rector of St. Armand East, at the request of P.

Cowan, Esq., opened a high school in the Nelsonville

Court House. This continued in this building till

1856, when, through the liberaHty and united exer-

tions of a few gentlemen in Nelsonville and Sweets-

burg, an edifice two stories in height was erected for
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its accommodation, half way between the two villages.

Mr. Davidson contiuuoil to act as Principal of this

Institution until two or three years ago.

The late Andrew Cowan, Esq., a brother of Peter

Cowan, at his own expense erected a few years since

a female seminary in this place, which is still in

successful operation.

H. D. Hall, Esq., who lives a mile west of Nelson-

ville, is one of the public men here. Besides holding

other offices, he is prothonotary and clerk of the Cir-

cuit Court.

Nelsonville is situated on the south branch of the

Yamaska. It is a pleasant village, although there is

nothing particularly attractive in the scenery around.

There are several fine residences here, among which

are those of J. O'Halloran, M.P.P., and the late

Andrew Cowan.

,1
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John Church, from the State of New York, settled

at the place now bearing the ab^ve none, in "^'^99.

He came to Canada at the opening of the revoltfionary

war, enlisted in the British service, ai ' .vas in the

army of Burgoyne at the time that Gmeral surren-

dered. Immediately after his release, he returned to

Canada and settled at Caldwell's Manor. From

thence, he came to Dunham and settled on a piece

of land now owned by his grandson, H. A. Church.

Two or three years afterwards, he built a frame house,

and in one part of it opened a store. This building

stood very near the site of the ; i^- ;3ent dwelling of H.

A. Church. He and his son, John Church, traded

here in company for several years, and then erected a

store. Mr. Church was captain of militia, as was also

his son. The son died in October, 1831, the father

in 1839. Both were highly esteemed. The former

'^:
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left three sons, but only one, H. A. Church, a mer-

chant at Dunham Flat, is now living.

Until 1854, when the post-office was established

here, from the family above named, this place was

called Churchville ; but at that time, it received its

present name.

Peter Pickle, from CaldwelFs Manor, setted in Dun-

ham in 1804, near the site of Sweetsburg, on the land

now owned by J. H. Cotton. He subsequently

resided on different lots in the vicinity of this village,

and finally settled on one now owned by his son,

Abram Pickle. He had ten children. Two of his

sons and one daughter settled in Sweetsburg. Abram

Pickle is proprietor of the several stage routes leading

from this village to the surrounding townships.

G. H. Sweet, Esq., mentioned in the history of

Brome, has for many years been the leading man in

this village, and to him the place owes much of its

present importance and prosperity. He contributed

liberally towards the building of the Cowansville Aca-

demy, and the Episcopal Church erected in Sweets-

burg in 1857.

G. C. V. Buchanan, Esq., a lawyer, has been a

resident of the place for several years. During his

stay here he has established the reputation of a

t
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clever member of the bar. He is a son of the late

Judge Buchanan of Montreal.

E. Racicot is another member of the legal profession,

having his residence at Sweetsburg. He too has profes-

sionally been successful.

- The District Court House and Jail were built here

in 1860, making Sweetsburg a place of much impor-

tance in the District, and^ giving to its growth a sudden

and powerful impetus.

The Boards of Examiners—Protestant and Catholic

—^having power to grant diplomas for elementary

schools in the counties of Brome, Shefford, and Missis-

quoi, meet in this village for the examination of teachers

on the first Tuesday in the months of May and Novem-

ber of each year.

**The District of Bedford Times," a well-conducted

and good-sized weekly journal, is now pubhshed by

H. *Rose at this village. The first number of this

paper was issued in August, 1866. As there is no

paper pubhshed in Brome County, and with the excep-

tion of this, none in Missisquoi, it supplies a need long

manifest in these localities. From its size and appear-

ance, and the interesting and instructive matter which

fills its columns, it certainly deserves the cordial sup-

port of the inhabitants o^ the townships.

There are two hotels in Sweetsburg and three stores.
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The proprietor of the former is C. Kathan ; the latte

are owned respectively by C. A. Gaylor, Seeley &

Hurlbut, and R. F. Gleason. There is also a grocery,

of which D, Bowker is proprietor.

The stream that passes through Sweetsburg is the

same on which Nelsonville stands—the south branch

of the Yamaska. Many years ago salmon were fre-

quently caught in this river as far up as Sweetsburg,

but after the numerous mill dams were erected they

disappeared.

Sweetsburg is situated a mile and a-half east of

Nelsonville. The land around it is diversified with

hill and dale, affording a variety of pleasing scenery.

About two miles south-east of Sweetsburg is a little

village known as the " Scott Neighborhood." Among

the early settlers here was William Shufelt, from a

place near Hudson, New York. After the close of

the revolution, he came to Canada, settling at Cald-

welPs Manor, where he lived until 1800, when he

came to Dunham and took up the lot now owned by

Jedediah and Moses Scott. He lived here but eight

years and then went to Brome, where he died in 1810,

leaving ten children ; the majority of whom settled in

this vicinity. Mr. Shufelt was a moral and indus-

trious man.

f
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In 180?, George A. Shufelt, formerly from the

south pan of New York, settled here. He was a

loyalist. At the opening of the revolution, he was

pressed into the American service, from which he

deserted to the British. In 1801, he came to Cald-

well's Manor, and the year following to Dunham,

settling on the lot now owned in part by his son

Joseph. He died in 1840, at the advanced age of

eighty-six. He had ten children, only three of whom

survived him. He may be numbered among the

worthy pioneers.

Daniel Scott, from the south part of Vermont, came

to Caldwell's Manor, where he lived for a time, and

in 1800 removed to Brome and settled on a lot very

near this part of Dunham. This lot is now owned by

his grandson, R. M. Scott. Several years afterwards,

he came to Dunham, and purchased a lot of which

Jedediah Scott is the present proprietor. Mr. Scott

belonged to the Church of England, and was an

exemplary man. He died in 1823, leaving four sons,

Lemuel, Daniel, Jonathan, and Pliny. The two

former settled on the homestead, the other two in this

section. From these men and the goodly number

of their descendants, the place received the name of

Scott Neighborhood."a
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This part of the township began to be settled about

1797. As shown in the history of Sutton, Solomon

Squier settled in the Eastern part of Dunham in the

year mentioned above. Soon after this, others took up

lots around him, built cabins, " slashed'* a few acres,

and then sold their improvements to others, who, like

themselves, were of that class, at once reminding one

of the old adage—" rolling stones gather no moss."

'^ne of these individuals, named Ebenezer Marsh, in

1804, sold his half lot, " with all the improvements and

appurtenances thereunto belonging," to Robert Haz-

ard, from Kingston, R. I. ,

Mr. Hazard lived here, and industriously labored

till his death, which occurred in 1836. He left four

children—two sons and two daughters.

Potter Hazard, one of the former, lives on the home-

stead ; and, being a provident farmer, has made to it

considerable additions.
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In a more westerly part of East Dunham, Captain

Amos Woodward, from Pittsford, Vt., settled, in 1798,

on a lot now owned by Charles Stevens. Several

years after this, he removed to a neighboring lot, of

which Mrs. Mary Stevens is now proprietress.

Mr. Woodward was an estimable citizen. Amos,

his only son, remained on the homestead.

In 1799, John Wales, from the town of Union,

Conn., settled in Dunham, on a lot now owned by

Mason Scofield. His log-house was built very near

the site of Mr. Scofield's present dwelling. After

living here two years, he sold the lot and removed to

Ely. He and another man, who went there at the

same time, may be regarded as the first settlers in that

township. An individual had been there before them,

but, after remaining two years, he sought a home

elsewhere.

Young men of the present generation will find it very

difficult to imagine the hardships which Mr. Wales had

to endure as a pioneer of Ely. Remote from civili-

zation, he spent eleven years in this township, har-

assed by all the perplexities incident to a backwoods-

man's life.

On leaving Dunham, he took with him what provi-

sions he thought would sustam his family a year ; but
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as settlers, in seeking a home in Ely, frequently

stopped with him a day or two, until they could pre-

pare a home of their own, his provisions '* failed'*

him much sooner than he anticipated ; consequently,

he had to make a trip to Frelighsburg, forty-six miles

distant. He went with a sled and yoke of oxen, being

obliged to break his own road through the snow the

greater part of the distance. He was gone several

days, and the family became much alarmed at his long

absence. For some time previous to this, they had

been obliged to subsist on bread made of the coarse

corn meal prepared in the mortar, and they looked

forward to his return with pleasant anticipations of

" something to eat." Finally, one night, more than a

week after his departure, the juvenile members of his

family were roused from their slumbers in the chamber

of their humble cabin by an unusual bustle below.

Hearing their father's voice, all were up and dressed in

a moment, and, descending the luJder with unusual

agility, they found a bright fire glowing in the fire-

place, and beheld the pleasing sight of a good-sized

wheaten " short cake" baking before it. It is needless

to add that, when baked, the transition of this cake

from the hearth to their stomachs was not a work of

time.
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As if regarding this pioneer as an intruder on their

domains, bears waged an incessant warfare against him,

destroying both cattle and crops. Oae season, during

his residence in this township, the only son who was

living with him undressed himself but once at night

in the course of three months, so frequently was he

obliged to rise to drive away these marauders.

In the month of August of the same year, a bear

entered the pigsty of one of their neighbors, with a

" design" on the lii-^ of the pig which the owner had

been fattening. Hearing a squeal, the man rushed

out, but Bruin, with his prisoner, was already beating

a retreat. It happened that a man, with two dogs and

a gun, had stopped at the house of Mr. Wales, and he,

with the male members of the family, with whom he was

sojourning, sallied out to the assistance of their neigh-

bor. They pursued the bear so closely that he was

glad to drop his load, then lifeless, and make good his

escape. While the men were thus engaged, the female

occupants of the house of Mr. Wales were also dis-

turbed by a rumpus in the sheep-pen. From a hope

that the bears would not enter it if thus located and

constructed, this pen had been built very near the

house, and made eight feet high. The women had

ecarcely reached it when a huge bear, with a nice
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lamb in his embrace, jumped from the top ofthe pen to

the ground, very near where the servant girl was

standing, and ran off.

Such were the incidents in which Mr. Wales shared

during his stay in Ely. After enduring such annoy-

ances for eleven years, he determined—and wisely

enough, too, one would think, after listening to an

account of his trials—to return to Dunham.

This design was put into execution in 1812. On his

return, he settled on a lot of land, now owned by his

grandson Orlin Wales. He spent the remainder of his

days here. He was a loyal, industrious, and tempe-

rate man. During the latter part of his life, he was a

member of the Methodist Church, and died in the

enjoyment of religion.

He had eight children—four sons and an equal

number of daughters. In the war of 1812, one of his

sons was taken prisoner at Philipsburg by the Ameri-

cans, and carried to Greenbush, N. Y. On being

released, he returned as far as Burlington, Vt., where

he was taken sick and died.

Another of his sons, John D. "Wales, one of the

quiet, industrious, and worthy inhabitants of East

Dunham, has always lived on the homestead. His

son, Orlin Wales, with whom he now lives, is one of the

!
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enterprising farmers of East Dunham. He is about

erecting a cheese factory in this locahty. A post-office

was established here in 1863, and ho was appointed

postmaster. He has also held other pubhc offices.

A daughter of the Mr. Wales, first-mentioned above,

who married Mr. John Atkin, lives in this part of

Dunham, near her brother.

Other early settlers in this part of the township

were Jonathan and Samuel Harvey, brothers, from

Hebron, Conn. They arrived in 1803, and settled on

a lot now owned by Charles Harvey, a grandson of

Jonathan Harvey.

A few years after moving to this place, a son of

Jonathan died, and was buried in the forest, on the

spot which is still used for a grave-yard. He was the

first buried in it.

The father died in 1819, leaving two sons and two

daughters. He was a member of the Baptist Church

—

a good man and useful citizen. His two sons settled

on the homestead. Samuel Harvey had no children.

He lived on the same lot with his brother, and was

also a moral man.

In 1807, James Ingalls, from N. H., settled in East

Dunham, on the lot now owned by his grandsons Jona-

than and James Ingalls.

,*#
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His son James lived on this lot until 1847, when

ho died. Ho left seven children—five sons and two

daughters. Two of the sons, Jethro and Edmund, are

ministers of the Gospel. The former lives in St.

Armand, and has labored in this capacity thirty years.

He united Urst with the Wcsleyan Methodist Church,

and, subsequently, with the New Connexion Metho-

dists. He has always been a faithful Christian, one of

whom, it may be said, " he has practiced what he has

preached."

Edmund Ingalls, his brother, a local preacher of the

Wesleyan Church, now lives in Granby.

The Wcsleyans have labored in East Dunham with

good success. They erected a church here in 1857.

A New Connexion Methodist Society was formed

here in 1842 by the Rev. H. N. Kimball. This was

once a flourishing society, but of late years the num-

ber of its members has been decreasing. At present,

however, the Rev. R. Paintin, a minister of this deno-

mination, is laboring here with a cheering prospect.

A stone chapel was built here in 1843 ; but having

been badly constructed, its walls are now crumbling,

and it has been for some time disused. A parsonage

house is now in process of completion.

Rev. H. N. Kimball, the minister who formed this

V
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society, is a son of James Kimball, who came to East

Dunham from Berkshire, Vt., in 1825. Ho was a

Methodist class leader when ho lived in "Berkshire,

and, on coming to Dunham, he labored as a Christian

among the inhabitants, and did much good. lie died

in 1834. He left two sons, besides the one mentioned

above, who became preachers. They both belong to

the Episcopal Methodist Church, and live in Enos-

burgh, Vt.

Rev. H. N. Kimball lives in East Dunham. He

still stands as a local elder on the minutes of the N. C.

Methodist Church.

In 1857 two steam saw mills were built in this part

of Dunham—one by R. Patch, the other by H. D,

Atkins and E. W. Beardsloy.

In the late rebellion there was one company of

militia organized in Dunham, which was commanded

by Captain William Gates, who, a few years since, was

drowned in Selby Lake.

During the present summer, 1866, there has been

a company of volunteers organized which is com-

manded by Captain G. L. Kemp,
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There are now twenty-five elementary schools in <.his

parish.

The number belonging respectively to the different

Protestant denominations in the parish so far as

known to the writer, is as follows :

—

To the Episcopal 163

" " Methodist (Wesleyan) 116

" " Methodist (New Connexion) 72

« « Congregational Unknown.

Besides these there are many Roman Catholics.

They have a stone church, built some years since. It

is about a mile north of the Flat, where they also have

a preshytere.

The surface of Dunham is comparatively level. It

has no mountains, and but few hills. There is but very

little of it which is not well adapted to tillage. The

chief pursuit of the inhabitants is agriculture. The

wealthy farmers in the parish are not few.

It is watered by the south branch of the Yamaska,

which passes through the north-east part of it, and by

several smaller streams. Some of these empty into

Pyke river in St. Armand. Selby Lake, lying in the

south part of Dunham, is a beautiful httle sheet of

water, containing about six hundred acres. It was

formerly called Dunham Pond.

\
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At a short distance from the west shore of the lake,

and commanding a fine view of it, stands the residence

of Thomas Sclby, Esq., whose name has been given to

this body of water.
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SUTTON.

This township is ten miles square. It is bounded on

the north by Brome, east by Potton, south by Ver-

mont, and west by St. Armand and Dunham. The

Letters Patent, erecting this township, were issued on

the 29th March, 1802. The names of the grantees*

are given below.

* John Allen, Peter Allen, Jabez Brunson, Christopher Babaty, Garret

Burghedt, Job Babcock, John Bochus, Ichab Babcock, R. Brisbain, Jno.

Booth, Sam. Brown, Conr. Burghedt, Jacob Boar, llerm. Best, William

Bell, Jacob Ball, John Brown, Daniel Beagle, Pat. Conroy, Philip Cook,

jun,, George Cook, David Clark, Jacob Comer, Nathaniel Chatterdon,

Peter Comer, Jacob Cook, Jasper Cook, John Cameron, Patrick Carrigan,

Philip Carrigan, Abijah Cheeseman, John Cook, Samuel Demaray, John
Dewar, Adam Deal, William Duel, James Darrow, Michael Duel, Philip

Duel, Walter Darrow, Ely Dennie, Solomon Davies, William Fuller,

Silas Fuller, James Fisher, Jeremiah Gibbs, John Gibson, Alexander
Griggs, Caleb Gray, Thomas Gibbs, Thomas Gibbs, jun., Richard Gill

jun., John Griggs, Daniel L. Garlick, Charles Grajon, Richard Gill, Fre-

derick Hayner, Burton Hawley, Simon Huntingdon, Asel Hawley, Peter

Hawlcy, Nathaniel Hall, William Huntingdon, John Hogol, Enoch Hall

Ephraim Hawley, Zachariah Hart, Jonathan Hart, Lewis Jobert, Martin

Kimmel, James Liddel, Lear Leonard, John Leret, John Ladcu, Andrew
Liddel, James Lewis, Michael Lampman, William Lunney, John Lay,

John McCarthy, Joseph Mott, Peter McKenny, Gilbert Miller, William

Marsh, jun., Peter McCallum, Peter McCutchin, Jaraes Marstin, Timothy

II
.
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Sutton 'was not granted, like many of the townships,

to a company of associates, who were tenants in common,

but a certain quantity of land, which was described in

the Letters Patent, was assigned to each of the gran-

tees.

In the month of April, 1792, Thomas Spencer, son

of Jeremiah Spencer of St. Armand, and his brother-

in-law, Alexander Griggs, originally from the State of

New York, but at that time stopping in St. Armand,

determined on seeking a home in the adjacent wilds.

Pursuant to this determination, they took their wives

and small stock of household goods on horseback,

penetrated into the wilderness that covered the town-

ship of Sutton, and reared a log cabin on the land

now occupied by George Hawley.

Mott, Joseph Manning, Gabriel Manning, Elijah Munro, Samuel Mott,

Andrew 3Iabon, Thomas Maxon, Joseph Odel, jun., Joseph Odel, James
Odel, John Odel, Joshua Odel, Alexander Patterson, Frederick Prim'

merman, Jacob iMcklo, John Tickle, Peter Kosenberg, Thomas Ryan,

Daniel Smith, Peleg Spencer, Richard Shepard, Joseph Smith, Joseph

Sewell, Mary Schut, William Soles, Thomas Spencer, Jeremiah Spencer,

Simon Stone, Jacob Sails, Jerod Sears, Anthony Stockham, Hick Sails,

James Sears, Simon Sears, James Sears, jun., Joseph Soles, David Soles,

Taber Sewell, Nathan Scars, Thomas Soles, Joseph Sewell, jun., John
Smith, George Smith, Alexander Schut, William Smith, Bcnj. Spencer,

John Smith, jun., Ilozekiah Sears, Daniel Smith, Alexander Taylor,

Humphrey Tolmon, William Towner, JoscphuS Vaughan, James Van-

derboghert, Christjohn Wehr, Isaac Westover, Richard Wragg, William

Wragg, lienjamin Wragg, David Westover, John We.stovor, Elizabeth

Wragg, Nancy Waywood, Edmund Weldou, Nath. Wait, Robt. Whanan,
William Wallace, Amos Westover, Moses Westover, William Woods,
George Wheymore, John Woods, Thomas Waywood, Asa Westover, and

Jam«« Young.
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After providing themselves a habitation, they com-

menced clearing on what they supposed to be separate

lots ; but during the ensuing summer the township

was surveyed, and contrary to the expectation of these

settlers, the lots were so laid out, that they were longer

from north to south than from east to west, and thus

Spencer and Griggs were made occupants of the same

lot. Owing to this, Griggs soon afterward sold his

improvements to a man by the name of Durkee, and

removed to an adjacent lot which is now owned by

Richard Spencer and Josiah Willey.

The names of the settlers who first followed these,

will be found in the history of Abercorn.

John Gibson, a sketch of whose life is given in the

history of St. Armand, was among the early settlers of

Sutton. Having no descendants in the country at

present, it is impossible to give the time at which he

came ; all that is known concerning it is, that he was

here previous to 1799. He settled on a lot near the

southern boundary of the township, now owned by

Thomas O'Brien.

Josiah Sanborn, from Sanhornton, N. H., came to

Sutton in March, 1799. He was son-in-law to Thomas

Shepard who built the first mills at the place now

called Abercorn. Mr. Sanborn, being a millwright,

was employed to construct these mills.

K
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He settled on the most south-western lot in Sutton,

where he lived till his death.

His widow, who is ninety-six years of age, is still

living.

John Allen was another early settler. He came

here in 1800, and settled on a lot towards the foot of

the mountain a short distance east of the farm now

owned by Samuel Ilobinson.

A few old apple trees and a dilapidated house and

barn mark the sp'^t where the forest receded before

his axe. Similar mementos of the generations that

have passed away are frequently met with in our

townships, and are calculated to awaken us to sober

reflection.

Only a short time, comparatively, has elapsed,

since the hands that cleared these lands, that planted

the orchards now decaying, thai roared the buildings

now crumbling to dust, were 3vr> iig with youth. The

hearts ofthese pioneers were b lOyant wiJi hopes oflong

life, and happiness in coming voars. We look for

their faces now, and find them not. An occasional

rough stone in the grave yard, or a mossy mound on

some sandy knoll, tells us plainly where the pioneers

have gone. Mr. Allen died in 1847. Hi : posterity

dwell in Sutton, and William Allen one of hiji grandsons
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is at present honorably engaged in the administration

of municipal affairs. Jeremy Allen, another grandson,

is one of the bailiffs for the Superior Court of the Dis-

trict of Bedford, and Lieut, of the Abercorn company

of volunteers.

i I
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Peleg, a son of Jeremiah Spencer, younger than

Thomas, soon followed his brother and brother- in-law

into the forests of Sutton, and erected a rude log

house very near the site of the present dwelling of his

son Richard. He became, in process of time, a man of

influence in the township. Though, like many of the

early settlers, he possessed a rough manner, he had

many inherent good qualities. The following story of

him illustrates not only his " rough and ready"

manner of speakings hut gives a gUmpse of the state

of society at the time the incident recorded took

place.

In 1812, when war broke out between Great

Britain and the United States, the inhabitants in

places along the frontier, on either side of the Province

line, agreed to sustain friendly intercourse with each

other ; and they respectively appointed a committee

<i::-^''y^
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of their own number to see that peace and good feel-

ing were preserved. Peleg Spencer was one of such

committee, appointed by the inhabitants of Sutton.

During the time he acted in this capacity, a man

living in the south part of the township went to Rich-

ford, Vermont, stole three calves belonging to John

Dwyer, and returned with them to Sutton. Mr.

Dwyer, in a short time, discovered their whereabouts,

aivl, after deliberating as to what courr^o to pursue

imder the circumstances, finally decided to lay the

matter before Peleg Spencer, believing that he could

help him gain possession" of his animals. With a cool-

nt-ds and promptitude that might astonish some of our

modern counsellors, Spencer laconically advised him

to •' cut a shiUalah, and go and get them ;
" advice

that was not reluctantly followed. Mr. Spencer died

in 1836.

His son, Richard Spencer, lives on the homestead

in a pleasant residence. He has held several public

ofl&ces, and has a voice in matters of interest to the

township.

Scarcely had the Sj: oncers and Griggs cleared

spaces of sufficient s'ljze for their potato-patches and

cornfields, ere another man, afterward noted for his

enterprising spirit, made his home in Sutton.

i «.
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Thomas Shepard, at the time of the revolution,

lived in the State of New Hampshire. Being loyal to

the British Government, he was seized by the Ameri-

cans and imprisoned in Boston. He obtained his

liberty, however, by some means, after remaining there

a year, and then with his family, made his way to

Canada. The winter preceding his arrival in Sutton,

he spent with Jeremiah Spencer in St. Armand.

Fancy can easily picture these two staunch loyalists,

sitting on the long winter evenings before one of the

huge fire-places of those times, alternately deprecating

the course that led to the separation of the Colonies

from the Mother Country, and congratulating each

other on still having a home under the British flag.

In the spring, Shepard came to Sutton, took up two

lots of land, and built a house on the lot recently

owned by the late Captain Richard Shepard, his

grandson. Finding the settlers were obliged to sufier

great inconvenience from want of a grist and saw-mill,

he set about erecting mills of this kind as soon as

practicable after casting his lot among them. These

were the first mills built in Sutton. From all that

can be learned with regard to the time, it is very

probable that they were erected in the summer of

1799 ; though it might have been a year later.
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Previous to this, the settlers were obliged to go to

St. Armand to mill; and as the roads were only

rough footpaths, they found " going to mill" not ono

of the most pleasant of pioneer labors.

The grain was usually carried on horseback ; but as

the new-comers were not all able to own a horse, the

grist was not unfrequently carried on the back of the

settler himself.

Though not much like the grist mills of the present

day, that of Shepard answered the wants of their com-

munity at that time, and we can easily imagine that

its completion was regarded by,the inhabitants as a

happy event.

Subsequentlyhis son, Thomas Shepard, jun., erected

another grist-mill on the site of the former one, and

after his death, his widow built still another ; but this,

like the others, not being w^ell constructed, and

probably not well cared for, soon fell into disuse and

decay.

The descendants of the Spencers and Shepards still

abide in Abercorn and in this vicinity, and form an

influential portion of its inhabitants. Like their

ancestors they are distinguished for their firmness and

loyalty to the British Government.

Richard Shepard, who was an inhabitant of this
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place, was for several years a captain of militia, and

an honored member of the Municipal Council and

Board of School Commissioners. lie died under

melancholy circumstances, in 18G2.

The first dwelling-house where now the village of

Abercorn stands, was built about 1810, by Thomas

Shepard, jun. This building, having been removed a

short distance from the spot where it was first erected,

is now used as a wheewright^s shop by Charles

Shepard. The second house in the place was built

by Daniel Spencer in 1833. This is now the dwelling

of L. W. Miner.

The first store was opened by John Brewster about

1820, in a part of the dwelling-house of Thomas

Shepard. This was the first business in the mercantile

line commenced in Sutton. Though hardly deserving

the name of store, it supplied the inhabitants for four

or five years, with most of those necessaries they had

before been obliged to travel miles to obtain.

After his departure, no one traded here for several

years. J. Pollock, a Scotchman, commenced trade in

the same building in 1841, but remained only a year.

The first building erected specially for a store, was

built by J. M. Ferres, Esq., in 1848. Two stores

built since 1862, and occupied respectively by A.
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Nicld, and tho firm of Lansbcrg, Holmes and Ross,

are doing a profitable business in tho place. J. J.

Scaton has also recently opened a store herOv

Tho number of teams that visit these stores each

week with loads of produce for sale, would do credit

to tho mercantile establishments of a village of

much larger size.

The first school-houso in Sutton was built about

1808, on a spot about half a mile from this village

and a few rods south of the present residence of

Naaman Willey.

It was a log structure, and the lower or bottom,

logs were so much larger than those above, that the

portion of them projecting into the interior was cut

down about midway of their diameter for seats. A
roTv 0^ seats w.b thus made around the schoolroom

;

and we can readily believe they did not lack height

of back, nor permanency of bottom. This house was

warmed by the primitive " Dutch back."

Some years afterAvard, a log schoolhouse was builb

a few rods northwest of the spot now occupied by the

store of Lansberg & Co. Owing to the march of im-

provement the " Dutch back" was in this supplanted

by a more elaborate contrivance. Flat stones wore

placed on the ground in the centre of this schoolhouse,



HISTORY OF SUTTON. 185

leight

was

I built

the

im-

Inted

ffjre

>use.

and on these a circular space was enclosed by brick?,

raised to the height of a few inches, so as to contain

the wood necessary to warm the room ; a space of

course being left in this, sufficiently wide for a door.

On these bricks an old caldron was inverted, with a

hole in the bottom, through which the smoke passed

into the pipe. Such were the institutions of learning

at which our forefathers gr? ''ated.

In 1848, a post-office wa^ established here, and the

place received the name of Abercorn.

A short time prior to this event, the Custom Office

was removed to this place from Sutton Flat, where it

was established in 1845.

Dr. B. Seaton who had previously been appointed

collector of customs for the port of Sutton, was also

appointed postmaster for Abercorn at the time the

post-office was established. He subsequently received

the office of magistrate ; these offices he still holds.

He resides a Httle northward of the village on the road

leading to Sutton Flat. Wifti a taste for rural beauty,

characteristic of an Englishman, he has selected a

beautiful spot for his residence, and in various ways has

rendered it attractive to the passing traveller. Dr.

Seaton has much influence in this section, and has been





IMAGE EVALUATION
TEST TARGET (MT-3)

k

A

{./̂

.V

/

1.0

I.I

2.0" 1^ I

L2| i u liT

m
'A

^^**

Hiotographic

Sdaices
Corporation

23 WEST MAIN STREET

WEBSTER, N.Y. 14SS0

(716)872-4503





186 HISTORY OF SUTTON.

instrumental in bringing about many of the improve-

ments that have here been made.

Three or four years ago, Abercorn began to thrive,

and now promises to be, not far in the future, a large

and enterprising village.

A commodious and expensive grist mill was built

here by shareholders, in 1862. An hotel is soon to

be erected. Besides shops of various kinds, there are

several dweUing-houses, newly built, and the demand

for building lots indicates a speedy increase of the

number of habitations.

A line of telegraph has been lately completed from

Knowlton to Abercorn, and the advantages it holds

forth to the business men of this and neighboring

localities are beginning to be appreciated.

A large brick church of the early Gothic style,

built by the members of the Episcopal Society at

Abercorn, is in process of completion. The main build-

ing is 50 X 36, with a chancel 20 x 18. It affords seats

for about three hundred and fifty persons. Its win-

dows are filled with beautiful stained glass, and it

promises to be, when completed, one of the finest

specimens of architecture in this section of Canada.

About an acre of land for the site of this structure

was the gift of Dr. B. Seaton, who also subscribed the
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most largely of any toward its erection. R. Spencer,

John Simpson and R. E. Fay subscribed largely

toward it, and have labored to push it to completion.

Mrs. L. Shepard, widow of the late Capt. Shepard, A.

Nield, and Thomas O'Brien may also be numbered

with the liberal subscribers.

Abercom is pleasantly situated on both sides of a

branch of the Missisquoi, a little more than a mile

from the Province line, and five miles south of Sutton

Flat.

The principal part of this small village stands on

the north side of the stream, on a bluff several feet

atove the river. Though the roads are dry and good

in summer, owing to the clayey soil, in this section they

are bad in spring and fall. The land around is level,

affording ample space for extending the village in dif-

ferent directions.



SUTTON FLAT.
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The year in which the earliest settlers came to this

place cannot be fixed upon determinately by any one

now living ; but, so far as ascertained, they pitched upon

this locality about 1797. At that time, William Marsh,

a Baptist minister, came here and commenced clear-

ing land, and built a log house on a spot a few rods

south of the present residence of G. C. Dyer.

William Huntingdon,—probably from Caldwell's

Manor,—about the same time, commenced similar im-

provements near the spot now occupied by the Town

House. He also built the first grist and saw-mill.

They occupied the present site of the mUls of E.

Kemp, Esq., and B. Mills.

Huntingdon sold his improvements in 1806 to

Elijah Billings, also from Caldwell's Manor. Mr.
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Billings resided here the remainder of his days. His

descendants are numerous, and many of them reside in

Sutton.

A portion of the land he purchased of Huntingdon,

is now owned and occupied by his grandson, Henry

Billings.

About the same time that Elder Marsh and Hun-

tingdon came to Sutton, a cousin of the Elder, named

Marsh, also came and settled on the lot now owned

in part by Giles Frary.

The next settler was Solomon Squier, from Dun-

ham. Mr. Squier was born in Woodbury, Ct. He

removed at an early age, with his father's family, to

Vermont. There he married, had children, and

removed to East Dunham, Canada, in 1797. He

remained till 1804, and then removed to Sutton Flat,

and settled where his son, Capt. Solomon Squier,

now lives. Two of his sons, Ami and Solomon,

became influential citizens of Sutton. The former was

the first justice of the peace appointed in the town-

ship, and it is said to his credit that he used this

office without abusing it, always laboring earnestly

to have petty difficulties amicably settled. He was

inspector of schools in Sutton, several years, and also

a commissioner of the Commissioners' Court. It may
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be truly said that ho was a reliable and Christian man,

and a good and useful citizen. lie died April 22nd,

1860.

Solomon Squior, a few years younger than his

brother Ami, has served the township in various

capacities. He was a commissioner of the first Com-

missioners' Court established in Sutton ; was elected

a member of the District Council, and was captain of

one of the companies of militia organized in Sutton,

during the rebellion of 1837.

Succeeding the arrival of Squier and Billings, a man

known as Deacon Spaulding settled where Alvin

Tupper now resides.

The lot owned by the cousin of Elder Marsh, was

sold about 1810, and not far from the same time a

distillery was erected on it, for distilling whiskey;

an article at that time in favor with almost the entire

population.

A gentleman, endeavoring to give the writer the

date of the period at which this distillery was built,

said he knew it to be in operation at the time the

news of the close of the war of 1812 reached Sutton,

as a number of the inhabitants assembled there to cele-

brate that important event.

A famine occurred in 1815-16, and the inhabitants
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of Sutton and other townships suffered great privations

in consequence. During one of the above years, frosts

occurred every month in the year. A snow-storm

commenced on the 6th of June, and contniued till the

8th ; the snow falling to the depth of six inches on

the level, and where it drifted against the fences, it

lay to the depth of a foot. During this season of

scarcity, corn, buckwheat, and grain of every kind

that would make bread, sold for three dollars a bushel.

The man at this time owning the distillery and the

farm on which it stood, planted twenty-seven acres of

potatoes, for the purpose of supplying the distillery

with the material for whiskey ; but, so severe was the

season, that from this number of acres he did not

raise enough potatoes to supply the wants of his

family.

This manufactory fell into disuse in 1817.

As a structure cotemporary with the distillery, we

may notice a forge, erected about two miles south of

the Flat, on the spot at present occupied by Mr.

Frary's saw-mill. This was built by a man named

Howard. It was kept in operation a few years, but

the business not proving very profitable in this locality

was abandoned in 1816.

The ore with which this forge was supphed, was

«i
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obtained chiefly from Bromc, but bog ore in consider-

able quantities was obtained in North Sutton, a short

distance ^vcst of the present dwelling of John Pettes.

The road leading from Sutton Flat to Brome was

cut out and made passable for vehicles, in order that

ore might be drawn to this forgo.

Capt. Asa Frary, from Hudson, N. Y., was an

early settler in this part of Sutton. He remained

here only a few years, however, removing to Frelighs"

burgh, St. Armand, about 1814, where he died in

1828.

Two of his sons, Gilbert and Asa, came to Sutton

to live, about 1830. The former was the first post-

master here, being appointed in 1836 ; he was also

clerk of the Commissioners' Court.

Asa, who was in his boyhood when he arrived in

Sutton, has been intimately connected with the affairs

of the township. He was elected a member of the

Missisquoi County Council in 1847, also mayor of the

township in 1855. He has had much to do in an official

capacity with the Commissioners' Court, has been

justice of the peace, and an influential member.of the

Board of School Commissioners. From his long

acquaintance with these matters he has acquired a

knowledge of municipal law, and a fund of information
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concerning the township and its aflfiurs, that causes his

opinion on these subjects to be generally regarded

with deference in all parts of Sutton.

Mr. Frary is at present warden of Brome County,

and captain of a company of volunteers recently

organized at Abercom.

The first religious society in Sutton was formed at

the Flat, by Rev. William Marsh, the Baptist elder,

spoken of above. As he was a man beloved by all

who knew him, a faithful and successful laborer in the

Christian cause, one who did much good not only in

Sutton, but in all the localities where he resided,

justice demands that his history should be rescued

from oblivion.

Much of the following sketch of him is drawn from

a memoir recently published in the " Cp vidian

Baptist.''

Mr. Marsh was bom in the town of Shaftsbury,

Vermont, July 1st, 1767. His father, Mr. Jacob

Marsh, was a staunch loyalist, a magistrate, and a

man of influence. Soon after the breaking out of the

revolutionary war he joined the army of Burgoyne,

where he not only lost his property but his life. His

widow, the mother of Elder Marsh, a woman remark-

able both for talent and piety, was thus left with a
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largo family in tlio midst of war and bloodshed. Sho

had been accustomed to move in a respectable circle

in the midst of plenty, but was now reduced to abject

poverty. William, the subject of this memoir, was

the eldest son, and at this time about ten years of age.

The family, during the remainder of the war endured

much suffering, but the widow Marsh's house (when

she was allowed to live in one) was a home for the

loyalists : the last loaf being sometimes divided with

these unfortunate people.

After the war closed, the British encouraged the

loyalists to come to Canada
;
promising to give them

land and compensate them for their losses. William,

then, with the consent and encouragement of his

mother, came to Caldwell's Manor. He obtained a

lease of a piece of wild land, built a log house, and in

the winter of 1783, or '84 was joined by his family.

During the first few years they lived here, they had

to struggle with poverty and the many hardships

incident to life in the wilderness.

Soon after passing his twentieth year, William mar-

ried Elizabeth Huntingdon, the daughter of a loyalist,

who had also sought a refuge in Canada after the war.

We do not know the precise time at which he be-

came savingly acquainted with the Saviour, probably
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in 1784, and he was at that time baptizcfl. A
few others in this place, who had taken a similar step,

were then formed into a Baptist Church.; thought to

bo the first church of this denomination, organized in

Lower Canada.

Not long after uniting with the church, Mr. Marsh

began to feel great anxiety for the salvation of sinners

and the upbuilding of the cause of God.

Having an education rather better than any other

member of the society with wliich he was connected,

he was chosen to read Whitefield's sermons on

tho Sabbath. This course he pursued a while, but

was finally induced by his brethren to labor in this

section as an exhorter. As he displayed considerable

ability in this vocation, and conversions followed his

labors, he was ordained as a minister. His ordination

took place March 2nd, 1796 : Elder Joseph Call from

Fairfax, Vt., and Elder Ezra Willmarth, from Cam-

bridge, with a number of their church members being

present to assist on the occasion.

The two succeeding paragraphs are copied from his

memoirs nearly verbatim.

" This church prospered under his ministry while he

continued his residence at Caldwell's Manor, but be-

coming dissatisfied, like many others, with living on
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leased land, he concluded with them to attempt a new

settlement at the foot of the Green Mountains, in the

Township of Sutton, where they could purchase lands

and have them for their own. So these few people were

foolish enough to suhject themselves to all the hard-

ships connected with a new settlement, in a place far

from mills and market, and without roads.

" Mr. Marsh was among the first who ventured into

this remote wilderness. A number of the most influ-

ential members of his church either accompanied or

soon followed him. They formed another church in

this township, on what is called Sutton Flat. Elder

Marsh lived here several years, but did not confine

his labors to this place alone. As other settlements

were made in localities around, he enlarged his field

of labor, and was the means of doing much toward

evangelizing these townships. Being of a vigorous

constitution, he used to labor on his farm for a while,

and then take his staff" and travel over hills and

through swar^ps, guided by blazed trees, to preach to

the settlers ' the unsearchable riches of Christ.'

"

Not wishing to be burdensome to the people among

whom he labored, Mr. Marsh, like the great Apostle,

worked with his own hands- to supply his temporal

wants. In winter, he made boots and shoes, though

he was not a shoemaker by trade ; and this was one

of the principal means of his support. As soon as his

son Israel had acquired learning enough to read, his
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father would often have him read to him, while he made

shoes ; thus improving every opportunity within his

reach for gathering information. Ho soon formed an

acquaintance with all the townships around, from

Stanbridge to Stanstead and Hatley. A few years

after coming to Sutton, he moved to Hatley, where he

remained three or four years ; but the people of Sut-

ton, feeling lonely, besought him to return, promising

to do much towards supporting his family. In com-

pliance with their requests he returned ; but saw hard

times in consequence. The good people had enough

to do to help themselves ; some redeemed their

pledges ; others did not.

In 1813, Mr. Marsh removed to Stanbridge, where

he remained till 1825 preaching the gospel mean-

while, in this and in neighboring townships. At the

latter period he went to Whitby, C. W., and continued

preaching there until enfeebled by old age. He died

in peace at that place, March 16th, 1843, in the 76th

year of his age.

A gentleman now residmg in Sutton, who came here

m 1816, says that, at that time Elder Marsh had a

place in the hearts of the people, and was regarded by

all as a man of worth.

In trayelling recently in the vicinity of Lake
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Memphremagog, the writer had occasion frequently

to mention the name of this excellent inan, and thus

learned that he was held in grateful remembrance by

the early inhabitants.

After the departure of Elder Marsh, the church

he had formed in Sutton began to decline. Ministers

of the same denomination sometimes came here,

stopped over night, and usually preached at the

dwelling where they sojourned ; but their visits were

not frequent enough to preserve union and vitality in

this expiring society. History shows us, that a

Church without a pastor is like a ship without a helm,

and thus it proved in this instance.

In 1859, Rev. A. Bedell, pastor of the Baptist

Church at Abbott's Corner, organized a society at

Sutton Flat, and Rev. A. L. Arms was subsequently

chosen its pastor ; a position he still occupies. During

his labors the church has prospered, its number of

members having doubled within the past two years.

The first preaching in Sutton, by a Methodist, of

which we have any account, was that of Lorenzo Dow,

in 1799. The following account of his visit is in his

own words.

" I went to Sutton, and got into three parts of the

town ; in two of which, there was a prospect of good

;
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but in the other reprobationism shut up the hearts of

the people, and I must speak there no more."

Sutton at this time was united to the Essex Circuit.

Elijah Hedding succeeded Mr. Dow on this circuit,

but how much he labored in Sutton, is to the writer

unknown.

It is said that Solomon Squier, sen., was the first

Methodist who made Sutton his home. Through his

influence Methodist preachers, both local and itinerant,

were frequently led into the township, and a Methodist

society was organized as early as 1803.

Elijah Billings was a Baptist. When an itinerant

preacher came to th^ Flat, and notice was given to the

inhabitants that there would be public worship, they

determined from the house at which the meeting was to

be held, the denomination of the preacher ; the Metho-

dists always stopping at the house of Mr. Squier, and

the Baptists at the house of Mr. Billings.

A Methodist Church has been sustained at the Flat

since the organization of the first, though, like all

old religious societies, it has passed alternately through

sunshine and shadow.

Sutton, which first belonged to the Essex Circuit, in

1806, formed a part of what was then called the Dun-

ham Circuit. In 1821, it was included in the St
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Armand Circuit ; and, in 1839, became a part of the

newly formed circuit of Dunham. It continued in

this, till 1855, when it was set off and formed into a

distinct field of the Methodistic labor.

The Roy. Hiram Fowler is now on this curcuit. He

has at different periods spent five years here, laboring

with great acceptance.

The first society of New Connexion Methodists in

Sutton was formed in 1842, by Rev. P. West, They

now have pubhc worship regularly in different parts

of the township.

Rev. Frederick Powers, a local preacher of this

denomination, who resided in Sutton, died in 1860.

He was a man much respected for his consistent

Christian life.

In 1843, the doctrine of the Advent Church was

first propagated in Sutton, and since that period quite

a number have been gathered within its pale. Various

preachers of this denomination, some men of much

talent, have at different times visited and labored in

the township. At the present time their pulpit is

supplied by Rev. S. S. Garvin, of Richford, Vt., and

Rev. P. West, residing m North Sutton.

In 1845, the Wesleyans, New Connexion Meth-

odists (knd Baptists, began to erect a church at the
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Flat, but from want of means as well as harmony, it

remained unfinished. About 1850, the design of com-

pleting it was again discussed, but the work enled

with the discussion. At that time, the Baptists sold

one half their share in the structure to the Adventists.

In 1861, the shares were divided equally between the

four denominations, named above, and the edifice was

finished.

The Church of England Mission of Sutton was

founded by the late Venerable Joseph Scott, D.D.,

Rector of Dunham, and Archdeacon of Montreal, who

was then stationed at Brome as the first resident Church

of England Missionary in that township. He com-

menced his labors here in the year 1844, oflSciating in

a school-house formerly occupying the site opposite the

residence of E. Kemp, Esq. The services were well

attended, and an active interest was soon manifested

among a few of the leading residents to erect a church

edifice. The site for the church was the joint gift of

Captain Solomon Squier and the late Mr. Billings.

The work was begun in the year 1846, and progressed

favorably ; but, on the removal of Dr. Scott to the

curacy of Dunham, it was somewhat retarded.

In the year 1850, the Rev. R. Lindsay, M.A., was

appointed to the charge of Brome and Sutton. He
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threw new life into the undertaking, and forwarded it

almost to completion. The building is a substantial

stone structure measuring 30x50, surmounted by a

beautiful octagonal spire. The interior is neatly

finished, and one hundred and fifty persons can be

comfortably seated. The estimated cost is $2,500.

E. Kemp, Esq., paid a large share of the expense

of erecting this building, and labored with zeal to have

the work accomplished.

G. C. Dyer, Esq., subscribed largely, and Asa Frary,

Esq., Stephen C. Powers, Nicholas Dyer, Gilbert

Frary, Captain Solomon Squier, and the late William

Allen, sen., may be mentioned as liberal subscribers.

The Rev. H. Montgomery was placed in sole charge

of Sutton, in 1854. He erected the parsonage house,

and established the first school for superior education

in the township. On his promotion to the rectory of

St. Armand West, in 1858, he was succeeded by the

Rev. J. S. Sykes, who labored with zeal and energy

until his resignation, which took place in 1862. The

mission suflfered some changes for a period of nearly

two years, when the present missionary, the Rev. J.

Smith, was licensed to the charge, in 1864.

Mr. Smith has won the esteem of all classes, and

has been remarkably successful in his ministrations.
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Since he has labored here, forty-three persons were

confirmed at one time.

Roman Catholics are numerous in Sutton. In 1860,

they erected a building originally intended for a pres-

hytere ; but from the absence of .any other place of

worship, it has always been used as a chapel.

The first store in this place was opened in 1827,

by Major Royce, of Richford, Vt. He hired for this

purpose a part of the dwelling-house of Capt. Solomon

Squier. Subsequently he removed to the buildmg now

known as " Hunt's Tavern." He was followed in

trade by Horace Chandler, Esq., of St. Armand, who

was succeeded by Cutter & Scofield.

G. C. Dyer, Esq., commenced trading in this village

in 1834, and, by combined energy, tact and business

talent, has acquired a valuable property. He was the

first bailiff appointed in Sutton, and has discharged

the duties of several public offices. He has been post-

master for twenty-five years, and is now lieutenant-

colonel of Mihtia.

E. A. Dyer, his son, is associated with him in the

mercantile business. He has served the township in

the offices of secretary-treasurer of the Board of

School Commissioners, and secretary-treasurer of the

Municipal Council, to the general acceptance of his

fellow-citizens.
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In 1843, the late colonel O. J. Kemp, of Freligha-

burg, opened a store at the Flat. This was committed

to the management of his son, E. Kemp, Esq., who

still remains here as a merchant. His talents were soon

called into exercise by the citizens of Sutton, and for

a number of years he was one of the few on whom

rested the labor of doing all the public business of the

township. He now devotes his attention chiefly to

mercantile. pursuits, and holds only the office of ma-

gistrate.

Besides those of Messrs. Dyer and Kemp, there are

two stores at present in this village. The Boright

Bros, have traded here, since 1861. They have

recently built a commodious brick store, and are pro-

gressing in their business.

They are sons of Henry Boright, sen., who has been

an active man in the township. In 1841, he was

elected a member of the District Council.

M. Layhue has been trading here two or three

years.

The first public house in Sutton was opened in 1840,

by Dr. F. A. Cutter, in the building now used for the

same purpose by A. Hunt.

Dr. Cutter has been a physician here for many

years, and from his extensive practice and long rosi-
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dence, has considerable influence in the township. He

has held municipal oflSces, and is at present a justice

of the peace.

A Town House was built in 1859. It is larger, and

was built at a greater expense than any Town House

of the adjacent townships. The upper part has been

fitted up for the accommodation of the High School.

This school was established in 1854, with an annual

grant of three hundred dollars. Afterward the grant

was for a time suspended, but it is now received,

though somewhat smaller than at first.

A grist-mill was built here, in 1846, by Omie La

Grange, of St. Armand. It has for several years

been owned by R. Mills.

The growth of the village of Sutton Flat for many

years seemed to have ceased. The number of its

buildings did not increase, and with the exception of

certain days, when the inhabitants of the township met

to hold elections or attend to other public matters, it

seemed lonely and inactive. But within the past seven

or eight years, quite a change has come over the

appearance of the place. It now assumes the aspect

of an active, growing village.

A more pleasant site for a village could not well be

chosen in the township. As its name indicates, it is
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a level tract of land. From this flat, the land rises in

gentle swells on the west and north, while on the east

it rises more abruptly. A valley extends from this

place southward through the township to Vermont.

A mountain stream comes tumbhng down a narrow

channel, and enters the village from the north-east.

This, though an inconsiderable stream, does service at

the two mills and ashery ; thus being utilized while it

adds beauty to the landscape.
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Joseph Soles is said to have been the first settler in

this part of the township. His father, William Soles,

was born in Rhode Island. Like many others men-

tioned in this history, he disdained to renounce his

allegiance to the British Government at the commence-

ment of the revolution ; consequently came to Canada.

He remained in St. Johns and Sorel, till the close

of the war, and then, with others, went to form a

settlement in what now constitutes the town of Alburgh,

in Vermont, As that place was then a wilderness, they

supposed they were still within the limits of Canada.

As soon as they learned their mistake, many if not all

of them returned to this province.

Joseph, the second son of William Soles, came to

Sutton about 1795, and settled on a lot adjacent to

DunhamJ and which bounds the present farm of

Ichabod Babcock on the north. He lived here two or



r^T-«rOfcii«i?

208 HISTORY or SUTTON.

three years, and then sold to Joseph Ide, and removed

to a lot two miles east. Here he remained till 1807,

when he sold his farm to Ashur Castle. The farm is

now owned by Philo Castle, his son.

David, another son of WiUiam Soles, moved to

Sutton^a few years after the arrival of his brother, and

took up a lot, a part of which is now owned by Capt.

James Flannery ; but his stay was of short duration

;

he returned to Vermont.

John Smith, with his family, came to Sutton about

1797. Ho was formerly from Dumfries, Scotland. He

came to Canada previous to the revolution, and was

employed in the British army as paymaster.

He was one of the number that went to Alburgh

after the war, and from that place he came to Sutton.

John, one of his sons, settled near where the village of

West Brome now stands. A part of his lot is now

owned by Henry Fuller. George, another son, with

whom he lived, settled at the place where his own son,

Ashley Smith, now lives.

The experience of these settlers was similar to that

of other pioneers. All shared in the annoyances and

hardships arising from the absence of roads, mills

and markets ; and few escaped losses from raids made

on their crops and cattle by wild animals.
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A combat with a bear occurred in those early days

on the lot now owned by Roswcll Smith. Tho bear had

been in a cornfield during the night, and done much

mischief. In the morning, Joseph Soles, George

Smith, John and Jake Pickle, with three dogs, started

in pursuit. Tho dogs soon routed the bear, and

prevented his climbing a tree by laying hold of him as

soon as he made the attempt. Arriving at the conclusion

that "forbearance had ceased to be a virtue,** the bear

finally seized one of the dogs, and was about to crush

him in his embrace, when Jake Pickle rushed to the

rescue, and bravely unlocked the paws ofhis bearship.

Pickle himself was then attacked, and in attempting to

flee, fell forward on his face ; the bear at the same

moment striking at him, and fastening his claws deeply

in his heel. At this crisis, the dogs attacked the bear

in the rear, and all were thus engaged, when Soles

approached and knocked him on the head with his axe.

In 1799, Ephrnim Hawley, senior, came from

CaldwelPs Manor to Sutton, and settled on the lot

where now resides his youngest son, Henry. His eldest

son, William—now an aged inhabitant of this section,

—labored on this lot with his father, clearing and

cultivatmg land.

The descendants of the senior Hawley, and the
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Smiths arc numerous in Sutton, and arc numbered

among the able farmers.

Moses Wcstovcr, in 1796, settled in North Sutton,

about three miles east of the place where the settlers

named above took up their residence. A part of the

lot on which he pitched is now owned by Roswell and

Stephen Westover, his grandsons. Mr. Westover was

a loyalist. He lived in Sheffield, Mass., at the opening

of the revolution, but finding his life in jeopardy in

that place, he fled and came to Canada. Previous to

coming to Sutton, he lived at Caldwell's Manor. He

was granted two lots of land by the British Govern-

ment on account of his loyal principles ; one was

located in Stanbridge ; the other was -he one on

which he settled in Sutton.

Learning the large number of loyalists that settled

in Canada, one naturally concludes that the present

population, unless they have renounced the principles

and instructions of their forefathers, must cherish

much respect and love for the laws and in >titutions of

their native land ; a conclusion that recent events have

shown to be correct.

Various causes combined to make the life of a

pioneer in this country one of hardship and toil. Many

of these causesj which would natureilly suggest them-
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selves to the mind of the intelli'Tont reader, have been

mentioned ; but another great source of annoyance

was the prevalence of a most troublosome species of

fly, and myriads of mosquitoes.

The former was the dread of both man and beast-

Settlers frequently anointed their bodies with some

substance disasteful to these tormentors, in order to

secure themselves against their attacks.

Stephen, a son of Mr. Westover, who afterward

resided on the same lot, was a man of ability and

influence. He became a competent self-taught land

surveyor, and surveyed much of the land in this and

in adjacent townships.

About 1814, he built a grist and saw-mill where now

stands the saw-mill of John Pettes. He met a sudden

death in 1826, by falling overboard from a steamboat

on the St. Lawrence. His two sons, whose names are

mentioned above, are respected inliabitants of North

Sutton.

A store was opened in this section, in 1841, by Sol-

omon Sweet. In 1854, he built a large brick store,

and has since traded extensively with the inhabitants

of the township. He was also engaged several years

^n manufacturing pot and pearlash. In 1857, he was

appointed postmaster. The post-office was established
;>
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five years before ; but had been managed during that

time by Horace P. Sweet. Mr. Solomon Sweet is

grandson of Isaiah Sweet, an early settler at West

Brome.

In former years, unfortunately, a mutual good feel-

ing and understanding did not exist between the

inhabitants of this and the south part of Sutton : this

want of unity manifesting itself more decidely in times

of the electioE of public officers. Mr. Sweet was

generally leader of the party in North Sutton, and

once represented the views of this party in the Muni-

cipal Council and Board of School Commissioners.

But these ill feelings seena to have disappeared;

friendly relations now existing between the different

localities of the township.

Mr. Sweet was actively engaged in the mining

speculation, a few years since, and derived large profits

therefrom.

Captain James Flannery, who, for a few years

past, has carried on a carriage manufactory in this

locality, has taken an active part in the management

of local affairs, and was once mayor of the township.

He is liow a justice of the peace, and captain of a com-

pany of volunteers.

Felix Farnan, provincial land surveyor, also resides
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in North Sutton. He has been in the business of sur-

veying a number of years, and has displayed efficiency

in performing his professional labors.

In 1860, the excitement in regard to copper-mines

broke out in the Eastern Townships ; and as indica-

tions of copper were discovered in many places in

Sutton, this township shared largely in the general

excitement. Nearly every man here, owning a piece

of land, spent more or less time in searching for speci-

mens; but only a few, comparatively, realized any-

thing from their discoveries.

Some individuals, deeply in debt, neglecting their

business, devoted time, money and labor to the open-

ing of mines, hoping by their sale to secure the means

of discharging their liabilities ; but in the end they

only found their debts the greater.

All living in Sutton, who received any considerable

amount for their mines, resided in the north part of

the township. Most of their names together with a

statement of the sums they received are given below.

It may be stated, however, that a part of several of

the sums named was paid in United States currency,

at that time much depreciated.

A mine, called the " Sutton Mine," on the farm of

Mr. Solomon Sweet, was sold, in 1862, to a Mining
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Company in the States, for $18,000 ; Mr. Sweet re-

ceived $7500 as his share. Another mine on the lands

of Mr. Sweet, R. J. Norton, and others, was sold to

the same company for 110,000 ; Mr. Sweet received

for his portion $1000; Mr. Norton $500. A mine

called the " Brome Mine," on the farm of George

Clark, sold for $8000; Mr. Clark obtained $1500.

The same company purchased a mine on the land of

Elisha Fay for $10,000 : the portion of Mr. Fay was

$150i>. Philip M. Cross received $8000 for a mine

discovered on his premises.

Such were the sums expended on the mines in

Sutton ; and besides these, large amounts were paid

out in working them. These mines are now deserted

;

none of them having yielded sufficient ore to pay a

tithe of the interest on the sums laid out. Whether

there really are valuable mines in this township, it

remains for the future to show.
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The first settler -who came into Sutton, on the east

side of the mountain, was James Miller, from Bradford,

Vermont. After leaving his native town, he removed

to Richford, where he remained about two years, and

then came to Sutton, in 1799, and settled on the lot

now owned by James Courser. He built his cabin

very near the spot now occupied by Courser's house.

The Missisquoi River was the only thoroughfare at

that time, by which access to this howling wilderness

could be gained ; and this stream, owing to rapids,

could not be descended with boats below a point about

three miles from the spot, selected by Miller for his

habitation. Any one wishing to ascend the river,

must, of course, either carry his boat around these

rapids, or go to a point above them to embark. The

Indians inhabiting this section of country had formerly

reached St. Johns via this stream. They descended
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it in their bark canoes—which they carried around un-

navigable places—until they reached Lake Champlain,

when they descended the Richelieu.

During the winter season, the Missisquoi, when

frozen over, also aflforded a good road for the inhabi-

tants of Potton and this section of Sutton.

Mr. Miller, with his family and goods, entered

Canada by this river, and many times in succeeding

years did he find it necessary to ply its waters with

his paddle to procure those necessaries he did not find

at hand in the wilderness.

At the time of his arrival, his nearest neighbor was

four miles distant ; Col. Ruiter of Potton being the

nearest on one hand, and those on the other residing

in Richford.

The only animal he brought with him was a cow.

He had no team, for several years after coming here,

to assist him in his labors, yet he persevered under

these discoursing circumstances, and soon cleared

land enougbrto raise the grain necessary for their sub-

sistence. He was assisted much in his out-door labor

by Mrs. Miller ; one of those strong, hardy women,

80 often found among the pioneers, and justly deserv-

ing the name of help-mate.

In 1807, a daughter of Mr. Miller, named Charity,
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married Daniel Jones, a young man from New Hamp-

shire, and they settled on a lot adjacent to Potton,

which is now owned by Mrs. Brock.

Like most of the early settlers, Mr. Jones was very

poor ; he had no toam, but he went to work to erect

a house, and in three days from the time he com-

menced cutting logs for this purpose, he had so nearly

completed it, that he entered it with his wife and child,

two years old, for a dwelling-place. At this time only

a portion of the roof, under which the bed was placed,

was covered ; and the first night they stayed here, a

heavy rain commenced which threatened to inundate

them.

The patch of bark over the bed not proving a very

efficient shelter, they soon found that their couch was

untenantable ; and lamenting their situation most, on

account of little Dan, they sought some way of pre-

serving him from the discomfort of a wet skin, and

finally stowed him away under the table.

The rain continued during the night and the next

morning, and Mr. Jones was under the necessity of

peeling more bark from the trees, and placing it on

the roof, ere Mrs. Jones could get breakfast.

Such were the circumstances under which this

family commenced the labor of pioc^ors. For several
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years they experienced all the hardships incident to

the life of early settlors, suffering at times both from

want of food and clothing. In the famine of 1815-16

they were reduced to great extremities. During this

season of general privation and suffering, Mr. Miller,

father of Mrs. Jones, went to Stanstcad, twenty miles

distant, one day, on foot, to purchase food for his

family. Soon after his departure, Mr. Jones, with the

same object in view, went in another direction. The

family of the latter, which had been augmented since

its arrival here, by two or three children, was left in a

pitiable state of destitution. Their last mouthful of

food was soon gone, and the children began to cry for

bread. One of them coming into the house during his

father's absence, besought his mother to bake him a

cake on the " nice coals" lying in the fire-place ; it

being the custom in those days to bake much of their

bread in this manner.

The mother's heart melted at this touching appeal,

and at the thought of her inability to grant his request,

but she comforted him with an assurance of his father's

speedy return.

A few hours after this, Mr. Miller returned from

Stanstead with a bushel of meal on his back, and, stop-

pmg at the house of his son-in-law, he relieved the
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present wants of the family by presenting to them a

basin of meal.

Notwithstanding occasional dark hours like these,

Mr. Jones labored persovcringly, and Providence so

smiled upon his efforts, that in process of time he saw

better days. Ho was subjected to quite a loss in 1830,

though at that period ho was so comfortably situated

with regard to property, that it did not distress him as

it AYOuld, had it happened in former years. Wolves at

that time were prowling in this vicinity, doing much

damage, and one night they came among his sheep,

and killed twenty.

Mr. Jones lived here forty years—a period in which

he passed through all the intermediate stages, from

.poverty to competency, and beheld the country around

him passing from a wilderness to verdant pastures and

rich meadows.

About 1815, an interest in religion having been

awakened in this part of Sutton, through the labors of

Rev. Roswell Bourn, a Methodist preacher of Potton,

Mr. Jones was converted, and subsequently united

with the Methodist society. For many years after

this, he labored in his humble way as a preacher of

the Gospel among the inhabitants of these parts, and

frequently in this capacity visited several of the fron-

tier-towns of Vermont.
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The vicissitudes of fortune, to which human beings

are subject, is strikingly ilkistrated in the family of

this pioneer. He and his wife arc still alive, sur-

rounded with peace and plenty in the family of Mr.

Harvey, their son-in-law, residing on Province Hill, in

Potton. The children are all in prosperous circum-

stances ; the one who found shelter under the table

during the storm alluded to above, resides in one of

the Western States, a wealthy farmer ; Joseph, the

one who desired his mother to bake him a cake, is still

in Glen Sutton, and also the owner of goodly acres,

flocks and herds.

A year after Mr. Miller came to Sutton, two men,

Theophilus Hastings and Benjamin Barnet, from

Newbury, Vermont, followed and settled on the lot

now owned by William Miltimore. Hastings lived

here several years, and then sold out and returned to

Vermont. Barnet, having been engaged in the revo-

lution, drew a pension from the United States. He

lived in this part of Sutton in different places for many

years, and he, too, finally returned to Vermont. Sev-

eral of his descendants live in Sutton.

Michael Ewans was the next settler. Being pos-

sessed of property, he brought with him a team, and

three or four men to assist him in clearing land. He
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settled on the lot now o\yncd by Marlin Stowe. He

cleared several acres here, but, not fancying pioneer

life, he sold his farm after a few months and left the

place.

Itinerant preachers found their way into this section

at an early day. They were generally men of limited

education
;
yet many of them had correct views ofthe

way of salvation, and were earnestly engaged in bring-

ing souls into the Shepherd's fold. There can be little

doubt that owing to the rustic habits and dress of these

servants of Christ, they were generally calculated to

do more good among the poor and illiterate people

than those of richer garb and more refined manners ;

the inhabitants feeling more liberty to converse and

associate with the former class than with the latter.

Like all new countries, barns and private houses

were used here as places for holding public worship,

until a school-liouse was erected. As has already been

stated, an interest in religion was awakened about

1815. Quite a large society of Methodists was then

formed, but in process of time this organization ceased

to exist. Doubtless, most of those who belonged to it

have gone to their long home, and how many of the

number really experienced the sanctifying influence of

the Holy Spirit, the last day alone can reveal.
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Ill 1858, Elder Ilildrctli, (»f Vermont, and Elder

Thomson, of Potton, ministers of the Christian deno-

mination, labored here and organized a society ; its

members numbered thirty-six. This society has for

some time been in an unprosperous state.

A Baptist society was also formed in Glen Sutton

in 1858, by Rev. A. Bedell. Ten united with this,

and they still retain their church membership, but the

society seems to have lost much of its vitality.

During the past two years, New Connexion Metho-

dist ministers have labored here with considerable

success.

It is certain that a much higher state of morality

existed in this section, in the early days of its settle-

ment than there did in after years. As the locahty

is nearly enclosed by mountains, and for years was

generally regarded as a place isolated from the habit-

able portion of the country, it began to be looked upon

by refugees from justice as an admirable place of ren"

dezvous. One aftor another of this class settled here,

until almost the entire population began to bear a hard

name, and were spoken of in any but a respectful man-

ner. A great change, however, has taken place in

society here, in later years ; so great, indexed, that one

knowing its state twenty-five or thirty years ago,



IirSTORY Ojr SUTTON. 223

would be surprised, on visiting the place at present, to

find so many well-disposed, intelligent people residing

here. Respectaldc dwellings have taken the place of

log cabins ; books and newspapers have found their

way to many of these dwellings, and the politeness and

hospitality of the inhabitants, generally, produce upon

strangers favorable impressions. Several of the farm-

ers have taken much interest in municipal matters of

late years," and have served as efficient municipal

officers.

The first school-house in Glen Sutton was built in

1823. The first pul>lic house was opened m 1836, by

Goororo Kellogg and Samuel Heath, from Richford.

Daniel Dodge has owned the same building, and sus-

tained a tavern here for several years.

In 1861, a post-office was cstabHshed under the

name of Glen Sutton, and Mr. Dodge was appointed

postmaster. The name Glen Sutton, peculiarly appro-

priate, was suggested by J. M. Ferres, Esq. Doubt-

less the beauty of the scenery, the hills and moun-

tains which surround the place, reminded Mr. Ferres

of the glens of Scotland, his native land.

Until 1846, there was little more than a foot-path

across the mountain from this to the west part of

Sutton.
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At that time, the Hon. J. Smith, representing Mis-

sisquoi County—of which Sutton formed a part—in

the Provincial Parhament, obtained from Government

the sum of $3500, to bo laid out in constructing a road

in this place. The work was commenced, but the

above sum not being sufficient to complete it, another

grant was liberally made by the Government.

The number belonging to the different Protestant

denominations in Sutton, is as follows :

Episcopalians 120

Ad ven lists 60

Baptists 58

Mfctliodists (Wesleyan) ,... 58

Methodists (New Connexion) 45

Christians 20

During the late rebellion, Sutton was one of the

loyal townships to respond quickly to the calls of the

Government. Two companies of militia, commanded

respectively by Capt. S. Squierand Capt. E. Hurlburt,

"were organized here, and in the course of the rebellion

always performed faithfully the duties assigned them.

In the month of April last, measures were taken to

organize two companies of volunteers in this township,

for the service of the Government while guarding

against a Fenian invasion. Men came forward and

cheerfully oflfered to enlist in these companies ; but as
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the noccssitics of the country did not scorn to demand

a hirgor forco tlmn was already enrolled, the Ciovern-

ment did not cccpt their aerviccH. During the last

month—June, 18()(i—however, two eonipanies were

organized in Sutton, and have heeu Cijuipiied hy

Government ; these arc comniaiKhMl 1»y ('apt. Asa

Frary and Capt. James Flannery.

The educational interests of Sutton have heen care-

fully fostered, so that at present none of the inhabi-

tants are obliged to send their sons and daughters

beyond the limits of the township to gain a good edu-

cation. Besides the high school already noticed, there

are eighteen elementary schools in operation.

The progress of this townsliip in wealth, and in tliose

tilings calculated to give it importance, in the course

of the last twenty years, has few, if any parallels in

the Eastern Townships. The population has increased

rapidly, business has been active, and at the present

time every part presents a thriving appearance.

The soil being highly adapted to grazing, much

attention has been given to the rearing of stock, and

cattle, horses, and sheep are annually exported in large

numbers. Butter, cheese and wool are also produced

in large quantities ; and the farmers are not few in

Sutton who realize considerable incomes, yearly, from

these articles of export.
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The moral clement of society in Sutton is beginning

to wear a favorable aspect. Intemperance is yearly

becoming more unpopular ; and though there are still

those who indulge in the use of alcoholic drinks, the

number of individuals who abstain entirely from their

use is not small.

Acts of -opposition to meetings designed for public

worship, and flagrant violations of the Sabbath, are not

as numerous as in former years ; those inclined to

such proceedings being restrained in a great measure

by public sentiment. Occasional instances of such

conduct are witnessed in secluded districts, but the

transgressors are generally too hardened to be sensible

to the disgrace attendant on such ignominious acts.

The time is not distant when Sutton was regarded

even in contiguous townships as an out-of-the-way

place, destitute of those refinements which give grace

to civiHzed life ; but those ideas have become pretty

much obsolete, especially with those who are at all

acquainted with the township. The writer well

remembers how, when in early boyhood, he was an

inhabitant of Richford, Vt., nearly every stranger

coming into the place with homespun garb, an old

horse and ricke'ty wagon, was styled " Suttonite."

Twenty years, however, have wrought great changes
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in the ^Torld ; and it is very evident that the good

people of Richford are sensible of this change, from

the contrast existing between their former and present

opinions of Sutton and its inhabitants.

The surface of Sutton is considerably more diver-

sified than the townships westerly, yet the greater

part of it is not so much so as to give it an appearance

of roughness. A chain of mountains—a continuation

of the Green Mountain range—passes obliquely through

the township, entering it on the southern border con-

siderably west of its middle point, and leaving it near

its north-eastern angle. It is thus divided into two

unequal parts ; that on the west side being much the

larger. The land of this portion is undulating, and

presents to the eye of the traveller many fine, well-

cultivated farms. Descending the western slope of

the mountain, in summer, by the road leading from

Glen Sutton to Abercorn, one is struck by the beauty

of the landscape before him. A variety of upland

and interval spreads out in quiet beauty. Groves of

various sizes, luxuriant with verdant foliage, appear

here and there in the green pastures of the upland

farms, lying westward from the river. This stream,

meandering through the rich meadows of the valley

below, passes now and then beneath the branches of

overshadowing trees, anon washes the banks of the
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quiet graveyard, where sleep the loved of many hearts,

and, pursuing its course, is lost to sight before entering

the village below.

That portion of Sutton, lying on the east side of the

mountain, is not wanting in features, interesting both

to the farmer and tourist.

The Missisquoi, in its course through the township,

passes only through Glen Sutton ; and the purling

streams proceeding from the north, which are swal-

lowed up in this river, water and fertilize much of the

land in this section of the township.

Rich and extensive intervals lie along the Missis-

quoi on either side, and in the rear of those in the

northern bank many good farms extend up the side of

the mountain.

A branch of the Missisquoi, which has already been

alluded to, and which is formed by several small

streams from the mountain and upland, runs from

Sutton Flat along the west base of the mountain to

Vermont.

The mountain is covered with a heavy growth of

timber, chiefly spruce and hemlock, which, if not

destroyed by the axe of the settler, might afford abun-

dance of lumber for succeeding generations.

French Canadians have lately settled in many
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places on this mountain ; and, should this class of

population increase here in the same ratio for the

next ten years that it has for ten years past, we may

expect to see the mountain mostly disrobed of its

forest. Though the habitant is not noted for an enter"

prising spirit in his native western parish, he becomes,

by some singular transformation, on his arrival among

forests and hills, an individual of tact with a taste for

improvements. Settling on a piece of land from

which an American would, very likely, be driven by

cold and hunger, the habitant labors with persevering

nduatry, and with the proceeds of his ashes, shingles,

and sometimes sugar, brings plenty to his fireside.

The fires of his log-heaps afford a cheering display on

spring and autumnnal nights, and soon his clearing

relieves the monotony of the extensive forest.

The highest point of the mountain in Sutton is

called the *' Round Top," from the peculiar form of

its summit. It is higher than the Pinnacle in St.

Armand ; and when its summit is divested of its stunted

growth of spruce, it will afford an extensive view of

the surrounding country. It is not often, though

occasionally, visited ; but a prospect can be obtained

at present only by climbing a tree. The writer, how-

ever, can testify from personal experience,' that all
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one can see from this point of observation will not

repay him for climbing the mountain through under-

wood and " wind falls."

A little west of the Round Top is a peak, somewhat

less in height, in which is imbedded a small pond. It

covers an area of only three or four acres, has no

visible inlet, and according to the testimony of visitors

is " bottomless."

ililHit!



BEOME.

Brome .s ten miles square. It is bounded on the

north by Sheflford and Granby, east by Bolton, south

by Sutton, and west by Dunham and East Farnham.

It was chartered on the 18th of August, 1797. As

few comparatively have ever seen a document of this

character, a copy of the Charter of Brome is givep

below :

rROViNCE OF Lower Canada—^o wit

ROBT. PRESCOTT,

Governor.

George the Third, by tho grace of God^

of Great Britain, France and IrelaHd,

Kino, Defender of the Faith, and so

forth.

To ALL to whom these presents shall come or may in any wise concern

:

Greeting.

Whereas our well-beloved Asa Porter, lato of Haverhill, in the State

of New Hampshire, Esquire, on behalf of himself and thirty-two Asso.

ciatcs, hereinafter named, by his Petition, bearing date the twenty-seventh

day of February, in the year of Our Lord one thousand seven hundred
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The course pursued by Porter, the Leader, with

regard to the township, was in former years the origin

of much trouble. Not possessing the means necessary

to defray the expenses attendant on the leadership, he

hired money for this purpose of an individual in Quebec,

and gave him a mortgage on the township as security.

This sum remained unpaid for many years, tending to

and ninety-two, presented unto our trusty and well-beloved Alured

Clarke, then our Lieutenant-Governor and Commander-in-Chief of our

said Province, hath humbly requested us to grant unto him, the said Asa
Porter, and to his said Associates, and to his and their heirs and assigns

forever, in free and common soccage, a tract or parcel of our waste

lands situate, lying and being within our province of Lower Canada, in

Amfrica.

And Whereas our trusty and well-boloved Robert Prescott, our

Captain-General and Governor-in-Chief in and over our said Province,

and our Executive Council of our said Province, having duly and
maturely considered the said petition, have adjudged it to be reasonable

arid advisable that we should grant in free and common soccage unto the

said Asa Porter and to his said Associates, and to his and their heirs and
assigns forever, the tract or parcel of -our waste lands situate, lying and
being within our said Province, hereinafter particularly set forth and
described subject to the terms, conditions, provisions, limitations, restric-

tions, and reservations, prescribed by our royal instructions in this behalf.

And W^herkas, in obedience to our said royal instructions, and by
virtue of a certain warrant of survey to him for that purpose directed,

under the hand and seal of our said Captain-General and Governor-in-

Chief, in and over our said Province, bearing date at our Castle of St.

Lewis, in our said city of Quebec, the seventeenth day of June now last

past, Samuel Holland, Esquire, our Surveyor-General of and for our said

Province, hath made a faithful and exact survey of the said tract or parcel

of land hereinafter particularly sot forth and described, and the same

hath set off for the said Asa Porter and his said Associates, by metes and

bounds also hereinafter particularly described, according to our said

royal instructions in this behalf and the aforesaid warrant of survey.

And Whereas, also, our said Surveyor-General the said tract or parcel

of land so surveyed and set off hath sub-divided into eleven conoessioni

or ranges—to wit : into ten conceisions or ranges of equal breadti* of
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check in a gi'eat ineasure the influx of settlers, and

thus retarding the prosperity of the township,

A few years after the Charter was issued, the

Leader sold his claim upon the township to Mills

01c jtt, his son-in-law, who resided in New Hampshire.

This man sent his brother, General Roswell Olcott,

to Brome, to act as his agent. At that time, there

sevcnty-threo chains, eighteen links, and into an eleventh concession or
range of irregular shape, and in the subdivision of the said tract or parcel
of land, hath made and reserved a proportionable allotment and appro,
priation of lands within the same, as well for the maintenance and sup-

port of a Protestant Clergy within our said Province, as for our future

disposition ; that is to say, of one-seventh part of the said tract or parcel

of land for the maintenance and support of a Protestant Clergy within

our said Province, and of one other seventh part of the said tract or
parcel of land for our future disposition, according to our royal instruc*

tions in this behalf and the Statute in such cases lately made and pro-

vided. All which our said Surveyor-General, by his return to the afore-

said warrant of survey, bearing date the twonty-ninth day of Juno last

past, hath certified and rep.brted to our said Captain-General and Gover-

nor-in-Chief in and over said Province, together with a plot or dosoription

of the said tract or parcel of land to the said return annexed, specifying

the outlines of the said tract or parcel of land, the several concessions and
lots into which the said tract or parcel of land hath been so as aforesaid

subdivided, severally and respectively distinguished by numbers, and the

allotments and appropriations of land within the said tract or parcel of

land, so as aforesaid made and reserved by our said Surveyor-General on
our behalf for the maintenance of a Protestant Clergy within our said

Province, and for our future disposition, as by the said warrant he was
required and commanded.

And Whereas, in further obedience to our royal instructions above
mentioned, John ( oflan, Esquire, our Surveyor-General ofWoods of and
for our said Province, hath certified under his hand that no part of said

tract or parcel land is included in any district marked out as a reserra.

tion, for the growth of masting or other timber for the use of our royai

navy.

And Whereas, also, in further obedience to our said royal instructions*

Nathaniel Taylor, John Kuiter, Henry Euiter, and Jesse Penoyer, Ear
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were many individuals in Brome who had come hither

with the intention of purchasing the land on which

they settled ; hr.t having hoard that the township was

mort'^agedjthey now refused to purchase, and remained

here as squatters. This state of things continued til*

about 1827, when Mills Olcott and his son-in-law,

Joseph Bell, to whom he had previously sold one half

quires, our Commissioners! by us appointed lor making onquiries into tho

characters and circumstances of all and every applicant for any part of

our unoccupied and waste lands, lying within our said I'rovince of Lower

Canada, and for administering and receiving the several oaths, aflirraations,

and declarations required by our said royal instructions, have certified to

our said Captain-General and (jovernor-in-Chief that, the said Asa Porter

and Wiliiain Porter, Henry Collins, Ezckiel Lewis, Thaddeus Hall, Ben-

jamin Crocker, Cyrus Vlcarclattd, Sdmuel Gott, Jonathan Ayers, Joseph

Wilson, Jonas Justin, Nicholas Hall, Silas Restorer, Ashael Dunning,

Reuben Moore, Joseph Wilson, jun., William Douylas, Brewer Dodye,

Asa Warner, Billy Porter, Daniel Eami s, Thomas Tennant, Ephraim

Stone, Eliphalet Perrin, Aaron Porter, John Hubbcl, Lewis Hoyk, Andrew

Truax, John Solomon, Allen Dr.vies. Benjamin Spencer, Elias Truax,

and Hezdciah Weed, the said Associates of tho said Asa Porter, are per-

sons of loyal principles and good character, and that they and each

of them have, in the preeonco of them, our said Commissioners, taken the

usual oaths directed by law, and also made and subscribed the declara-

tion by our said Royal Instructiflns in this behalf requiied, whereby seve-

rally and respectively they do promise and declare that they and each of

them will maintain and defend to tho utmost of their power the authority

of us and of our rarliamcnt as the Supreme Legislature of our said I'ro-

vince.

Now Know Yh, that we, having taken the premises into our royal con-

eideratiou of our especial grace, certain knowledge and mere motion, have

created, constituted, and erected, and by these presents do create, con'

ef'tute and erect into a township, by tho name of Brome, all that certain

tract or parcel of land so as aforesaid surveyed and set off by our said

5uriJei/or-Genoral to and for the said Asa Porter and his said Associates.

situate, lying, and being in the County of Richelieu and District oi Mon-
treal aforesaid, bounded and abutted as follows, that is to say, beginning

at a po8t marked " Button and Brome," planted by Jesie Fenoyer, De-
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the township, discharged the mortgage and gave public

notice of this fact to the inhabitants, requesting them

to come forward and obtain deeds for the lots they

occupied ; a request with which they cheerfully com-

plied.

Bell and Olcott now appointed Col. P. H. Knowl-

ton, as their agent, to dispose of the land unsold. Five

puty Provincial Surveyor in the easterly line of the Township of Dunham,
being the north-west corner of the Township of Sutton, and the south-

west corner of the Townsliip of Brorae; thence as the needle points south

seventy-nine degrees, east eight hundred and live chains, along the )ine

run by the said Jesse Peunoyer, for the boundary between Sutton and
Brome to a post marked "Brorae, Bolton, Potton and Sutton, 1792;"

being th« south-oast corner of the Township of Brome, the south-west

corner of the Township of Bolton, the north-west corner of the Township
of Potton. and the north-east corner of the Township of Sutton ; thence as

the needle points north eleven degrees, east eight hundred and threy chains

and fifty-five links, along the lino run by Stephen Nefll, Deputy Provincial

Surveyor for the boundary between Brome and Bolton, to a post marked
" Brome and Bolton," planted by the said Stephen Neal for the north-

east corner of Brome and the north-west corner of Bolton ; thence as the

needle points north seveuty-nine degrees, west seven hundred and sixty-

eight chains along the line run by the said Stephen Neal as the boundary
between Shefibrd and Brome, to a post marked " Brome and Faruham,
1796," planted by Ephraim Nash, Deputy Provincial Surveyor, being the

north-east corner of the Township of Farnham, and the north-west corner

of the Township of Brome ; thence southerly four hundred and seventy-

seven chains and fifty-five links along a line run by the said Ephraim
Ifash, as the boundary between Farnham and Brome to a post marked
" Dunham, 1794," being the north-east corner of the said Township of

Dunham; thence southerly along the east line of the Township of Dun-
ham, three hundred and twenty-six chains and ten links, to the place of

beginning, containing fifty-eight thousand four hundred and sixty acres

;

to be, continue, and remain a township henceforth forever. And for

ever henceforth to be called, known and distinguished by the name of

Brome, of which said township of Brome a plot or diagram specifying

according to the actual survey thereof, so as aforej>aid made by our said

Surveyor-General, the outlines of the said township and the several con-

:>,'

'IV.
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or six years subsequently, he became the purchaser of

this land, and the claims held by Bell and Olcott upon

the land already sold. For these, ho agreed to pay

the sum of forty thousand dollars
;
giving them secu-

rity on the laud he purchased.

In 1848, Bell, who had bought the mortgage of

Olcott, came again to Brome, and purchased of Col.

cessions and lots into which tho said township has boon so as aforesaid

sub-divided by our said Surveyor-General distinguished by numbers is

hereunto annexed, signed by our said Surveyor-General for the purposes

heroin contained.

AwD Kifow Yb also, that we have and hereby do expressly save and

reserve to ourselves, our heirs and successors, and allot and appropriate

two-seventh parts of tho said township of Brome (the whole into seven

equal parts divided), for tho maintenance and support of a Protestant

Clergy within our said Province, and for our future disposition, that is to

say, more particularly and according to the form of the Statute in such

case made and provided for a specification of tho lands so by us reserved,

allotted, and appropriated for the maintenance of a Protestant Clergy

within our said Province in respect of lands to bo hereby granted. We,

of the said several lots in the said several concessions in the said plot or

diagram of tho said Township of Brome, hereunto annexed, described,

have and do hereby save and expressly reserve to us, our heirs and suc-

cessors, and allot and appropriate the following forty-two lots, contain-

ing eight thousand three hundred and fifty-one acres, one rood, and

twenty-evft* perches of land, that is to say, lot nLK?ber five in the first

concession, lot number twelve in the first concession, lot number nineteen

in the first concession, lot number twenty-six in the first concession ; lot

number seven in the second concession, lot number fourteen in the second

concession, lot number twenty-one in the second concession, lot number

twenty-eight in ihe second concession ; lot number two in the third con-

cession, lot number nine in the third "oncession, lot number sixteen in

the third concession, lot number twenty-three in the third concession ; lot

number four in the fourth concession, lot number eleven in the fourth

concession, lot number eighteen in the fourth concession, lot number

twenty-fire in the fourth concession ; lot number two in the fifth conces-

sion, lot number nine in the fifth concession, lot number sixteen in the

fifth concMsaion, lot namb«r twenty-three in the fifth concssiion; lo^
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Knowlton onc-lialf the property that then remained

unsold, and discharged the mortgage.

In 1855, Hiram Foster, Esq., became proprietor of

the whok) property, at that time again encumbered

with a mortgage. Under hia management, the mort-

gage has been wholly discharged, and the land dis-

posed of.

number seven in tho sixth concossion, lot number fourteen in the sixth

concession, lot number twenty-one in the sixth concession, lot number
twenty-eight in the sixth concession; lot number two in the seventh con-

cession, lot number nine in the levouth concession, lot number sixteen

in the seventh concession, lot number twenty-three in the seventh conces-

sion ; lot number four in the eighth concession, lot number eleven in the

eighth concossion, lot number eighteen in the eighth concoision, lot num-
ber tweuty-fi-o in the eighth concession; lot number three in the ninth

concession, loi number ton in the ninth concession, lot number twenty-

four in tho ninth concession ; lot number five in the tenth concossion, lot

number twelve in the tenth concession, lot number twenty-six in the

tenth concession ; lot number one in the eleventh concession, lot number
eight in the eleventh concession, lot number fifteen in the eleventh con-

cession, and lot number twenty-two in tho eleventh concession, for the

maintenance and support of a Protestant Clergy within our said Province,

according to the form of the Statute in such case made and provided.

Akd FCRTHBR of thcsaid several lots in the said several concessions

in tho said plot or diagram of the said Township of Brome, hereunto

annexed described, Wo have and do hereby expressly save and reserve

to us, our heirs and successors, the following forty-three lots containing

eight thousand threo hundred and fifty-one acres, one rood, and twenty-

eight perches of laud, that is to say : lot number one in tho first concession,

lot number eight in the first concession, lot number fifteen in the first

concession, lot number twenty-two in tho first concession; lot number
three in the second concession, lot number ten in the second concession,

lot number seventeen in the second concession, lot number twenty-four

in the second concession ; lot number five in the third concession, lot

number twelve in the third concession, lot number nineteen in tho third

concession, lot number twenty-six in the third concession ; lot number

one in the fourth concession, lot number eight in the fourth concession,

lot number flfteeu in the fourth concession, lot number twenty-two in tho
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The first attempt to settle in the township of Brome

was made about 1795, by Henry Collins. Mr. Elias

Truax, of wLor> a sketch is given in the history of

fourth concession ; lot number six in the fifth concession, lot number thir-

teen in the fifth concession, lot ii umber twenty in the fifth concession, lot

number twenty-seven in the flftn conccitsion; lot number throe in the

sixth concession, lot number ten in the sixth concession, lot number seren-

teea in the sixth concession, lot number twouty-four in the sixth conces-

sion; lot number six in the seventh concession, lot number thirteen in

the seventh concesi^ion, lot number twenty in the seventh concession, lot

number twenty-seven in the seventh concession; lot number one in the

eighth concession, lot nun.bur eight in the eighth concession, lot number
fifteen in the eighth coneession, lot number twenty-two in the eighth con-

session; lot number seven in the ninth concession, lot number fourteen in

the ninth concession, lot number twenty-one in the ninth concession, lot

number twenty-eight in the ninth concession; lot number two in the

tenth concession, lot number nine in the tenth concession, lot number
twenty-three in the tenth concession ; lot number four in the eleventh

concession, lot number eleven in the eleventh concession, lot number
eighteen in the eleventh concession, lot number twenty-five in the eleventh

concession, for our future disposition.

And Know Yb fortheu that judging the said Petition of the said

Asa Porter and his said Associates to be reasonable, and therefore being

willing to grant to the said Asa Porter and his said Associates, the remain-

ing five-seventh parts of the said Township of Brome, containing forty-

one thousand seven hundred and fifty-seven acres and three roods of land,

and consisting of the several remaining lots in the said plot or diagram of
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Lagrange, recently inrormcd the writer, that he in

company with Mr. ColHns, visited Bromc to look a',

the Land, when as yet there was no settler liere, or

even a tree foiled to comnienco a clearing. A short

time previous to this, Mr. Collius had eouie from the

States with his wife, and stopped at the house of Mr.

Truax, preparatory to selecting and settling on some

one of the vacant lots in the adjoining townships.

the siiid Towimliip of /irome liorcnnto annexed doscribod, not heipinhoforo

reserved to us, our Jieiis and successors, for the maiiitonanre and sup-

port of a Trott'stant Clerpy within our said I'rovince and for our future

di.spoi-ition : wo of our especial grace certain knon 'odgo and mere motion
have given, grantee! and coiilirmed, and by tli c presents do give, grant

and confirm for ourselves, our lioiis and successors, the said remaining
five-seventh parts of tlie Townsliip of Hromo, conMsting in the several

ri'riaining lots in iho said plot or diagram of tlie said Townsln'p of lirome

heniunto annexed described, not hereinbefore reserved to us, our fieirs

and successors, for the maiutenanco and supi)ort of a Protestant Clergy

within our said I'rovince or for our future dispositioi, unto the said Asa
Porter, Wil/ittm Porter, Henry Collins, Ezekiel Lewis, Thatldeus Hall,

Benjamin Crocker, Cyrus Cleavcland, Samiwl Gott, Jonathan Ayers,

Joseph Wilson, Jonas ,foslin, Nicholas Hall, Silas Westover, Asahel Dun-
nintj, Reuben Monre, .Toscph Wi'son, Jan., fFni. Douylas, Brewer Douqe,

Asa Warner, Billy Porter, Daniel Eames, I'homas 'Pennant, EphrcAm
Stone, Eliphalct I'errin, Aaron Porter, John Hubbel, Lewis Hoyk, Andrew
Truax, John Solomon, Allen Daries, lienjamin Spencer, Elias Truax,

and Hezekiah Weed, their heirs and assij^ns forever, togotlier with all

woods and underwoods, timber and timber trees, lakes, ponds, fishing

waters, watercourses, profits, commodities, hereditaments, and appurte-

nances whatsoever, tliereunto belonging (except as herein excepted).

To Have and to Hold one full and equal thirty-third part of the said

tract of land and promises by these presents granted to our said grantees

(the same being into thirty-three equal parts divided), and every part

and parcel thereof^Yith their and every of their appurtenances (except as

herein excepted) unto each of them our said grantees above named, their

heirs and assigns respectively, to their only proper and separate use, and

behoof respectively forever as tenants iu common, and not as joint tenants
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Being satisfied with the land in Brome, a few days

subsequently he removed to this township, and settled

in the south-west part on a lot now owned by Richard

Scott and Nelson Pettes.

He lived here several years, and became a man of

considerable influence. He was appointed a justice

of the peace, and was the only one in this section for

in ftee and common soccage, by fealty only in lieu of all other and all

manner of rents, services, fines, rights, dues and duties, claims and
demands whatsoever, and in like manner as lands are now holdcn in free

and common soccage in that part of Great Britain called England.

And we do hereby give and grant for us, our heirs and successors, unto
the said Asa. Porter, William Porter, Henry Collins, Ezekiel Lewis, Thad-

deus Hall, Benjaiuin Crocker, Cyrus Cleavcland, Samuel Gott, Jonathan
Ayers, Joseph Wilson, Jonas Joslin, ]\icholas Hall, Silas VVestover, Asa-

hel Dunning, Keubon Moore, Joseph Wilson, jun., William Douglas,

Brewer Dodge, Asa Warner, Billy Porter, Daniel Eames, Thomas Ten-

nant, Ephraim Stone, Eliphalet Perrin, Aaron Porter, John Hubbel,

Lewis Hoyk, Andrew Truax, John Solomon, Allen Davies, Benjamin

Spencer, Elias Truax, and Hezekiah Weed, and each of them, their heirs

and assigns, and the heirs and assigi^p of each of them respectively, full

power and liberty to use, occupy, cultivate, and enjoy the land and pre-

mises hereby to them granted, in any manner which he or they shall

think fit by cutting down the trees growing thereon, by cultivating the

surface of the ground thereof, or by any other method of improvement
whatsover, and to apply the profits and produce thereof to their own use

and benefit.

Provided Always, and we do hereby expressly reserve to ourselves,

our heirs and successors, all coals and all mines of gold, silvei , copper

tin, iron and lead, which now are or which shall be discovered or happen

to be found upon the said lots of land and premises hereby granted, or

any of them or any part thereof, so that the said coals and mines and each

of them shall belong to us, our heirs and succes<<ors, in as full and ample

manner as if the present grant had never i "en made.

And wb do hereby likewise expressly reserve to ourselves, our heir»

and successors, full power, right and authority, to make and use all such

roads, ways and passages, over the said lots of land and premises hereby

granted; or any part thereof, and also to take, stop, divert and use all
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a long time, who performed marriage ceremonies.

He was noted for his love of peace and for his skill in

settling quarrels without litigation. He removed to

Yamaska Mountain about 1815.

In 1796 or 1797, his brother Ebenezer Collins came

to Brome, and took up his residence on the lot on

which now stands the principal part of the village of

such rivers, streams, ponds and bodies ot water, as shall by us or tlicin bo

judged necessary or convenient for working and improving the said coali

and mines or any of them.

And provided FtJRTHBB.if any coals or mine, or mines of goltf, silver,

copper, tin, iron or lead, shall be found upon any lot or lota of land

hereby granted, the grantee or grantees possessing such lot or lots, or his

or their heirp or assigns, possessing such lot or lots or one of them, shall,

within the space of six months after the discovery thereof, give notice of

such discovery to our Governor of our said Province, or to our Lieute-

nant-Governor or person administering the government of our said Pro-

vince for the time being, and if our said grantees or any of them possess-

ing such lot or lots shall make default therein the present grant, bo far

as the same doth or shall in any wise respect such lot or lots, shall, at

the end of the said six months next ensuing after such discovery of any
coals or any mine, or mines of gold, silver, copper, tin, iron or lead,

become void ; uad such lot or lots and every part thereof hereby granted,

shall revert and escheat to us, our heirs and successors, and shall there-

upon become the absolute and entire property of us or them, in the same
manner as if the present grant had never been made, anything herein

contained to the contrary in any wise notwithstanding.

Akd Wheubas it may hereafter become expedient for us or for the

inhabitants of the said Province of Lower Canada, that one or more roads

or highways should be made through some parts of the premises hereby
granted, we do therefore reserve to us, our heirs and successors, the right

of making any number of roads or highways of a breadth not exceeding
one hundred feet through any part of the said premises, excepting such
parts whereon any dwelling-house, or other houses, or ^her buildings

shall be erected.

And Wherbas it may likewise at sometime hereafter become expe*
' dieut for the peace and safety of our said Province of Lower Canada to

erect or build forts, or fortresses, or to make other works of military
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West Brome. He was the first settler in this locality,

and made no inconsiderable " clearing" here. He

sold his land and improvements to a man named Jake

Pickle about the time that his brother Henry left the

township.

Isaiah Sweet, from the State of New York, settled

near the site of the present village in 1798. Mr.

,

defence in various parts of our said Prorinco, we do therefore also

hereby reserve to ourselves, our heirs and successors, full power, right and

authority to erect and build any forts, or fortresses, and to make any
works of military defence on any parts of the said premises hereby granted,

and to take, use, occupy, and retain in our hands, as long as wc shall

think fit, such parts of said premises hereby granted, as may be necessary

for the said purposes, whenever we, or our heirs or successors, shall

ignify it to be our or their pleasure so to do, by an order given by us or

them in our or their Privy Council in Oreat Britain, or whenever it si! all

be judged to be advisable and expedient so to do by our (Jovt'inoi-, Lieu-

tenant-Governor, or person administering the governm^it of our said

Province, by and with the advice and consent of our Executive Council

of said Province.

Provided Always, and these our presents Letters are on this express

oonditiot], that if the said grantees, their heirs and assigns, or some or one

of them, shall not within one year next after the date of these, our present

Letters, settle on the premises hereby to them granted, so many families

as shall amount to one family for every twelve hundred acres thereof; or

if they, the said grantees, their heirs or assigns, or some or one of them,

nhall not also within three years to be computed as aforesaid, plant and
effectually cultivate at least two acres for every hundred acres of such of

the hereby granted premises as are capable of cultivation, and shall

not also, within four years next after the expiration of the said three

years, plant and effectually cultivate, at least live acres more for every

hundred acres of such of the hereby granted premises as are capable of

cultivation, then, and in any of these cases this our present grant and

everything thf^ein contained, shall cease and be absolutely void, and the

lands and premises hereby grante-^ shall revert and escheat to us, our heirs

and successors, and shall thereupon become the absolute and entire pro-

perty of us or them, in the same manner as if this our present grant had

never been made, anything herein contained to the contrary in any wise

notwithstanding.

1 e*
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Sweet devoted rauch of his time to hunting, and as

Brome was thickly populated with wild animals, he

had ample opportunity to prove himself a worthy dis-

ci pie of Nimrod. On one occasion, he set a trap to

catch a bear that had committed depredations on his

grain. Bruin was caught, but not feeling disposed to

yield up his life, while a chance of escape remained,

he dragged off the trap with a heavy clog attached to

it, and climbed a small tree. On reaching the top,

the combined weight of himself, trap and clog, bent

the tree d J \i'ward, and he fell to the ground. In

And ProVII : ^lso that no part of the said parcel or tract of land

hereby granted to the said Asa Portor and his said Associates, and his and
their heirs be within any reservation heretofore made and marked for us,

our heirs and successors, by our Surveyor-General of woods or his lawful

deputy, in which case this our grant for such part of the land hereby

given and granted to the said Asa Porter and his said Associates, and his

and their heirs forever as aforesaid, which shall upon a survey thereof

being made be found within any such reservation, shall bo null and void

and of none effect, anything herein contained to the contrary notwith-

standing.

And wb do herkbt direct and appoint that within six months from

the day of the date of these presents, a copy of this grant shall bo regis-

tered in our Register's office, in our city of Quebec, in our said Province

and that a Docket thereof shall be also entered in our Auditor's office, in

our said city of Quebec, in our said Province, and that in default thereof

the whole premises hereby granted shall revert and escheat to us, our

heirs and successors, and become the absolute property of us or them, in

the same manner as if the present grant had never been made, anything

herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding.

And we do moreover, of our especial grace, certain knowledge and

mere motion, consent and agree that these our present Letters being regis"

tered, and a Docket thereof made as before directed and appointed, shall

be good and effectual in law to all intents, constructions and purpose!

whatsoever against us, our heirs and successors, notwitbst«nding any mis-
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going from this place, the trap became entangled in

roots, and the bear in his furious struggles to release

himself, finally wrenched ofi" the hind leg by which he

was caught, and escaped on the other three. Some

months after this, two sons of Mr. Sweet, Isaiah and

Henry, felled a large elm-tree for the purpose of mak-

ing ashes. A very large hollow limb of this, split on

falling, and Bruin with three legs came out of the aper-

ture, ran oflf, and took refuge under an old root, par-

tially turned out of its bed. The boys pursued, and

the bear was about emerging from his hiding-place,

when he was dispatched by a blow from the axe of

Isaiah.

reciting, mis-bounding, mis-naming, or other imperfection or omission of,

in, or in any wise concerning the above granted or hereby mentioned to

be granted lots of land and premises or any part thereof.

In Testimony wherkof, we have caused these

our Letters to be made Patent, and the Great Seal

of our said Province of Lower Canada to be here-

unto affixed. Witness our trusty and well-beloved

Robert Trescott, Esquire, our Captain General and

Governor in Chief in and over our said Province

of Lower Canada, &c., &c., &c. At our Castlb
OP St. Lewis in our City of Quebec, in our said

Province, the eighteenth day of August in the

year of our Lord, one thousand seven hundred
and ninety-seven, and in the thirty-seventh year of

our reign.

K. P.

Gko. Pownall,

Secretary.
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Many of the descendants of Mr. Sweet live in West

Brome. His eldest son, Amos, married a daughter of

Dudley Oilman, one of the pioneers of this sec-

tion. Two sons of Amos Sweet, Moses and Gardner

H., have been prominent citizens, the former of West

Brome, the latter of Sweetsburg. Moses resided in

Brome until three or four years since, and took an

active interest not only in the affairs of the township,

but of the county.

He held different municipal offices, and in 1860,

was elected to represent Brome County in the Pro-

vincial Parliament. He resigned about a year subse-

quently, and was appointed Collector of Customs for

the port of Hemmingford, which office he still holds.

Gardner H. Sweet, now residing in Sweetsburg, has

been a justice of the peace for twenty years, and has

held various offices in the Township of Dunham. He

was one of the commissioners appointed for the parti-

tionino; of the lands in Bolton and Macrooj.

In 1802, Dudley Gilman from Canaan, N. H., set-

tled in West Brome near Dunham, on the lot now

owned by Martin Pickle. He lived here only eight

years, but during that time with the aid of his sons he

cleared much of this lot. After this, he moved east-

ward to the lot now owned by his son E. P. Gilman.

1
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Here he spent the remainder of his days, and died

in 1820. He was a cousin of Dr. Oilman who came

early to Potton.

He left nine children—six sons and three daughters.

Eight of them settled in the townships, but only two

of them—U. S. and E. P. Oilman—are now living in

Brome. E. P. Oilman has been justice of the peace

for a long time, and is generally known as Esquire

Oilman.

Thomas West from Rhode Island, settled in West

Brome in 1805, where now the Academy stands. He

was a soldier in the American army during the revo-

lution. In 1798, he came to Caldweirs Manor, thence

to West Brome, where he lived six or seven years,

then removed to another part of this township, and

finally to Dunham where he died. One of his daughters

married Mr. Charles Pettcs, and still lives near the

village of which we arc writing.

Another early settler hero was James Pottes, for-

merly from Rhode Island.

He warmly espoused the cause of his king and

mother country, during the revolution, and joined the

army of Burgoyne, in which he was employed as a

teamster.

He was one day engaged in ti.' ''^ying military

•1

/I
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stores from Fort Edward, to some other station in the

vicinity, when he and the guard accompanying him

were firod upon by the Americans. The team which

was used in drawing the baggage, consisted of two

yoke of oxen. One of these animals was killed by the

shots of the Americans, and another wound* a. Mr.

Pettes and the guard escaped unharmed into the woods,

and knowing it useless to attempt returning to the

fort, they made their way to Canada. Mr. Pettes

afterward went to Nova Scotia where he married and

spent several years. He then returned to the United

States, and in 1800, came once more to Canada. Ho

settled in Dunham near the north-west part of Sutton,

and lived there until the spring of 1805, when he came

to West Brome, and settled where his son, J. N. Pettes,

now lives. He left ten children, six daughters and

four sons. Nearly all these children settled in this

section. One of the daughters married the Rev. C

tC. Cotton of Dunham. J. N. Pettes, Esq., owning

he homestead, is one of those on whom the township

has bestowed municipal officers. Two of his nephews,

Nelson and Stephen, have also taken an active interest

in municipal matters, and have both been faithful and

honored holders of public offices. The latter is at pre-

sent a merchant at Knowlton.
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The site of the village, which, as is ^'ated ahove,

was owned by Ebenczer Collins, passed through several

hands within a few years after it was sold by Collins.

About 1824, John Pettes and Joel Davis purchased

the mill site, and built a saw-mill the same year ; and

the year following a grist-mill. In 1827, they rented

the upper part of the grist-mill to WilUam White, who

placed in it a carding machine.

In 1829, White purchased the mills of Pettes and

Davis, and foui* years afterward built a carding-mill.

He built a dwelling-house on the spot now occupied

by the dwelling of N. L. Hungerford. In the same

year that this was built, Ethan Huntley built where

now stands the tavern of M. Capron. This was subse-

quently used for a tavern—the first ever opened in

the village.

In 1837, S. L. Hungerford and S. H. Peckham

purchased the mills of White, and seventy acres of

land in their immediate vicinity. They enlarged the

carding-mill, and Mr. Hungerford built a new saw-

mill, and enlarged the grist-mill. Peckham built the

house in which N. L. Hungerford now lives, and Mr.

Hungerford built the dwelling in which he still resides.

They opened a store on their first arrival, and Hunger-
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ford has done business occasionally in the mercantile

line since that period.

At the expiration of six years after Mr. Peckham

came here, he died, and his property came into the

hands of Mr. Hungerford. The latter built a store in

1850, and four years later a woollen factory, which has

done much business in the line of carding and cloth

dressing.

Mr. Hungerford is a son of one of the earliest set-

tlers in the town of Swanton, Vermont. He came to

Canada in 182G. Previous to coming to Brome, in

1837, he was engaged in business in different parts of

the townships. Since his residence in this place, he

has displayed in discharging the duties devolving upon

him, both energy and activity. He has been a justice

of the peace for the past fifteen years, and for a long

time chairman of the Commissioners' Court. He has

also been a member of the municipal council since

1855, and postmaster smce 1861. So many have

been the deaths and removals that there is not at pre-

sent an individual living in the village of West Brome

who dwelt here at th6 time of Mr. Hungerford'a

arrival. None of the members of hia own family, alive

at that time, are now living.

Religious meetings have been held in this place for

B

m
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many years. Clergymen of the Congregational Church

have preached here occasionally ever since they first

commenced labors in the township. The Rev. Mr.

Duff, during the time that he was pastor of the Con-

gregational Church at Nelsonville, filled appointments

regularly in this village.

The Rev. T. W. Fyles, an Episcopal clergyman of

Brome Woods, has.preached here statedly for the past

two years. The only Church Society, here, however,

is of the New Connexion Methodist denomination. The

Rev. William Barne't, a minister of this denomination,

was appointed to the Dunham Circuit in the summer

of 1856, and came to West Brome to preach in the

early part of the following winter. Through his labors

a reformation took place and a society was formed.

This society built a church in the following year.

An academy was built in the same year. It received

a grant of <£20, but this has been withdrawn, and there

has been no high school here for three years.

A post-office was established in 1852, and E. Keyea

was appointed postmaster.

Commissioners' Courts began to be held at this

village in 1854. Prior to this, they had been held at

Brome Corner. A year or two subsequently, they

began to be held alternately here, and at Knowlton.
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The Municipal Council has held its sessions alternately

hero and at Knowlton since 1855.

There are at present two stores here, owned respec-

tively by L. Scott and 11. S. Lee.
«

The village of "West Brome is situated on both sides

of the South Branch of the Yamaska, four miles south-

west of Brome Corner, ai 1 .the same distance south-

cast of Sweetsburg. It is located in a valley ; the

land around in almost every direction descending

toward it in gentle slopes. There is nothing par-

ticularly striking or picturesque in the surrounding

scenery.

The mill-pond which runs along parallel to the road

entering the village from the east, was, in the month

of June 1804, the scene of a sad occurrence.

Chester Scott, the son of a respected inhabitant of

Sutton, riding along the road above mentioned, in com-

pany with two other young men, alighted from the

buggy and approached the pond with the intention of

bathing. e advanced into the water, on a rock

descending toward the bottom of the pond, but in

attempting to return, hip feet slipped on the slimy

rock, and he was unable to regain a foothold. Not

being a swimmer, he struggled a moment and then

bon.
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sank to tho bottom. Aid came, but too lato ; when

taken from his gloomy bed he slept

" The sleep that knows no waking."

Promising in talent, courteous in manner, and in

the morning of life, his sad and untimely death occa-

sioned the deepest sorrow beneath the parental roof

;

sorrow such as can be mitigated only by communion

with that Omniscient Being, who is

" In want our plentiful supply,

In weakness our almighty power
;

In bonds our perfect liberty,

Our refuge in temptation's hour
;

Our comfort 'midst all grief and thrall,

Our life in death, our all in all."

The first grist mill in the Township of Brome was

built about two miles east of the site of the village of

West Brome, at the place where now stand the mills

of G. Krans. The lot on which this mill was built,

was purchased by Jacob Ball and Ephraim Stone, and

they built a dam across the stream here, preparatory

to building a mill ; but after proceeding thus far, they

sold the lot to Timothy Soles, who, about 1802, erected

a grist mill. This did not continue in operation many
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years. In 1864, G. Krans from St. Armand observ-

ing tho fine water-power and its adaptability to manu-

facturing purposes, purchased tho location and erected

a woollen factory.

A short distance farther oast, is a locality whore in

former years, as at present, considerable business was

transacted. In 1808, Matthew Morehouse c? me from

the north part of Bromc and settled on tho lot whore

Miller's Tannery is erected. He was possessed of con-

siderable means, and through his enterprising spirit

made this a place of some importance in the township.

Soon after coming here, he built a grist mill, and a

few years afterward, a saw-mill. The grist mill was the

second one erected in the township. '

'

Morehouse was the proprietor of a public hour o

here for many years. The building used for this

purpose is still standing. He built a forge in 1825.

Two years previous to this, Ladd & Shepard had built

a forge at this place. During the shor<^ ti:;ie these

were in existence, they were supplied with bog-ore,

obtained near Brome Corner.

James Miller built a tannery here about twenty

years since.

Copper was discovered in this locality, on the land

of Thomas Shepard, in 1860. Much money was
ill

^WM
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expended here in opening mines. A crusher worked

by water-power was purchased, and placed in a build-

ing erected for its reception on the site of the old

grist mill of Morehouse. This now stands idle,

nothing having been done at mining, for a year past.



BROME CORNER.

Ephraim P'TOne and Valentine Smith were the

first settlers at this place. They settled here in 1799

;

the former on the lot on which Thomas Chapman now

lives ; the latter on the lot on which stands the

village.

Mr. Stone came from the State of New Hampshire.

He enlisted in the American service in the beginning

of the revolution, and was at the battle of Bunker

Hill. Subsequently he became lieutenant, and after-

ward was promoted to the rank of captain. He lived in

Brome till 1816, when he went to the State of New

York, where he spent two or three years, and then

returned to Brome, and died here soon afterward. He

left nine children, all of whom settled in this country.

Valentine Smith was a German and unmarried.

He sold his improvements, in 1800, to Jacob Ball.

Mr. Ball was formerly from Newfane, Vermont. Ho

I

lil
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removed to Grand Isle County about 1781, and came

from that place to St. Armand, in 1794. He settled

a short distance north of FreUghsburg, on the lot a

part of which is now owned by J. Knapp. Here he

lived till he came to Brome.

He erected his first dwelling in this township, on

the spot now occupied by the store of E. L. Chandler.

He opened a public house as early as 1805. In 1804,

he built a saw-mill on the site of the present saw-mill

of D. Smith.

Mr. Ball left three children, two sons and a daugh-

ter. His daughter married Stephen Westover, of

whom a sketch is given in the history of North Sutton.

One of his sons has resided in Canada West for many

years—the other, captain James Ball, is still hving in

Brome. He removed to Knowlton in 1817. He was

one of the first school commissioners in the township,

and held the office of road commissioner for several

years. During the rebellion he was captain of a com-

pany of militia. In 1855, he was appointed Super-

intendent of roads and bridges for the County of

Brome.

A schoolhouse was built in 1810, on the lot now

owned by A. H. Chandler, Esq.

The first store at Brome Corner was opened about
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1808, by Louis LaluDue. He hired for this purpose

a room in the house of Jacob Ball. Soon afterward,

he built a store near the site of the one now owned by

H. Williams.

Samuel Everton, who succeeded him in this business,

built about 1817 the house now used for a tavern.

There are now two stores in the place ; one owned

by Henry Williams, the other by E. L. Chandler. E.

L. and A. H. Chandler are among the influential and

enterprising citizens of Brome. They are sons of

Horace Chandler, Esq., mentioned in the history of

St. Armand.

A. H. Chandler came to Brome in 1853. He is

the proprietor of a farm a short distance from Brome

Corner. Beside the attention given to farming he has

liberally devoted a portion of his time and talents to

the service of the public. For thirteen years he has

been secretary-treasurer of the Board of School Com-

missioners, and has al^o been connected with the

Municipal Council. He is at present mayor of the

township. /

E. L. Chandler came to this place in 1855. The

same year he was elected secretary-treasurer of the

County Council, in which capacity he still officiates. In

the year following he was elected chairman of the

7- !**--' -JBEBt



258 HISTORY OF BROME.

Board of School Commissioners, and served in this

office six years.

G. W. Chandler, another son of Horace Chandler,

Esq., was engaged in business in Chicago at the com-

mencement of the late American rebellion. Actuated

by sympathy for the federal cause, he raised two com-

panies of volunteers for the service of the Government,

and of one of these he became captain. He was soon

called into active service, and so distinguished himself

by his bravery in successive battles, that he was pro-

moted to the rank of lieut.-colonel. He fell bravely

fighting at the battle of Kenesaw Mountain. His loss

was deeply deplored by the officers and men of his

regiment, as well as the citizens of Chicago. The

atter evinced their appreciation of his worth as a

gentleman, and his bravery as a soldier, by marked

tribute of respect to his memory.

His remains were sent to his friends, and by them

deposited in the grave-yard at Brome Corner. A fine

monument of white marble marks the spot where his

body reposes.

A post-office was established at Brome Corner in

1831, and Jacob Cook was appointed postmaster.

There are three religious societies existing at this

place. The Congregational was the first one formed,
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The particulars concerning its formation may be

learned on a succeeding page from a sketch given of

Mr. Jackson.

A Methodist Society was formed the same year,

184B. They have no Church edifice as yet, but are

permitted to use the Congregational Church,

The Mission of the Church of England at Brome

Corner was commenced in 1855, by the Kev. R,

Lindsay of Knowlton. A church was built in 1859,

These societies are still small ; few having been

added to their numbers since their formation.

Mr. John Jackson was an early settler in the

vicinity of Brome Corner. The following account of

him is taken from a " History of Churches and Minis-

ters in Franklin Co., Mass. ; " Rev. Theophilus

Packard, jun., being the author.

In giving a history of the churches and ministers

of the town of Gill, in that county, the author says :

" Rev. John Jackson was born in Petersham, Mass.,

in 1771. He graduated at Dartmouth in 1792. He
studied theology with Rev. Joel Foster of New Salem,

and Rev. Judah Nash of Montague. In 1798, he

was ordained first pastor of the Congregational Church

in the town of Gill, Joel Foster preaching the ordina-

tion sermon. He was dismissed from his pastoral

charge in 1801.
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" He lived in Gill several years afker his dismission,

and eventually removed to Canada, and died in Brome

in Canada East. The following account of him was

recently furnished to the author, by the Rev. David

Connell, pastor of the Congregational Church at that

place, who was well acquainted with Mr. Jackson, and

attended his funeral. He first settled in Canada, in

the township of Stukely, Canada East. His labors in

this new field were strictly of a missionary character.

The country was then (as it is even now) new and

thinly settled. In the year 1815, he removed from

Stukely to the township of Brome, about twenty miles

fron the former.

"Brome was then almost an entire wilderness, with a

thinly scattered population. Here, also, his labors

were necessarily missionary. No church or meeting-

house then existed in the place. Some humble dwel-

ling or small schoolhouse was the best that could be

obtained as a place of worship. In these circumstances

he continued in the ministry of the yrord, preaching as

opportunity presented for the period of fi.e years;

when, owing to such unfavorable circumstances, feeble

health and the necessities of a young and rising family,

he was led to engage in agricultural pursuits, and to

retire from the office of the ministry.

" In his latter years, it was his chief desire to enjoy

the ministry of the gospel for his own benefit and the

welfare of his family and neighbors ; and while friendly

with ministers of other denominations j it was his highest
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gratification to meet with a minister of the Congrega-

tional order. In the year 1842, 1 visited the town of

Brome as a Congregational minister, and found Esquire

Jackson, as he was then called (having held the office

of magistrate for about twelve years), one of the most

interested of a few Christians to have a settled minister

in the place. I was induced to settle in this destitute

field, then without a church or minister of any deno-

mination. About a year after my arrival, I had

erected a comfortable meeting-house, and formed a

Church of fifteen members on Congregational princi-

ples. Esquire Jackson, his wife, and one of his sons

(who is now one of the deacons of the Church,) with

his wife and his wife's mother, were then received into

the Church, and united with a few others in Christian

fellowship. For a short period I had much pleasure

from the society and Christian friendship of Mr. Jack-

son. He was a person of most pleasing and affiible

manners, and most sociably disposed. He had been

permitted to see his prayers answered in the improved

state of religious society ; but the Lord had designed

that the feeble cause once established, his work on

earth should soon close. In the second week of March

1844, Mr. Jackson complained a little from the effects

of a cold. He was confined a few days to his bed

without any severe pain or suffering. On the day

previous to his death I saw him, and thought he was

doing well and would soon be better, but it was other-

wise determined by Him who cannot err. On the

morning after I had seen him, one of the family came

M*i
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to inform me that their father seemed much worse. I

hastened to see him, and when I stood by his bedside

I found he was speechless. The tide of life seemed

fast ebbing, and with the family I engaged in prayer.

Just as we arose from commending his spirit to God,

it departed, and all was silent in death. He departed

this life on the 18th of March, 1844. On the 20th,

the solemn occasion was improved at the Congrega-

tional Chapel in Brome, by a sermon from the Rev. Dr.

Wilkes, pastor of the first Congregational Church at

Montreal, from the words : ''It is appointed unto men

once to die, but after this the judgment." At the close,

the congregation followed the silent remains of Mr.

Jackson to the adjoining burying-ground, where they

found a final resting place.

"It so happened that Dr. Wilkes was on a visit to me
at that time, and as he was acquainted with Mr. Jack-

son, I prevailed on him to improve the occasion.

" On the following Sabbath, I preached the funeral

sermon to a large and attentive audience, from Pro-

verbs iv. 18. ' The path of the just is as a shining light,

w^hich shineth more and more unto the perfect day.'

** A neat white marble stone is erected to mark the

resting-place of the mortal remains of Mr. Jackson,

and on it is the following inscription :

JOHN JACKSON, ESQ.,

Departed this life at Brome on th^

18th march, 1814.

AGED 73 TEARS."
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Mr. Jackson's wife was Miss Rebecca Rogers of

Petersham, Mass. She died on the 13th October, 1855.

Thej had eight children, five sons and three daugh-

ters. Of these only four sons—James, John A.,

Horatio Nelson, and Addison—are now living. The

three latter live about the homestead. Nelson and

Addison, with their families, are members of the Church

to which their father belonged. Nelson has been a

justice of the peace for twenty years. Two of his

sons, Joseph and Henry, are physicians, in the State of

New York. Samuel, another son, is pastor of a Con-

gregational Church near Montreal.

Brome Corner was for many years the chief seat of

business in the township* Commissioners' Courts were

held here till 1854, when they began to be held at

Wep^ Brome.

A building designed for an academy was erected in

1857, but no grant has yet been received. A private

school has been held in it at different times. There is but

one hotel in the place ; S. Westover is the proprietor.

Brome Corner is situated on an elevated plateau.

The village is small but pleasant. Some of the land

around it is low and, without draining, unfit for tillage.

A branch of the Yamaska passes near on the east.

Two roads intersect in the centre of the village, giving

to it the name of " Corner."

I ;'
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KNOWLTON.

•ti,

The first settlement in the vicinity of Knowlton was

made at Tibbett's Hill. Matthew Morehouse, from

Mass., settled here about 1800. The lot he selected

and commenced labor upon is now owned by S. Law-

rence and S. Sturtevant. He remained only a few

years, and then exchanged his farm for one in another

part of the township. A further notice of him will be

found in the history of West Brome. He has no

descendants in the country.

John Chapel, from BratteboroV Vermont, was the

first who settled here after Morehouse. He had lived

here but three or four years, when he died, and was

buried near the Lake. He was an unmarried man,

and his parents, aged people, lived with him. After

his death, they exchanged this lot for one in Sutton,

owned by Joseph Soles. Soles came to Brome in

1807. The lot he obtained from Chapel ia now owned

by hia son John BoIqs»
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In 1802, Gardner Eldridgc,from "VViUIamgtown,Mass.,

camo hero and settled on the lot now owned in part by

Lester Ball. He died at this place about sixteen years

subsequently. He left ten children, only one of whom is

now living in Brome. Mr. Eldridge had been ^ere but a

short time, when the number of settlers was increased

by the arrival of four brothers, John, Joseph, Henry,

and George Tibbetts. They came from Vermont.

All had large families, and from the fact that so many

of this name settled here, the place was called Tibbetts*

Hill.

Gen. Roswell Olcott, whose name is mentioned on a

preceding page, lived several years at this place. He

had previously resided at a place about two miles west

of this.

He was possessed of property and made large im-

provements where he first settled. He owned a store

and ashery, and did much business with the people of

the township. One of his daughters married the Rev.

Mr. Whitwell, who was afterward the rector of St.

Armand West.

The early settlers obtained their subsistence chiefly

by making and selling potash. This they sold at Fre-

lighsburg, where they obtained the few necessaries

required in their families. When a sufficient quantity

8
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had been made to warrant a trip to market, three or

four of them, unithig, yoked their oxen to a sled and

started . An axe and auger were invariably taken on these

journeys to use not only in case of a " break down,"

but for the purpose of making shoes for the sled ; new

ones being required at least once in the course of the

journey. This method they pursued for a few years,

when a Mr. Ilarvey living in Dunham, whose house

they passed when on their way to Frelighsburg,

became the proprietor of an ox-cart, and this they

always afterward hired to convey their load from his

house to the place of its destination.

About 1809, a man named Mills commenced clear-

ing on the lot now owned by Mr. Dunkin. In the

same year Captain Ezekiel Knowlton settled on the lot

now owned in part by Captain James Ball. In the

following year, he purchased the land and improve-

ments of Mills, and was proprietor of the lot till 1815,

when he sold it to P. H. Knowlton, afterward colonel.

In 1817, he sold the lot where he first settled, to

Captain James Ball. On this, in 1822, Captain Ball

built a schoolhouse, the first erected in this section.

In 1815, a man named Paine, settled on a lot which

is now occupied in part by a portion of the village.

He built a log cabin near the site of the Episcopal
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parsonage house ; but having been a soldier in the

British service, and consequently being unaccustomed

to farming, and advanced in years, he remained in

Brome only a short time. Other individuals came

here and labored, but none remained long.

Colonel P. II Knowlton, who left his farm on the

Lake, and came here in 1834, was the first permanent

settler at the place now occupied by the village. A
saw-mill was built here in 1821, by William Lalanne,

but, being badly constructed, it never did much service.

A new one was built by Colonel Knowlton and Captain

Ball in 1835. The former built a grist mill in the

year following.

The principal part of Knowlton has grown within

the past fifteen years. There was no road, passable

for waggons, leading to the place until 1829. The

chief part of the business, such as transporting goods,

&c., was necessarily done in the winter.

The first store was opened in 1834, by Colonel

Knowlton and Captain Ball. Colonel Knowlton had

traded previously at his former place of residence, on

the Lake. There are now five or six stores in the

place. N. Pettcs and brother, and D. McLachlan

have traded here for the past twelve years. G. L.

Scott, G. C. Pettes, McDonell & St. Marie, have

opened stores recently.

m il
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The first public house was opened by Albert Kim-

ball in 1851. In the same year, the postrofl5ce was

estabhshed, Mr. Kimball receiving the anpointment of

postmaster.

The first missionary eflforts in connection with the

Church of England in Brome, were th'> occasional

services of the Rev. Mr. Cotton of Dunham and the

Rev. R. Whitwell from Sheflford. About the year

1840, the Rev. William Bond,^ow of St. George's,

Montreal, was sent through a number of these town-

ships as travelling missioi.cry. The Hon. P. H.

Knowlton interested himself very greatly in obtaining

the establishment of a mission of the Church of Eng-

land in this township. He personally took up a sub-

scription for the erection of a church and parsonage,

to which he himself contributed the largest part. The

first clergyman that was settled here was the Rev. E.

Cusack, in 1842. He remained but little more than

a year, during which time the present church at

Knowlton was finished and used for public worship.

He was succeeded by the Rev. Joseph Scott, who

continued in charge till 1849, when he succeeded to

the rectory of Dunham.

In February, 1850, the Rev. R. Lindsay was

appointed to Brome and Sutton with the oversight of
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Potton and Bolton. It will be scon by this liovr great

a work rested on Mr. Lindsay. For four or five

years he was the only clergyman of the Church of

England who labored in the townships named above
;

and during this time his labors were prosecuted assid-

uously, and resulted in an increase both of the number

of communicants and the ecclesiastical structures.

'A Wesleyan Society was formed at Knowlton in

1852, by the Rev. Mr. Flanders. This Society com-

menced building a church in 1855, and completed it

in the year succeeding.

In 1821, Sheflford became the head of a circuit,

taking in a part of what had formerly been the Dun-

ham Circuit. Of this, Brome and Bolton became a part.

Knowlton was set off from the Shefford Circuit and

became a distinct circuit in 1860 ; this embraced the

principal part of Brome and a portion of Bolton. The

Rev. Francis Hunt was the first minister appointed to

the Knowlton Circuit.

A High School was opened at Knowlton in 1854,

and has continued in operation ever since. It was

established through the exertions of the Hon. P. H.

Knowlton. He gave a deed of the building and eleven

acres of land for it to the Church of England, and

paid almost the whole expense of the building himself.

:ii. '^ '*
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As many works of this kind were effected through

the liberality and labors of Mf. Knowlton, his name is

justly entitled to a prominent place on the historic

page.

His father, Silas Knowlton, came from Newfane,

Vermont, to Canada in 1799, and settled in Stukely.

Paul Holland, the son whose history we now give

was at that time ten years of age. As stated above, he

came to Brome in 1815. The following account of his

public life and labors is from the pen of the Rev. R.

Lindsay

:

" In 1827, he became representative of the County

of Shefford, and continued a member of the Legislative

Assembly till the rebellion. He took an active part

in the maintenance of British supremacy at that time,

and was called by Sir John Colborne to be a member

of the Special Council. Subsequently he became a

member of the Legislative Council, and continued such

till his death, in August, 1863. During a space of

thirty-five years he served in the councils of his

country, and till the recent change in making the

Legislative Council elective, he served gratuitously.

" There is a degree of honor and respect which the

memory of those who have faithfully served the

country, justly deserves. It will be seen in this work

how much Colonel Knowlton (this is the name he was

known by in the townships) interested himself in all
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the works public and private which concerned the

great interests of the country. The estabUshment of

the Church of England in the township of Brome, the

founding of the High School and the obtaining of the

road that leads from Lake Magog to Sweetsburg,

which has been a great boon to the country, were due

to his exertions. He took a most active part in the

question of judicial decentralization and gave largely

for the establishment of a newspaper at Knowlton

specially to advocate it. His own interests suffered

by his devotion to the pubHc service ; and he deserves

honorable mention amongst the men who have patri-

otically served the country."

Colonel Knowdton was the first warden of Brome

County.

Knowlton is the abiding place of Christopher Dun-

kin, M.P.P., and as few of his constituents, compara-

tively, are accjuainted with his history, a br^f sketch

of his life may properly have place in thrso piges.

Mr. Dunkin was born in London in IS"^'^. He 'an

sent at an early age to the London University, where

he gave evidence of talent which, if rightly cultivated,

would prepare him for usefulness and distinction. The

highest prize awarded by the University to that mem-

ber of the senior class who should write the best

Enghsh essay, he obtained. He remained hero two

sessions, and then \yent to the Glasgow University.

•ijtsi«
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At this institution, his ability won for him additional

laurels. The highest prize for scholarship awarded to

any member of the logic class, was bestowed upon him

by a vote of his classmates.

His parents removed to America, when he was but

nine years of age. Soon after this, his father died,

and his mother subsequently married Dr. Jonathan

Barber, formerly of London. While Mr. Dunkin was

pursuing his studies at the Glasgow University, he

decided on visiting his mother, then residing in Cam-

bridge, Mass. He put this design into execution in

1831, when he was in his nineteenth year.

At his mother's earnest solicitation, he remained in

America, and entered the junior class of Harvard Uni-

versity, with the design of remaining until he gra-

duated. An affection of the eyes, however, compelled

him to abandon his studies. He then became an

instructor in the Greek language in the University, in

whiph capacity he acted until the class which he had

entered graduated, when he received the honorary

degree of Bachelor of Arts. Subsequently, he received

the honorary degree of Master of Arts from Yale Col-

lege. During the remainder of the time he resided

in Massachusetts, he was engaged in literary pursuits,

writing among other things an occasional article for
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tlie '*North American Review." Dr. Barber, who had

for several years been connected with the Harvard

University, as a teacher of elocution—receiving a

professor's salary—about this time published a work

on elocution, in the preparation of which Mr. Dunkin

assisted him.

In 1835, he married Miss Mary Barber, a daughter

of Dr. Jonathan Barber, by a former marriage, and

two years later took up his residence in Canada.

Though great inducements were offered him by influ-

ential men to remain in the States, an unwavering

loyalty induced him to seek a home where he could

find institutions kindred to those of his fatherland.

With his talents he might have decked his brow with

choice flowers from the chaplet of that then prosper-

ous Republic, but he disdained honors that must be

purchased by the renunciation of allogiance to the

loved land of h'- birth.

On the arrival of Lord Durham in Canada, he

appointed Mr. Dunkin secretary of the Education

Commission ; and he was acting as such when Lord

Sydenham arrived, who appointed him secretary of

the Post-Office Commission. Subsequently, he was

appointed assistant-secretary for Lower Canada, and

held the office six years. e then resigned for the

¥n
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purpose of practicing law, and commenced this busi-

ness as a partner of the present Chief Justice Mere-

dith.

In 1858, he became a member of the Provincial

Parliament, having b^cn elected by the counties of

Drummond and Arthabaska. He represented these

until 1861, when he was elected representative of the

County of jliume. In the same year, he took up h\s

residence, at Knowlton. Since living here the degree

• "O.O.L. has been conferred upon him by Bishop's

Ool'e^f id Lennox ville.

lii his [.ailiamontary career, Mr. Dunkin has ever

been an assiduous worker. Alvv'ays at his poot, noth-

ing takes place in the parliamentary chambers affect-

ing the public welfare in which lie does not take a

lively interest.

The recent temperance bill, of wliich he is the author,

has been the object of much odium, as indeed all bills

of this character mu.-i. be, until the morals of commu-

nities have so much improved as no longer to require

the restraints of prohibitory iaT7. That the bill of Mr.

Dunkin, when first framed, was siiperior to the one now

before the country, there is little doubt ; but we cease

to wonder at any marks of mutilation apparent in the

present bill, when aware that in its passage through
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the House, it had to run the gantlet between files of

anti-temperance men. Yet, " with all its imperfec-

tions," if enforced, it would, doubtless, in a great mea-

sure, answer the original design of its author.

As a speaker, the style of Mr. Dunkin is argumen-

tative ; though there is enough of the persuasive to

rivet the attention of his audience. He is fluent, but

never seeks after those rounded periods, or indulges

in those rhetorical flourishes—the pride of many public

speakers. He possesses, beyond most men, the power

of pursuing a logical train of reasoning, and can speak

for hours without any lack of ideas, or want of ability

to express them with precision.

Afiable and obliging, he is happily adapted to the

tastes of his present constituents, among whom—owing

to the predominant American element—the democra-

tic idea prevails that, " Jack is as good as his master."

He has purchased the farm lying on the Lake shore,

formerly owned by Col. Knowlton, and the manner in

which he conducts it, makes a visit to his premises

peculiarly interesting to the agriculturist.

Knowlton is the chef-lieu of the County of Brome.

Hiram S. Foster, Esq., who was formerly registrar of

Shefford County, is now registrar of Brome. Since

his residence at Knowlton, he has been warden of the

i-: \
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county, and has held diflfercnt public offices. He con-

tributed largely toward the establishing of the news-

paper at Knowlton alluded to on a preceding page,

and has manifested a deep interest in, and contributed

liberally to, every work calculated to benefit the town-

ship. He is now captain of a company of volunteers,

organized at Knowlton during the past summer.

A County House was built in this village in 1858.

Three lines of telegraph, completed during the month

of October, 1866, centre in Knowlton. One of these

runs to Mansonville, Potton, another to Abercorn,

Sutton, and the third through Swcetsburg and Dunham

Flat to Frelighsburg. They all connect at Knowlton

"with the line running to Waterloo, which has also been

recently completed.

Moses Lefebvre, deputy registrar of the county,

is the telegraph operator. His brother, Joseph, is

also' connected with the Registry Office. Both are

gentlemen of superior business qualifications, and

deservedly esteemed by the public for their courteous

manners.

Knowlton is located in the west part of the township,

three miles from Brome Corner.

The village is pleasant, is growing rapidly, and

always affords scenes of active life.

m^
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FULFORD.

Tins is the name of a little village in the north part

of Brome, situate about half-wi^y between the east and

west boundaries of the township ; but before giving

its history, it may be proper to notice an earlier settle-

ment which was made in an adjacent part of the town^

ship.

About 1798, Samuel, son of Isaac Lawrence, an

early settler in Shefford, settled in the extreme north-

west part of Brome.

Mr. Lawrence, being a millwright, built a grist and

saw-mill in the edge of Farnham, where now stand the

mills of Major Wood. They were the first mills in this

section, and consequently a great boon to the settlers.

Mr. Lawrence left five children, four sons and a

daughter. Three of the sons are still living. Two

reside in SheiTord, and the other in Stanstead. The

daughter, who is the wife of William Davis, resides on

the homestead.

I. .1 rt-
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In 1799, Ilczckiah Cooley, from Dccrfield, Mass.,

settled in this section. Before coming to this country,

Mr. Cooley had possessed considerable property, but

lost it through the dishonesty of a partner with whom

he was engaged in the lumber trade. He purchased

the lot on which he settled in Bromc, of Jacob Ball.

On his arrival he set about clearing land, and, through

industry, soon cleared a considerable space ; and

everything seemed to promise him a comfortable home

in the wilderness. But a sudden death about seven

years after he came here terminated his labors. He

had .kindled a fire one evening, in order to raise a

smoke to drive away the mosquitces from the yard

where he was milking ; -^hon the wind rising blew

sparks into a log-bavn standing near. The straw in

this taking fire soon burst forth into a flame, wliich

obstructed the door-way. Mr. Cooley, wishing to

rescue a sheep which was in the barn, climbed up

the logs to a hole in the gable, and from this jumped

down into the bay, where the sheep was fastened. He

succeeded in throwing the animal through the hole

where he entered, and then climbed up to escape him-

self, when the wind blowing the fire into his face, he

fell backward. Again he made the attempt, and again

he fell backward, this time to rise no more. He was
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only forty-five years of ago at his death. Ho left ton

children, seven daughters and three sons, llis wifo

Avas at this time sick, not having arisen from a recent

confinement. Thus was this family left in the wilder-

ness. They had but two neighbors, the nearest being

a mile distant.

Chester Cooley, the eldest son, then f <'n years

of age, remained at homo, laboring for the support of

his mother and younger brothers and sisters. Two

sisters older than liimself provided for themselves, and

the younger children, as soon as old enough, followed

their example. Chester cleared the greater part of

the lot on which he lived. He died in 1847, at the

age of fifty-nine. He left three children—two daugh-

ters and a son. One of the daughters settled in

Stukely, the other in Shefiford. Horace, the son, has

always lived on the homestead ; and through skilful

management has augmented the original farm by four

hundred acres. He also owns land in Shefibrd and

Farnham. The land where he resides is under a good

state of cultivation, and the thrift dispjayed about his

premises will not fail to arrest the eye of the traveller.

Mr. Cooley has been a member of the Municipal

Council since 1855. He is a justice of the peace, but

has always declined acting in this capacity.

' I.
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Many years elapsed before other settlers came into

this part of Brome.

The first, in the immediate vicinity of Fulford, were

Jacob Traver, Enoch Sargent, and Jacob Whiting.

They all came from Dunham, and settled here in 1830.

Though considerable improvements were made by these

men on the lots they purchased, the site of the present

village of Fulford, which was near them, was covered

with a dense forest in 1856.

In that year, Oscar George, a man who lived in

Sheflford, and owned mills there, sold them, and came

into Brome, for the purpose of erecting mills on the

Yamaska, at the place now known as Fulford. The

excellent mill site and the large quantity of timber

here, induced him to come hither. He commenced

building a saw-mill in 1856, but did not complete it

till the following year. He also built a dwelling-house

the same year. William Cummings entered this house

with his family, and thus became the first inhabitant

of the place. In 1863, George also built a grist-mill.

Mr. Francis England erected a tannery here in

1858, and the next year a dwelling-house, the second

one built in the place. L. Orcutt built a rake factory

and furniture shop in 1861. Three years afterward a

post-office was established here, with the name of Ful^
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ford, and Mr. Orcutt was appointed postmaster. There

arc now in the village, besides the buildings already

mentioned, ten dwelling-houses, one store and a church.

In 1858, Rev. J. Armstrong, a Wesleyan minister on

the Sheffurd Circuit, visited this section and labored

with success. Several conversions followed, and a

number united with the Wesleyan Church. The

members of this church are about building a house of

worship <at Fulford.

This village is included in the Sheiford Circuit.

Rev. D. Lindsay, a clergyman of the Church of

England, residing at Frost Village, also labored here

a few years. His labors resulted in the formation of

a society, and the building of a church in 1864. Since

the opening of the Brome Woods Mission, Fulford haa

been included in it.

Extensive forests of hemlock, mixed with spruce,

hard-wood and an occasional pine, exist in this vicinity,

affording an almost inexhaustible supply of lumber.

^ul^
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BROMERE.

Bromere is situated on Brome Lake, at its outlet.

Soon after Brome was erected into a township, John

Jones, of Montreal, purchased an Associate's claim

upon the land in this section, lie was induced to

make this purchase from having observed the suitable-

ness of the place for the erection of mills. Porter,

the leader of the associates, also aware of the value of

this place, desired to gain possession of it, and actually

took steps thus to do. A lawsuit ensued, in which

Porter was defeated, and the title of Jones confirmed:

A still better mill site, however, was discovered on a

crown lot nearer the lake than the lot purchased of the

Associates, and of this Mr. Jones determined to obtain

a lease before erecting mills. At that time a lease of

crown lands could not be obtained ; but a different

course with regard to these lands being afterwards pur-

sued by Government, Mr. Jones succeeded in obtain-
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ing a lease of the desired lot, and subsequently

purchased it of the crown land agent.

In 1832, he erected a saw and grist mill, but the

latter was not completed, so as to be in running order,

until 1840. At that time a carding mill was also

erected. These mills still continue in operation.

The place might have become one of importance

—

indeed, second to none in the townships—had it not

been for the mistaken policy of the proprietor. Though

unable alone to develop the natural advantages of this

spot, he refused to sell it, believing that it would con-

tinually increase in value, and thus, in time, become

very profitable to his heirs. So confident was he that

such would be the case, that he directed in his will that

the property should remain in the hands of the execu-

tors twelve years, or longer, if they thought proper.

But time has proved conclusively that his views were

erroneous. Capitahsts were aware of the value of the

property, but rather than pay for it an exorbitant

price, they sought other locahties where they could

invest their funds ; and the consequence is that many

places of business have sprung up m the townships,

while the Bromei-e property has lain comparatively idle.

The advantages afforded by the stream at this place

are obvious, having Brome Lake for its reservoir.

>»
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As bog-ore was found here in considerable quan-

tities, a company wishing to erect iron works once

offered Mr. Jones twenty thousand dollars for the lot

containing the mill site first-mentioned above, but the

offer was rejected.

Charles H. Jones, a son of the former proprietor,

now owns the mills, and nine hundred acres of land

around them.

A post-office was established here in 1858, with the

name of Bromere.

The residence of Mr. Jones stands alone among the

pines on the margin of the Lake. The grounds around

are tastefully laid out, and ornamented with shrubbery.

In 1803, Jonathan Moss settled in this part of

Brome, on the most north-eastern lot. He remained

but a few years. In 1804, he sold one half this lot to

Ebenezer Fessenden, from Barre, Mass. Mr. Fessen,

den lived here till 1856, when he died. He left eight

children, six of whom are living in the townships.

Several years after these men settled here, Eliphalet

Townsend, from Salem, Mass., purchased a lot near

them. Here he also spent the remainder of his days.

Three of his children are living in this part of the

township.
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BKOME WOODS.

This name, not very suggestive to a stranger of an

inhabited place, is applied to a locality in Brome, situ-

ate about four miles west of Brome Lake.

This part of the township being settled much later

than ihe east and south parts, was, on account of many

square miles of unbroken forest, called Brome Woods

—

a name still retained by the locality around Iron Hill.

The first settler here was John Shufelt. He came about

1822, and commenced labor on the land now ownedby

Rev. T, W. Fyles. His nearest neighbor, at this time,

lived in Famham, four or five miles distant. About

three years afterward, he sold his improvements

to Jonathan and Hiram Scott. These men, during

their residence here, cleared a considerable space of

land, and raised crops of corn, which abundantly wit-

nessed to the fertility of the soil, and was an earnest

of future plenty to the settlers.

Jacob Clark, the next who came, was from the

State of New Hampshire ; he purchased the improve-
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mcnts of Hiram Scott. In addition to his business of

farming, ]\Ir. Clark kept for sale a few articles, such as

were most needed by his neighbors.

Jonathan Scott soon sold his improvements to Jacob

Bojce, from Ilighgatc, Vt. Two years after coming

here, Mr. Boyce died, the first who died in the place.

His brother-in-law, John Moffatt, had resided with him

a year, and is still ani nhabitant of this place ; the

oldest settler living here.

Silas Cook was the next settler. He pitched upon

the land now occupied by Joseph Hastings. His son,

Joshua Cook, purchased the land at present owned by

John Shufelt, and, in 1838, sold it to Isaac Cutting.

Mr. Cutting built a saw-mill in 1840, and, in 1844, a

grist mill.

The first settlers here were squatters. Much trouble

existed at this time in Brome with regard to lands, and

the settlers in Brome Woods hearing many conflicting

stories as to who were the rightful owners of the land in

this section, concluded to take possession of it them-

selves, and made no attempt to obtain titles until several

years afterward.

Shut in by a mountain, by woods and the lake,

from the inhabitants in the vicinity of Knowlton, these

people remamed here a long time, holding no commu-
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nication with the rest of Brome—a community by

themselves.

At this time they obtained the necessaries they were

obhgod to purchase at Nelsonvillc.

Bears were very numerous in the woods around the

settlement, and the annoyances and losses experienced

from the inroads of these denizens of the forest were

not few.

The next year, after Mr. John Moflfatt came bore

he planted an acre of corn not far from his dwelling.

In the fall, at the proper time for harvesting, he cut it,

and left it standing in the field in shocks. Some days

afterwards he visited the field, and, to his surprise?

found but one shock standing, the remainder having

been destroyed by bears. Determined to discover and

destroy the marauders, he kept Avatch of the field,

and one day saw a bear approach the remaining shock.

If Master Bruin had.before ie)' this, to show his good

breeding, his appetite had now evidently overcome his

poUteness, for, with a stroke of his paw, he brought it

to the ground. At this juncture Mr. Mofiatt retired,

and went in pursuit of a gun. He accosted one of his

neighbors, who, doubtless, knowing how to sympathize

' with him, at once freely participated in his indignation,

and loaded his gun for the special purpose of making
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a descent upon the oflfondcr. To make assurance

doubly sure, after loading as usual, he augmented the

charge by two pieces of small chain. Repairing to the

corn field, he unceremoniously interrupted Bruin while

at his meal by shooting him through the neck, at the

same time tumbling backward himself from the recoil

of the gun.

The same fall the bears made a raid on a small oat

field belonging to Mr. Moffatt. Thinking the oats

must be fit to cut, he one day visited the fields, and, as

he expected, finding them in fine condition for har-

vesting, concluded to reap them on the following day.

For this purpose he started the next morning, but, on

reaching the field, found that the oats had been totally

destroyed by bears during the night.

While looking around he saw a bear coming into the

field. Quickly making his way home, he sent his son

and the son of one of his neighbors to the place with

their guns. They succeeded in wounding the bear

but not so severely as to prevent his escape to the

woods. They pursued, the course he took being

marked by the blood issuing from his w^ounds, but

were at last obliged to give up the chase as fruitless. A
short time, afterward, however, the bear was found

dead on Spruce Mountain, not far from this place.
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About two years after Mr. Isaac Cutting came hero,

his son, David, clianccd to ho out late one evening in

the fall of the j'oar. AVhcn returning home, as ho

approached a small stream, ho ohservcd what ho

thought to be a stump near the path he was travelling.

He was somewhat surprised as he did not remember

having seen it before ; still he did not go near enough

to examine it.

A log was the only bridge by which he could

cross the stream, and fearing that he might fall from it

in the darkness, he decided to ford.

In the morning, thinking over his journey of tho

evening preceding, he concluded to return and learn

whether the object he saw was in reality a stump or

not. He found no stump, and, on going to the place

where he forded the brook, he discovered tho tracks of

four bears of different sizes. They had followed his

own track to the water, and not being able to trace it

farther, went off in another direction.

The seclusion of tlii^ locality inyited counterfeiters

hither, years ago, to coin their bogus specie. The

writer was shown a piece of a crucible found some

months since, by the Rev. Mr. Fyles, in a lonely cave

near the summit of a mountain, about two miles from

his dwelling. This cave was used by the counterfeiters

•while they worked on the mountain.
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The man of God found his way to this place at an

early period of its settlement.

Though there was occasional preaching hero at an

earlier date, there was no regularly organized religious

body until 1840, when Rev. Raymond Austin, a

Baptist minister, from Berkshire, Vt., gathered into

church fellowship a number of that denomination.

At that time this Church counted thirty-eight mem-

bers, but at present there is not half that number.

" The first clergyman of the Church of England

known to have officiated in Bromo Woods, was the

Rev. G. Slack, Rural Dean of Bedford, who visited

the place in the summer of 18G3. The desirability of

opening a mission therein, having been ascertained by

him, the Rev. J. Smith, assistant-minister ofKnowlton,

was authorized to hold occasional services in the dis-

trict. On the 30 th of September, in the same year,

the Rev. T. W. Fyles, missionary of Laprairie and

Longueuil, was sent by the Metropolitan to take

charge of the new mission. The means for his support

was guaranteed for three years by the Rev. R.

Lindsay and the Knowlton Congregation, and the

Rev. Canon Bancroft and the Congregation of Trinity

Church, Montreal. The people of the neighborhood

gave him a kindly welcome, meeting him at the rail-

way station with trains for the conveyance of his

furniture, and providing a public entertainment in
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honor of his arrival. At a racctin;; held on the 15th

of November, the l)uiMin;:; of a church was resolved

upon, riaiis fur this were furni.shed gratuitously by

Messrs. Lawford and Nelson, of Montreal ; and an

acre and a-half of ground was given for the site by

Mr. Joseph Benham. The Bishop's commendation of

the work is appended.

" The Rev. T. W. Fyles, having been appointed to

** a charge in Brome Woods, where it is contemplated

" opening a new mission of the Church of England, is

" anxious to obtain means for the erection of a small

" church and residence for the minister. There are

" many settlers there scattered about, who havo
'* hitherto been destitute of any ministrations of the

" Church, but very many of whom, it is now hoped, by
** care and zealous labor may be gathered into her fold

" and taught the truth as it is in Jesus.

*' I earnestly conmiend the above work to the kind

" consideration of the members of our Church.

" September 30th, 18G3.

" F. MONTREAL."
** The church was raised on the Queen's birth-day, in

the year of our Lord, 1864. In the early morning it

rained heavily, but l)y nine o'clock the weather seemed

favorable, and some of the parishioners assembled. Mr*

Fyles made a few remarks to them, and offered up prayer

for God's blessing upon the work in which they were

about to engage. Before ten o'clock two hundred people
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had met together. They chistcred about the timbers

like bees ; and the frame of tlic church, under their

well-directed efforts, was speedily put together and

raised. In the meantime the >Yomcn had not been

idle. Several stoves and a large kettle, set up gipsy

fashion, had been kept in operation ; and by one

o'clock, a good substantial dinner was provided. Of

this, all present partook under the church shed, which

was prettily decorated with evergreens. The tables

were the workmen's benches ; the seats were planks

set upon stones. After dinner, the company went

into the school-house, and the Te Deum laudamus was

sung. Then an appropriate address was given by the

Rev. R. Lindsay ; and the proceedings were closed

with prayer and the benediction. The day was a joyful

one, the best feelings were manifested throughout,

and nothing occurred to mar its blessedness."

" The church consists of a nave, a chancel, and a

south porch. It has a light and elegant bell-turret,

and a very fine open roof. The windows are filled

with stained glass from the manufactory of Spence, of

Montreal. The cost of the building was about $1500.

Towards defraying this, Hiram Foster, Esq.,of Knowl-

ton, gave $100,and the Society for Promoting Christian

Knowledge, $100. The greater part of the balance
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was collected in small sams by the Rev. T. W.

Fyles, who travelled from Quebec to Detroit asking

aid from such members of the Church r.s he met with.

The following paragraph is taken from the " Montreal

Gazette," of March 21st, 18G5 :

"

" On Tuesday morning the Bishop, Archdeacon,

and the Revds. R. and D. Lindsay drove to Iron

Hill, in Brome Woods, and called at the Rev. T. W.
Fyles', who had been laboring hard at the erection

of a church there. The Bishop inspected the build-

ing, with which he was exceedingly pleased. It is a

plain wooden structure, but decidedly the neatest

" and most correct little ecclesiastical edifice in any

" part of the country."

" In a report of the Rural Dean which appeared in

the " Montreal Gazette " of Thursday, March 28th,

1855, a meeting, which was held at Iron Hill, was

thus noticed :"

'* On Monday, 13th inst., at 2 p.m., a very gra-

tifying meeting was held in the new church not yet

consecrated, at Iron Hill, in Brome Woods Mission,

which gave evidence of the eflfective character of the

work accomphshed there, under God, by the mission-

ary the Rev. T. W. Fyles. The meeting was addressed

by the resident missionary, the Rural Dean, the Rev-

Canon Bancroft, and the Rev. D. Lindsay, who were

the clergy present j the Rev. H. F. Darnell having

a
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been obliged to return home from Granby, on Monday

mornmg. j>

On the 26th ofJune, 18(35, the Bishop again visited

the mission, when nineteen persons were confirmed, of

whom thirteen were adults.

Henry Moffatt, the first of the communicants of

the Church of Brome Woods who died, was born on the

27th day of October, 1847, baptized April 30th, 1865,

confirmed June 26th, 1865 ; received the Holy Com-

munion for the first time, July 2nd, 1865 ; died from
'

injuries received whilst " logging " at Richford, Vt.,

March 30th, 1866, and was buried in Brome Woods

on the next day.

Early in the year 1866, the Rev. T. W. Fyles

having been appointed to the rectory of Chambly, the

following memorial was drawn up and sent to the

Bishop

:

To the Lord Bishop of Montreal and Metropolitan.

" May it please Your Lordship,

" We, the undersigned inhabitants of Brome, having

heard with deep regret of the contemplated removal

of the Rev. T. W. Fyles from this neighborhood, and

having the general interest of the neighborhood at

heart, and believing that Mr. Fyles will be g ded by

your Lordship's wishes in any step he may take in the

service of the Church, beg most respectfully to bring

under your Lordship's consideration.
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" That the number of Church members has consid-

erably increased in the mission of Brome Woods,

under Mr. Fyles' ministry. That there is a very

kindly feeling existing towards him in the community

at large.

" That there is a willingness on the part of the

inhabitants to uphold him in his work, and to build a

parsonage for his comfort.

" That the Rev. G. Slack, the Rural Dean, has

expressed an opinion that Mr. Fyles would do well

to remain in his present position, and has offered the

sum of fifty dollars towards the building of a parsonage,

if Mr. Fyles will remain.

" And we most earnestly beg your Lordship, if you

feel it to be consistent with your duty to the Church,

to use your influence in preserving to us the services

of Mr. Fyles.

(Signed,) J. W. Jenkinson, ) Church-

(Signed,) James Getty, \ wardens.

And 130 others.

Copy of the Bishop's reply.

" Seb Housb, Montreal, 1st Marchf 1866.

" My Dear Sir,

" I have to acknowledge the receipt of the memorial

from the members of your congregation, at Brome

Woods and Fulford, praying that you may not be re-

moved from your present charge amongst them. I can
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well understand how sorry tliey muse be to lose the

services of a clergyman who was the first to be resident

amongst them, and who has begun the work so well

there. And being anxious to meet their wishes, I will

try and make other arrangements for Chambly, and

consent to your continuing at Brome Woods. But if

this is done at their special desire, I wish you to tell

them that I shall expect them to testify the reality of

their profession by giving you a hearty and constant

support in your work, and especially that if they hope

to keep a clergyman constantly resident amongst them,

they must at once begin building a parsonage house,

and get it finished ready for your occupation before

next winter.

" Wishing you every success in your labors, and

that you may be blessed yourself, and be a blessing to

others,
** I remain yours very truly,

" F. MONTREAL.
" Rev. T. W. Fyles. "

A post-office was estabhshed here in 1853, with the

name of Iron Hill ; Isaac Cutting was appointed post-

master, and still holds the office.

The first schools here were taught in barns. A log

Bchoolhouse was erected in 1845. It was burnt by

an incendiary, after which the present schoolhouse

was built.

The locality, to one possessing a taste for seclusion

I
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and rural beauty, is replete with interest. The church,

and two or three dwellings, stand in a dell, surrounded

on almost every side by the everlasting hills. These

buildings cannot be seen by the traveller until he

nearly approaches them. An air of quietness pervades

the whole place. There is no din of machinery, no

hurrying to and fro from stores, no taverns, and

consequently no loungers. In summer, cattle chew their

cuds leisurely on the hill-side, sheep quietly crop the

herbage among the boulders ; and, save the occasional

rattling of wheels over the stony road, and the com-

mand of the plowman to his animals, the stillness of

this place is unbroken.

From an eminence in front of the house of Mr.

Fyles, a glimpse may be obtained, between the inter-

vening hills, of Brome Pond and the country toward

Farnham.

At the commencement of the rebellion, there was

one company of militia organised in Brome, which was

commanded by Captain James Ball.

Like most of the Eastern Townships, Brome is well

provided with the means for educating her children.

There is at present one academy and twenty-two

elementary schools in the township.

u

\-
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The number of communicants in the different Pro-

testant denominations in the township is as follows :

Episcopalians 101

Mpflio'lists (Wcslcyan) 75

Methodists (New Connexion) 30

Congregationalists. . 20

Baptists (Freewill) 15

Much of the surface of Brome is considerably diver-

sified. In the southern part of the township there is

a variety of upland, valley and interval. The upland

is stony and better adapted to grazing than tillage.

The timber in this part is principally hard wood.

The north-western and eastei'n parts are rough,

being diversified by hills and mountains. The town-

ship generally has an appearance of newness, but this

appearance, is most observable in the northern part,

which has, comparatively , been but recently settled.

Brome is well watered, and the streams everywhere

abound in falls affording extensive water-power. The

south branch of the Yamaska and its tributaries water

the southern portion of the township ; while the north

branch of the Yamaska, through which Brome Lake

discharges its waters, passes through the northern

part. The great w^ater-power advantages afforded by

this stream, the large quantity of timber in this sec-

tion, and its proximity to the railway, must sooner or
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POTTON.

This township is about ten miles square ; its southern

line, however, is longer than its northern or western

line. It is bounded on the north by Bolton, east by

Lake Memphremagog, south by Vermont, and west by

Sutton. It was erected into a township by Letters

Patent, issued October 31st, 1797.

We are informed that the person who first entered

the forest of Potton, to commence the labors of a

pioneer, was Nicholas Austin, the first settler in the

Township of Bolton. Like many of the early settlers,

he made a mistake in regard to boundaries, and in

consequence cleared several acres in the east part of

Potton, while under the impression that he was within

the limits of Bolton. This was sometime between

1793 and 1797.

In 1796, Josiah Elkins, when trading with the

Indians around Lake Memphremagog, visited that
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part of the Missisquoi Valley lying in Potion, and, on

his return to his home in Pcacham, Vt., gave such a

favorable account of the country, that his brother,

Moses Elkins, decided to emigrate thither. Accord-

ingly, on the 7th of June, 1797, he started for Canada.

He took two yoke of oxen and a cart to bring his

family, and hired two men to accompany him. In

Craftesbury he was joined by two others. Most of the

way, after leaving the Vermont settlements, they were

obliged to cut their road through the dense woods.

They performed the journey in ten days, arriving at

Potton on the 17th of June.

Mr. Elkins settled on the lot now owned by his son

Moses, in the south part of Potton. He at once

erected the indispensable log shanty, then set about

clearing, and soon made space for a broad patch of

sunshine in the wilderness. The family were entirely

alone for several weeks, when another settler arrived

from Vt., bringing news from the world outside of the

forest, and cheering them by the sight of a human face

once more. At this time, roving bands of the St.

Francis Indians were in the habit of coming into

Potton. They 'usually encamped and spent many days

in one place, hunting and fishing.

Two sons of Mr. Elkins, Moses and Mark L., live
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in Potton, and have been somewhat connected with the

public affairs of the township.

Mark L. Elkins, jun., a son of the latter, is one of

the prominent business men of Potton, and has been

its mayor.

The August following the arrival of Mr. Elkins,

Abel Skinner, also from Vt., came to this township,

and settled on the lot south of that owned by Elkins.

He cleared this lot, and lived here till he died. The

second or third year of his residence in Potton was

marked by a most melancholy event. Two of his

sons, young men, took a canoe and went together to

Col. Ruiter's habitation, a few miles below. It was

in the spring, and the water very high. In returning,

when they had nearly reached home, their boat was

accidentally overturned, and both were drowned.

In giving the history of Potton we may next mention

Col. Henry Ruiter, who for sometime figured conspicu-

ously in the history of the township. He was a

Dutchman, from the Genesee Valley in N. Y., and had

served in the British army during the revolutionary

war, where he received a colonel's commission. At the

close of the war his loyalty was rewarded by a grant

from the British government of several lots of land

located in Potton. He first came to Caldwell's Manor,
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and from tlicncc removed to Potton in 1799. He had

two fingers shot off while a soldier, and for this ho

received a pension of a crown a day during the

remainder of his life. He reserved for himself two

lots in the west part of Potton, and here he built a saw-

mill in 1800, and the year succeeding a grist-mill.

These were the first erected in the township. Potton

still preserves a lasting memento of Col. Ruiter in the

name of the stream on which these mills were built

;

it is called " Ruiter Brook." He died in 1819, and

a part of his estate came into the hands of Dr. Oilman,

in 1820. It is now owned by Dea. Chase Oilman.

Two daughters of Col. Ruiter reside in Potton, also

other descendants. He was a brother of John Ruiter,

an early settler at Missisquoi Bay.
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The first settlers in this place came from Sanbornton,

N. H. These were Jacob Garland and his son-in-law,

Jonathan Heath. They came in November, 1798,

commenced labor on the land now owned by Mr.

Meigs, and built a log shanty, and partly covered it

with split basswood. The following March they

brought their famiUes. The discomforts of the first

night spent in Potton were long remembered by the

mothers and children of these families. A snow-storm

coming ^on during flie night, the latter were put under

the bed for shelter.

We can imagine the sorry plight of this party in the

morning; the ground being covered with snow to the

depth of two feet, and the bleak March wind whistling

through the cracks of their roofless cabin.

Mr. Garland remained here only a year, when he

sold out. In 1820 he returned to Vt., but subse-
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qucntly crime back to Potton whore he lived until 1843,

when ho died at tho advanced age of ninety-one. Ilia

wife was ninoty-fivc at her death. One of their son3

resides in Potton.

It seems that Mr. Jonathan Heath, son., came to

Potton with his son Jonathan, mentioned above.

Both father and son had served in the American

army, in the revohition, and drew pensions from tho

United States. The former held tho rank of lieuten-

ant. The first male cliild born in Potton was Ruiter

Heath, son of Jonathan Ilcath, jun. He was born in

1799, and named by Col. Ruiter, who gave him a lot

of land. This land lies just east of Mansonville, and

is now owned by Nelson Bright. The elder Heath

had three daughters who married into families of other

early settlers of Potton. Two married brothers,—Dr.

William C, and Ezekiel Oilman ; tho third married

Captain David Blanchard, sen. Mr. Heath sold a

part of his land to Levi A. Coit.

Another of thesetil rswas Capt. David Blanchard,

who came to Potton about 1800. He was born in

Canterbury, N. II., in 1756. He also was a pensioner

of the United States, having received his captain's

commission from the Americans in the revolutionary

war.
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From their titles we infer that there was a goodly

sprinkling of military men among the early settlers of

Potton. Of these, the greater number had seen

service on the American side of the contest between

England and her refractory daughters—the colonies

across the Atlantic. These men were not worn-out

veterans, but in the prime of life, enterprising and

hardy, inured to toil and self-denial.

Those now living that were born and bred in the

British dominions, naturally feel a great degree of

interest in the refugee loyalists of those days, yet they

can but allow that a most worthy class of our pioneers

was comp,.sed of the sons of New England, who had

fought for the independence of the colonies. Capt.

Blanchard was a representative of this class. He

settled on the lot bounding on the east, the lot already

occupied by Mr. Heath. He married a daughter of

the senior Jonathan Heath. They became the parents

of a numerous posterity, many of whom reside in

Potton. His son, Capt. David Blanchard, jun.,

settled near his father, and early in life bocame an

active and useful citizen. He was a magistrate for

twenty-five years, a commissioner of the Commissioners'

Court, also captain and afterward lieut.-colonel of mil-

itia. A man of sterling character, he was honored an(J
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beloved by his fellow-townsmen. He was for many

years previous to his death, deacon of the Baptist

Church, of which he was truly a pillar. Ho died

March 5th, 1859, at the age of seventy-two. The

homestead is now owned by Sidney J. Blanchard, who

is one of the prominent and respected men of Potton.

About the time of Capt. Blanchard's arrival, came

Thomas Oilman to Potton. He was considerably

advanced in years ; had been a soldier in the old

French war, and in the war of the revolution. He

took up two lots of land ; the same are now owned by

his grandsons, J. B. and Thomas Oilman.

His son, William C. Oilman came here soon after-

ward, and settled on the same lot with his father.

He was a physician—and for thirty years the only one

in the township. Having studied surveying, his

knowledge of this art was immediately called into

requisition on arriving here. Mr. Pennoyer, the gov-

ernment surveyor, only struck out the boundary Hne of

the township ; Di-. Oilman surveying the several lots.

He was instrumental in opening many of the public

roads, and was second to none in labors for public im-

provements. He became a wealthy landed proprietor

before his death ; owning all the land lying on the

river between the place where he originally settled and



308 HISTORY OF POTTON.

Sutton. Owing to the absence of anything like a

tavern in Potton for many years, entertainment for

travellers was furnished at his house. He also kept

such goods for sale as the simple style of living among

the settlers required. He died Jane 15th, 1832.

His sons are among the first men of their native

township as regards means and moral character.

Thomas Gilman has been a commissioner of the Com-

missioners' Court, captain of militia, and for thirty

years a justice of the peace.

March 20th, 1800, Bradbury Green came to Pot-

ton. He was from Vt. Mrs. Green is still remembered

by the older people of Potton for her efficiency and

readiness in caring for the sick. She was a woman

of remarkable energy and courage, and great kindness

of heart. She travelled through storms many miles

on horseback, swam her horse across rivers, and often

cheerfully braved other hardships to visit the suffering.

Mr. Horace Green, a son of these settlers, resides in

Potton. He is wealthy, and has for many years been

one of the most influential men of the township. He

is at present its mayor. He was a member of the

District Council established in 1841, and of the

County Council of 1847.

Five years after the arrival of Mr. Bradbury Green,
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Thomas Norris, from Derry, N. H., came and settled

on a lot now owned by Stillman Mason. He cleared

four acres in the spring after his arrival, which he

planted to corn and raised one hundred bushels. The

next year he removed to the place where his son, Mr.

Chauncey Norris, now lives. The latter may be num-

bered among the substantial citizens.

Andrew Norris, another son, lived several years in

Potton.

He took an active part in all matters pertaining to

the improvement of the township, especially in aiding

in the building of roads. He left about 1812, and

returned to the States.

Daniel Miltimore, from Derry, N. H., purchased

the farm of Mr. Andrew Norris, and brought hia

family here in 1813. Mr. Miltimore had fourteen

children, the majority of whom, settling in Potton,

made a valuable addition to its population. Ten of

these children, whose ages range from 45 to 67, are

still living. A. M. Miltimore, one of them, is one of

the most wealthy farmers in the township of Dunham.

Of those humble, pious men who were raised up to

proclaim glad tidings to those who would hear, Ros-

well Bourn particularly deserves to be noticed. He

Was converted in Fairfax, Vt., and came to Potton a3

early as 1803.



310 HISTORY OF POTTON.

Poor in this world's goods, he was obHged to labor

during the secular days of the week, to obtain where-

with to supply the wants of the body ; while on the

Sabbath he broke the bread of life to his fcllow,-

settlers. He was at first a Baptist, but afterward

united with the Methodists. There being an utter

destitution of religious teaching in Potton, Mr. Bourp

made this place the more immediate field of his labors,

although he travelled and preached in the townships

adjoining, and in Vermont. Many miles he travelled

on foot—his means not permitting the ownership of a

horse. Weary, no doubt, he often was in body, though

refreshed and joyful in spirit, feeling that he was about

his Master's work. . An instance is given of the fare

which sometimes fell to his lot in discharging the

duties of his vocation. He was once called to a place,

ten miles distant, in Troy, Vt., to preach a funeral

sermon. He took an early breakfast, and set out to

walk the whole distance. After the funeral, not being

invited by the friends of the deceased—who were poor

people—to dinp, he returned, faint and weary, to his

home, where he arrived after dark.

He diligently improved every opportunity within

his reach, to increase his fund of information. Unlike

many of the illiterate, though pious and zealous minis-
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ters of those clays, he believed that cultivation would

enhance his usefulness. He organized several Meth-

odist societies in Potton, and in other places. For

many years he received no salary or compensation

from the people.

This was the commencement of Methodism in this

township. Afterward it almost wholly died out, but

was again revived ; and the Methodists in Potton now

form a respectable and influential body.

As stated above, J. Heath, jun., sold a portion of

the land on which he first settled, to Levi A. Coit.

This was in 1825. The place then received the name

of Coit's Corners. About nine years afterward Mr.

Meigs became the nearest inhabitant to the point

where roads intersect ; hence the place has ever since

been known as Meigs' Corners.

The first post-office in Potton was established at

Knowlton's Landing. Afterward, it was removed to

Dr. Oilman's, in South Potton, as it was then called.

Subsequently it was removed to Coit's Corners, L. A.

Coit being postmaster ; and thence, about 1845, to

Mansonville, where it still remains.

A large building was erected at this place jn 1809,

or thereabout, which was designed to serve the double

purpose of meeting-house and school-house. In after
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years Commissioners' Courts were also held in it. This

was the first school-house in Potton, and for twenty

years the only one. Through the influence of Rev.

Jamos Reid, a high school was established here in

1825, receiving a grant from government of ninety-six

dollars per annum. Andrew Norris, Capt. Blanchard,

Mr. Heath, and Dr. Gilman, were among the most

active in sustaining the school. It continued to flourish

about six years.

During the rebellion it is well known that many

rebels left Canada and took refuge in the border towns

of Vermont. In the winter of 1838, a company of

those who had found quarters in Troy, hearing that

the loyalists of Potton had lately received a supply of

arms and ammunition from government, conceived

the project of coming over to dispossess them. They

were joined by several American sympathizers, so

that when they started the company numbered about

seventy.

Soon after crossing the line they came to the house

of Salmon Elkins. His three sons, Robert, Harvey

and Hector, with their muskets, placed themselves at

the head of the stairway, and when the rebels entered,

forbid their further approach. A man named Had-

lock, more courageous or presumptuous than the restj
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attempted to ascend the stairs, and was shot dead on the

spot. The position of the parties above was such that

they could not be fired upon by those below, but the

rebels threatening to set fire to the house unless the

arms were delivered, theloyahsts, seeing their inability

to cope with such odds, finally concluded to give them

up. The rebels then took their dead companion, and

returned to Troy.

The inhabitants of Potton were continually annoj ed

during the rebellion by such characters.

An attempt to dciitroy life, altogether fiendish in its

character, was made at Meigs' Corners, near the close

of the rebellion. As was usual, one Sabbath morning,

a man went to light a fire in the stove of the school-

house, preparatory to public worship, when observing

something buried in the ashes, he examined it, and,

to his horror, found it to be a jug of powder !

Embittered feelings continued between the loyalists

and the rebels across the line for a long time after

the close of the rebellion. Fear of chastisement did not

always prevent outrages, as in the case of the burning

of the house and barns of the widow of Dr. Oilman,

on the night of June 3rd, 1840.



MANSONVILLE.

Joseph Chandler and John Lewis were the first

who settled on the lot ^vhcre Mansonville now stands.

This land was purchased by them of Col Ruiter ; it

having been included in the grant received by him.

The house of Robert Manson now occupies the spot or

nearly the same spot where LcAvis and Chandler

reared their cabin.

Chandler commenced building a saw-mill here in

1803, the year before his family came to Potton. In

the cost of building this, several of the settlers agreed

to share. An anecdote is related connected with its

erection, which illustrates the ** free and easy man-

ners" of those days. It seems that quite a number

of the shareholders in this mill had chanced to

assemble at the house of Lewis and Chandler. Having

indulged pretty freely in " something to drink," they

began to discuss the desirableness of getting " some-

jlli
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thing to eat ;" and, at the suggestion of a Mr. Oilman,

present, they decided to make a raid on some neigh-

boring hen-roost or drove of turkeys, and procure

fowls for a supper. After some deliberation they

concluded to go to the farm of Mr. Blanchard about

a mile distant, as they fancied Blanchard had not

contributed very liberally toward building the mill.

Oilman urged this plan forward, promising to* dress

the fowls. Several of the party started, but, after

their departure, they agreed among themselves that

instead of going to Blanchard's, they would go to the

house of Oilman himself, though farther distant. This

they did, and presently returned with several fine

turkeys, and gave them to Oilman to dress, according

to agreement. He had nearly finished his job, when

he took up one which had its toes frozen off, and which

he immediately recognized as his favorite gobbler

" Tom." His indignation was only equalled by his

chagrin, at having been so active in urging his com-

panions to rob his neighbor's hen-roost.

Diflferent individuals came here and worked in the

mill, but none became perm-anent settlers.

Chandler had cleared a space of about twenty acres,

or partially cleared it,—logs and log-heaps still being

scattered over a portion of it,—when he sold out to Mr.

Robert Manson. This was in 1811.
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Mr. Manson was a Scotchman by birth. His father,

a native of Aberdeen, Scotland, came to America just

previous to the breaking out of the revolution, and

settled near Kindcrhook, in the State of New-York.

Having been taught in his youth to "honor the king,'*

he could not in his manhood learn to dishonor him by

joining his enemies ; ho therefore came to Canada at

the time King George the Third issued his proclama-

tion inviting all his loyal subjects in the rebellious

colonies to make this part of America thoir home. He

settled at Missisquoi Bay, and his son, Robert, when

he first left the parental roof, took up his abode at

Frelighsburg. Three years afterward, he removed to

Potton. He purchased the mil] and land of Chandler

in the summer of 1811, and in September following he

commenced building a grist-mill which was completed

the same fall. His family did not come to Potton until

January.

The grist-mill stood on the spot now occupied by the

cloth-dressing and carding-mill. The present saw-

mill has the same site as the one first built here.

There were no improvements ofnote made for several

years after this. The war of 1812 came on, and many

of the inhabitants of the township returned to the

States,

iiiil
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Progress agani took up lier march here, a))Out 182-4.

At this time several settlers came in, buildings went up,

and a store was opened. Wm. Manson, a brother of

Robert, and his son Albert, Avere the proprietors.

The building erected for the reception of their wares

now forms part of the old tavern, still standing. Manson

& Son closed their business two years after its com-

mencement. Their successors in trade were Raymond

Hale k Brother. The building mentioned above was

used successively for a store, grocery, and tavern.

Christopher Armstrong was the first who provided

" entertainment for man and beast" at this place.

This was in 1836.

Robert Manson continued to promote the prosperity

of this village by the erection of mills, and by other

improvements till his death. His son, James Manson,

inherited a share of his enterprising spirit. In 1829,

the latter built a cloth-dressing and carding mill. In

1834, he built and opened a store. In 1863, he was

succeeded in the mercantile business by his sons, R.

N. & D. Manson. Mr. James Manson is now ." mine

host " of Manson's hotel. He has been for many

years one of the leading men of Potton, holding several

of the offices in which such men are called to serve

their fellow-citizens.
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William Manson, another member of this family, by

the building of mills also contributed to the growth

and prosperity of the family namesake.

Another of the pioneers whose descendants were

destined to become honored and influential citizens of

the township of their father's adoption, was Mr. Peter

Perkins. lie came to Potton as early as 1806. Capt.

David Perkins, his son, has been a magistrate, and

was for some years deputy Grand Voyer. During the

time in which he held this office several of the roads

in the township were laid out. He was also a com-

missioner of the Commissioners' Court, and captain of

militia. Two of his sons, William and Levi, are also

prominent men in the township. William, the elder,

was a member of the Stanstead County Council, has

been a member of the Township Council, of the Board

of School Commissioners, and has been a bailiff for

twenty-three years.

Levi has been secretary-treasurer of the Board of

School Commissioners for the past ten years, and for

twenty-one has served as clerk for the Commissioners'

and Magistrates' • Court.

The rehgious denominations of Potton, like those of

several of the other townships, are of various kinds.

The Methodists have already been mentioned in the

history of Meigs' Corners.

In
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In 1817, Rev. Levi Parsons, a Congrcgationalist,

preached in Potton, and several conversions following

his labors, he formed a Church in connection with the

Congregational Cliurch of Troy, Vt.

About the same time, the IJev. Mr. Ide, a Baptist

minister, from Ira8l)urg, Vt., gathered a small com-

pany—twelve in number—into a church society. This

was also at the time of its formation, and until 1835,

a branch of the older and larger Baptist Church of

Troy.

In 182(3, Gardner Bartlett, a young man, then a

Baptist student, came to Potton to teach the High

School. Devoutly pious, he labored earnestly, by

word and work, for the extension of the Redeemer's

kingdom. A revival followed, and many were added

to the Baptist Church. At his suggestion, and through

his influence, a society known as the " Ladies' Be-

nevolent Society" was formed. The first meeting of

this society is recorded as taking place May 2'2nd,

1826. Among its " good works" was the building, in

1844, of the Union meeting-house, still standing about

a mile west of Mansonville. This society, also, in

many instancos, provided for the wants of the poor

and suffering, and in other ways proved well-deserving

of the name it bore.
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As stated above, the Baptists of Potton constituted

a branch of the Troy Church until 1835, when they

became a separate body. Of the growth and prosperity

of this Church for the next five years, we have no

records.

In 1840, Rev. William Miltimore, a Congregational

missionary, from Litchfield, N.H., together with Rev.

Prosper Powell, a Baptist minister, and two or three

Episcopal Methodist preachers, from neighboring

townships, held a series of meetings here, which

resulted in a great revival. Thirty-seven were at this

time baptized and united with the respective deno-

minations mentioned.

In 1845, the Rev. Titus Merriraan became pastor

of the Baptist Church in Potton, and continued here

three years. For several years following his departure,

the Church was destitute of a pastor. In 1856, Rev.

A. Bedell came here, but remained only a short time,

being called to take charge of the Church of Abbott's

Corner. For nearly nine years after this, it had no

regular pastoral care for any great length of time.

Owing to this and and other causes combined, a state

of great spiritual dearth prevailed. Toward the close

of 1865, the Rev. A. L. Arms, in addition to his

other ministerial duties, took charge of this field. His
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Within the year past the Church has nearly doubled

in numbers, and again is enabled to say :
" We will

rejoice in thy salvation, and in the name of our God

will we set up our banners !"

In 1831 or 1832 preachers of the New Connexion

Methodist persuasion formed a society in Potton.

This denomination now has many members.

There are also several of the persuasion called

Christians scattered over the township.

Up to September, 1856, the townships of Bolton

and Potton had been unoccupied by any resident

clergyman of the Church of England, and Potton was

then deserted by those Episcopal clergymen who had

formerly held meetings there. In that year, the Rev.

J. Godden, who had previously resided at St. Hya-

cinthe, was sent by the Bishop of the Diocese to take

charge of Potton and parts adjacent. On his arrival

in Mansonville, he was glad to meet the Rev. W.

Jones, who had come on for a little while to spy out

the land. There were then in Potton and Bolton very

few who were acquainted with the Church or her

services ; indeed the majority had never heard them.

After some time, a dilapidated farm-house was

obtained, into which Mr. Godden and his family re-
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moved and prepared for missionary work. Through

the combined aid of the Diocesan Church Missionary

Society, and friends in the city of Montreal and else-

where, and the active co-operation of the Rev. R.

Lindsay, of Brome, the Baptist meeting-house in Man-

sonville was purchased and appropriated to the sole

use of the Church of England. In the summer of

1837, a parsonage was commenced, and in November

of the same year occupied by the missionary. In the

prosecution of the work, Mr. Godden encountered

many difficulties arising from a general deadness to

spiritual things, and the notions which were enter-

tained of the relationship and affinity of the Church

of England to that of Rome.

The work, however, extended so that in the year

1860, Bolton was included, and although there was

not a whole Church family to begin with, a new

church designed and superintended by Mr. Godden

was commenced at Rexford's Corners, in May of that

year, and consecrated on the 30th of September

following. The funds required for the erection of the

church were cliiefly provided by friends outside of the

Mission ; but it was not long before Mr. Godden had

the gratification ofseeing a good congregaiion, and many

earnest ones in the neighborhood identified themselves

'
11

•v'
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with her cause at the confirmation held there in the

year 1862.

The progress of the good work there, the active

interest of friends in the Mission and around it, was

marked by increasing congregations and by the pro-

curing of a good bell and parochial library for Man-

sonville, and by the purchase of a melodeon for each

of the churches.

Mr. Godden, believing that good might be done in

East Bolton, and receiving encouragement to open

Church service at that place, the Rev. Mr. Codd was

appointed to serve that field, in 1860 ; but he only

remained six months. During that time, however, he

labored with great usefulness. After sometime Mr.

Godden, still behoving that the work could be extended

there, resumed the services occasionally at Peaseley's

Comers, and in that neighborhood. In the winter of

1864, arrangements were made for the ^erection of a

church in this locality. Through the active aid of

James Austin, jun., Esq., Alexander Sargeant, J. W.

Taylor, and other friends near, Mr. Godden was

encouraged to begin building, and broke ground on

the 16th May, 1865 ; and on the 14th of the October

following, the new church was completed and opened

with Divine service ; the Venerable Archdeacon Leach

}Teaching the opening sermon.
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^Mii. Mr. Godden remained in Potton until tlie spring of

1866, when the rectory of Dunham being vacant by

the death of the Venerable Archdeacon Scott, he

became his successor. He was followed in Potton by

the Rev. John Reade, who still remains.

Through the influence of Mr. Godden a High School

was established in Mansonville, in 1857, and for which

he succeeded in obtaining a grant of $400 per annum.

But owing to the fact that there was no suitable build-

ing erected wherein the school might be taught, this

grant was withdrawn after two years. Mr. Godden

afterwards established another school, which was taught

in the church gallery and supported by subscription.

A Custom House was estabhshed at Mansonville in

1844, and James H. McVey was appointed collector.

In 1858, he was removed to Georgeville, and was

Succeeded by H. A. Parker. On the removal of Mr.

Parker to Frelighsburg, in 1865, Mr. Gunn became

collector.

Mansonville has two hotels and three stores. Of

the latter two are owned respectively by R. N. & D.

Hanson and A. & S. Peabody, and the third by N.

& S. Boright, brothers of the Boright Bros, of

Sutton.

Mansonville stands on an elevated strip of land that

?! ':-';\f\
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rises between two valleys; one lying on the east, the
other on the west of it. The descent to the west is
abrupt while on the east a less decided slope reaches
to the M.ssisquoi Kiver, which runs through the valley
on that side. The location is extremely pleasant. A
park regularly laid out witnesses to the taste of the
inhabitants

;
and the village, though small, owing to

the number of stores and shops, is characterized by
quite an air of bustling activity.
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The settlement of this part of Potton was commenced

at a comparatively recent date. The first settler came

here in 1819. His name was Ileman Beldeon ; he

remained here but one year, and at the expiration of

that time sold his improvements to Mr. Powell from

Bolton. The latter cleared the lot, and spent the

remainder of his life here. The farm is now owned

by his daughter, Mrs. Hoskins.

The next settler was Isaac Webster, who came from

New Hampshire about 1826. A few years afterward,

he also sold out. The purchaser bore the name of

Sweat ; he lived here till his death. The farm is now

owned by I. Sweat.

About 1828, a spring, which has since become quite

noted for the medicinal properties of its waters, was

discovered m this part of Potton on the farm of Wm.
Green. It is contiguous to Bolton, and from this fact
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is generally known as '* Bolton Spring." Its value

as a remedial agent was not known until about 1844,

when it was used in a case of scrofula with most happy

eflfect.

Many in search of health and quiet have annually

visited this place for three or four years past.

As late as 1830, the road leading from North Pot-

ton to Mansonville was scarcely passable for waggons,

though there was a good winter road. In 1814, the

body of a murdered man was found in the woods near

this path, about four miles from Bolton line. He was

well dressed, and by those who found him was sup-

posed to have been murdered by his travelling com-

panion while on their way through these wilds to Stan-

stead. Nothing was ever known with certainty, save

his awful fate. Not unlike many other instances,

perhaps wife, children and kindred watched and waited

for his return till hope deferred made the heart sick,

and as the years went by hope finally lapsed into

despair of ever again on earth seeing his face. And

the guilty, treacherous fellow-traveller, who can tell

how his crime followed him ? how his blood-stained

gold, proved a reproach and a curse while he lived ?
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And when death came, what horrors seized his frenzied

soul ?

" The groan, the strife,

The blow, the gasp, the horrid cry.

The panting, throttled prayer for life,

The dying's heaving sigh.

The murderer's curse, tue dead man's fix'd still glare.

And fears, and death's cold sweat—they all were there I"

The New Connexion Methodist Circuit, to which

Potton belongs, also includes Bolton and a part of

Magog.

The Wesleyan Methodist Circuit, in which Potton

is included, also embraces East Bolton.

The number belonging to these denominations in

these Circuits is as follows ;

Methodists (New Connexion) 113

Methodists (Wesleyan) 125

The following is a statement of the numbers, so far

as known to the writer, beJonging to the other Protes-

tant Churches in Potton :

Baptists 45

Episcopalians 22

Christians Unknown.

There are seventeen elementary schools in this

township.

la .''ii:
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During the rebellion, there was one company of

militia organized in Potton, which was commanded by

Capt. David Perkins. There has been a company of

volunteers recently organized here, which is com-

manded by Capt. Robert Manson.

Potton is watered chiefly by the Missisquoi River

and its tributaries. This river flows south through the

middle of the township until within a few miles of the

Province line, when it turns and flows nearly west.

A considerable portion of the surface of Potton is

uneven. The land is good, and much of it under a

good state of cultivation. Along the banks of the Mis-

sisquoi in the southern part of the township, where the

first settlers " pitched their tents," the land is chiefly

interval.

The Green Mountain range, after leaving Sutton,

passes through the north-west part of Potton into Bol-

ton. In the east part of the township there are four

or five mountain elevations, the principal of which are

" Sugar Loaf" and " Owl's Head."

At the foot of the former, Hes Sugar Loaf Pond,

a small body of water frequently visited by fishing

parties.

" Owl's Head" is a mountain of considera' 1e height

situated on the margin of Lake Memphremagog. The

w

"%
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scenery around the Lake, which is admired by all who

visit this section, appears to much better advantage

from the summit of this mountain. Far different from

what it appears to one looking toward it from the base,

the summit covers an area of several acres, and is

broken by a number of rocky prominences—all having

about the same altitude. Clambering to the top of

one of theye, in aummer, a person sits enraptured with

the scenery around him and marvels at " the wonder-

ful works of God." Far below him the forest with its

intermingling branches, laden with richest foliage,

appears as an object of attraction ; but the Lake and

the country around it will be the chief objects on which

his eye will rest. The land with its verdant garb of

summer slopes down to the water's edge in fantastic

shapes ;
pretty cottages adorn the eastern shore of the

Lake ; while here and there are islets which to the

fanciful appear like rafts the fairies have decked with

evergreens and launched upon its bosom.

Away to the west, the view is bounded by the Green

Mountains, though the blue cone-like summit of the

Pinnacle is seen beyond them in the distance. Farther

toward the north a sheet of water appears between

the mountains, which by one familiar with the country

is immediately recognized as Brome Lake^
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About 1805, a mulatto named Joseph Abel settled

at the foot of " Owl's Head," and lived here until the

close of the war of 1812. During this war, he was

very useful in conveying dispatches to the people on

the east side of tlic Lake.

These dispatches were sent from the mihtary autho-

rities of Canada to Col. Ruiter in West Potton, and by

him forwarded to Abel, to be conveyed to Stanstead.

After he left this place, the land he had cleared

remained common, and of course afTordcci excellent

pasturage.

Understanding this, a few of the farmers of Stan-

stead brought about one hundred sheep to the spot

and left them.

Bears, however, soon attacked the flock, killed sev-

eral and drove the remainder from the place. Search

was made for them by the owners in vain. The woods

were scoured for miles around, still no trace of them

could be obtained, and finally the search was aban-

doned ; the owners having arrived at the conclusion

that bears had destroyed the entire flock. But as a

forlorn hope they sent word over to the Missisquoi

Valley, that any one who would find them should have

half the number remaining. The ofier coming to the

ears of Mr. Chauncey Norris, then a youn*^ man, he
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decided to renew the search. Knowing it to bo the

nature of sheep to climb to the highest point accessible

to them, he wisely concluded to visit the summit of

" Owl's Head." Others ridiculed his plan and endea-

vored to dissuade him from taking the trouble ; but

he persisted in his design, and one morning commenced

his tramp. On his way he divulged the object of his

visit to two other young men, who agreed to accompany

him ; but on arriving at the foot of the mountain they

considered the task of scaling it too laborious, and

remained where they were, leaving Mr. Norris to

ascend alone.

Before reaching the summit, a bear jumped up

before him and made off. Proceeding to the spot from

which Bruin started, he found the carcass of a sheep.

Thus encouraged he went on, and having reached the

top began to call the sheep, and presently the head of

one appeared above an adjacent prominence, and then

one after another came up until he had the whole flock

around him. He and his two companions taking each

of them an old sheep and lamb to repay them for their

trouble, restored the remainder to their owners.

I m:
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BOLTON.

Bolton is twelve miles long and ten wide. It is

bounded on the north by Shefford, South Stukcly, and

Orford ; or .ae east by Magog and Lake Memphrema-

gog ; on the south by Potton and the Lake ; and on the

west by Brome. It was erected into a township by

Letters Patent, issued August 18th, 1797. *

• NAMES OF THE GRANTEES.

Nicholas Austin, Silas Peaslee, Mark Randall, Joel Eraser,

Jacob Place, Joshua Pecvy, Peter Dils, Simon D. Wadleigh,

Alexander Thompson, James Taylor, Jeremiah Page, Joseph

Buzzell, Jeremiah Page, jun., John Eastman, Joseph Chandler,

Samuel Page, Jonathan F. Kelly, Jonathan GriflBth, Andrew
Clow, John Moore, Nicholas Austin, jun., Wilder Page, Jacob

Rosenbergh, Stuffle Katsabach, Helmas Strangling, Ezra Free-

man, Henry Grout, John Brill, Caleb Grout, David Grout,

Joseph Brill, John Grout, William Grout, Jonas Hunt, Joseph

Rickart, George Hayner, David Brill, Benjamin Brill, William

Brill, Peter Yates, Robert Manson, William Manson, Henry Ber-

hart, Ernest Kisman, Peter Rosenbergh, jun., Balmsly Lord,

Richard Adams, Benjamin Page, David Brill, Peter Weare, Tho-

mai Shepard, Daniel Taylor, Moses Copps, and Roger Hibbard.
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The toTrnship was formerly of larger size than at

present, its northern line being about nineteen miles

in length ; but in 1849, by an Act of Parliament, a

part of Bolton was united with a part of Hatley, form-

ing the new Township of Magog.

As shown in the commencement of the history of

Dunham, it was the practice of each associate to con-

vey by deed to the leader, all that portion of the town-

ship granted him by Government, with the exception

of a certain number of acres, for which he had pre-

viously bargained with the leader. But in the case of

Bolton, many of the associates proved unfaithful to

their agreement with Nicholas Austin, their leader,

and sold their claims to other parties ; thus not only

defrauding Austin of his rights, but making incalcu-

lable trouble for the inhabitants of the township, in

after years.

As no partition of the lands was effected, those asso-

ciates who settled in the township " pitched" upon any

lot Avhich suited them, while many of the associates

never soHied in the township at all, but sold out their

rights to those who would pay for them, simply defin-

ing them as consisting of so many acres lying in com-

mon, or as one fifty-fourth part of the five-sevenths

granted. The whole five-sevenths of the township.
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accordingly, continued to be held in common, and in

process of time, as property rose in value, the want of

a partition by "which every man might know what land

was his own, came to bo discouragingly felt. A
farther ground of uneasiness was also entertained, aris-

ing from the fact that much of the land had fallen into

the hands of absent speculators, who calculated on

sometime reaping advantage from the improvements

which the resident proprietors were eflfecting.

In 1847 or 1848, the first attempt was made to pro-

cure a partition of the lands in this township, by means

of an Act of Parliament, authorising any tenant in

common to bring his co-tenants into court, for the pur-

pose of ascertaining and dividing their rights. Two

years afterward, an amendment was passed, to facili-

tate still further the intention of the parties ; but the

suits which were instituted had made but Uttle pro-

gress when it was found that a partition by means of

the usual legal tribunals was impracticable, and they

advanced no further.

The legislature in 1857, taking into consideration a

state of affairs so injurious to the prosperity of the com-

munity, as well as of the individual parties interested,

directed the Government, by a statute to that effect,

to purchase the rights of the absent proprietors, and
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after that purchase to name commissioners who should

make inquiry and report upon the best and most equi-

table mode of dividing the lands between the resident

proprietors and the Crown, without being bound to

follow the strict rules of law, either as to the interpre-

tation of the titles, or as to the evidence produced

before them.

The claims of absent proprietors having been pur-

chased by Government, in accordance with that statute,

the Governor General named as commissioners, J. M.

Ferres, G. H. Sweet, and L. Bourdon, Esqrs. *

A few days after the issue of the commission, the

Commissioners circulated printed notices in the town-

ships of Bolton and Magog, that they would hold sit-

tings at McMannis's hotel in Bolton, and at McNa-

mara's hotel in the village of Magog, for the purpose

of receiving claims from the resident proprietors ; judg-

ing that such an arrangement would suit best the con-

venience of the people, and cause them the least

possible expenditure of time and money, in bringing in

their claims.

They accordingly sat pursuant to advertisement at

the places indicated, from time to time, as they con-

* From the Report of these Commissioners, the greater part

of the above history of the Bolton land difficulty is taken.
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sidered the parties interested would have their papers

in readiness ; but they found that there was not that

alacrity shewn on the part of the people which they

expected.

On the 6th of November, 1863, G. C. V. Buchar

nan and D. R. "Wood, Esqrs., were appointed Com-

missioners in place of Messrs. Ferres and Bourdon.

After having investigated all the claims of the resi-

dent proprietors, the Commissioners rendered a report

adjusting their titles to their lands.



EAST BOLTON.

Nicholas Austin was from Somersworth, N. H.

Loyal to the British Government during the revolution,

he so alienated the aflfections of the people among

whom he lived, that he found a home there no longer

agreeable. The republican form of government which

then existed in the land, also rendered a further stay

to him distasteful, and consequently in the winter of

1793, he came with his family to Canada. The snow

at that time was deep, and the journey was performed

with three sleds, each drawn by a yoke of oxen. They

were obliged to encamp nine nights before reaching

their destination. Possessed of considerable property,

Mr. Austin immediately set about making improve-

ments. He settled near the Lake, and haviiig erected

a cabin, he commenced clearing ; and with the aid of

the men who came with him, he soon had about one

hundred acres ready for planting and sowing. On this
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he raised a largo crop of corn. The mortar used by

the early settlers, and which is elsewhere described in

this work, was the only thing in use here, for several

years, to prepare corn for food ; but Mr. Austin finally

obtained a small mill, which being propelled by a brook

near his dwelling, superseded the mortar.

As shown above, he experienced much difficulty

from having been leader of the associates. He lost

his property, and died in embarrassed circumstances

in 1821.

Nicholas Austin, jun., a nephew of the leader,

accompanied his uncle to Bolton, and worked for him

a few months, and then returned to New Hampshire.

There he married, and returned to Bolton in 1794. He

was one of the associates, and obtained two lots of

land at the place now called Peaseley*s Corner. He

cleared the greater part of these lots, and lived here

twenty-six years. The St. Francis Indians frequently

visited him, and often found lodgings in his cabin. The

most friendly feelings were always manifested toward

him by the red skins, and he, like all the settlers, strove

by kindness to create and foster this friendliness.

Mr. Austin had considerable taste for hunting, and

consequently waged war against the wild beasts which

roamed through the forests of Bolton. He built a log
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pen on his premises, in which to catch bears. It was

so constructed that when Bruin had entered, and com-

menced devouring the bait, a door would fall effec-

tually, closing the entrance, and thus imprison the bear

to be dispatched by the hunter at his leisure. Many

bears were caught in this way. A story is told of an

encounter which he had with a panther, some years

after coming to the place. He went to Montreal in

the winter for a load of salt, and was returning with it

and a few cows, purchased in the " French country,"

and had nearly reached the place in Bolton, now

known as Willard*s Mills, when he met Mr. S. Wad-

leigh, on horseback ; his horse at full speed. The

equestrian halted on meeting Mr. Austin, and gave as

a reason for his hurried riding, that he had just passed

a panther, partially concealed behind an upturned root

in the valley below. He tried to dissuade Mr. Austin

from the design of going forward, assuring him that if

he escaped with his own life, one of his cows must pay

the price of his temerity ; but his advice was

unheeded.

Mr. Austin was a strong athletic man, possessed of

an indomitable will, and his familiarity with wild ani-

mals since he ha 'ived in Bolton, made him fearless

in their presenr <. He pursued his course, and on
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reaching the valley, found, as he had been forewarned

by his neighbor, that a huge panther was there, crouch-

ing behind an old root.

The animal thrust his head out, when he heard the

cattle approaching, and cast a wistful look toward them,

thinking doubtless of '^ /^ dainty meals their steaks

might furnish, but the presence of their owner seemed

to awe him, and he did not move from his covert.

Finding that the panther did not seem inclined to

molest him, the courageous quaker* determined to

assume the oflfensive himself. Halting his team, he

got out of the sleigh, and savagely hurled his axe at

the monster. This was dodged, and he then picked

up a lever which had been used in rolling logs from the

road, and threw it violently against the side of the

animal, which then leaped from his hiding-place ana

made off. The leaps he made in departing measured

twenty-two feet.

Mr. Austin then went on his way. The next day

in company with one of his neighbors, he went in quest

of the panther, and they shot him a few miles from the

place where Mr. Austin first formed his acquaintance.

This pioneer died October 19th, 1853, in the eighty-

fourth year of his age. His son, James Austin, sen.,

* Mr. AnstiD and his uncle belonged to the Society of Friends.
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now living in Bolton, is a man respected for his Chris-

tian integrity. He has in years past taken an interest

in the affairs of the township, ".nd discharged the duties

of several public ofaccs.

His own son, James Austin, jun., resides near him,

and is one of the prominent citizens of the township.

He has held various municipal offices, and once ran as

candidate for representative of the County of Brome.

His brother, Amos Austin, who died in August, 1865,

also held different municipal offices. He \. . postmaster

for several years at East Bolton.

About 1796, Jeremiah Page made Bolton his home.

He settled near the Lake, on the lot now owned by his

grandson, William Page. He cleared much land here,

and in process of time became a wealthy farmer.

In 1796, Simon D. Wadlcigh, from Hanover, New

Hampshire, became a resident of Bolton. He also

settled near the Lake, on the lot owned at present by

his grandson, Henry Wadleigh.

Mr. Wadleigh owned the ferry from Bolton to

Hatley, twenty years. He and his three sons often

went to Missisquoi Bay for grain, and sometimes even

to Burlington, Vermont.

The path by which they reached St. Armand at this

early period, led in the same direction in passing the
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mountain that the road now does that leads from So"th

Bolton to Knowlton ; and so little was it travelled that

its course could be ascertained only by the aid of

blazed trees. The travelling here, in winter, was done

wholly on snow-shoes.

In the winter of 1798, Mr. Wadleigh, being one

day in St. Armand, started, in company with one Dr.

Collins, for homo. The distance was more than thirty

miles, and must be travelled on foot with the aid of

snow-shoes. On the route they were to pursue, there

was but one house, and this was near St. Armand. All

the provisions they could procure at the house where

they started, was a pound of pork, and taking this and

a pint of rum, they commenced their toilsome journey.

For miles they travelled along, through the deep snow

and howling wilderness with cheerful spirits : but

becoming weary after awhile from their long march,

their spirits began to flag. Both were strong, hardy

men, but they found themselves hardly able to endure

such excessive physical exertion, and at times almost

despaired of reaching their destination. Still they

encouraged each other and pressed on, and had

arrived within two miles of the settlement near the

Lake, when Mr. Wadleigh sank down exhausted*

Finding that he was unable to go on, his companion
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completed the journey alone, and sent men with food

back to Mr. "W"., who was thus saved from an untimely

death.

Two years after this, a stranger from the States,

undertook tlie foolhardy task of accomplishing the

same journey on horseback. He desired to go to

Stanstead, and, notwithstanding the expostulations of

the people in St. Armand where he started, he set out

on his perilous journey—the last he ever made. The

next day, a man named Horatio Ilibbard, departed

from St. Armand to go over the same route, on snow-

shoes. He had reached the east side of the mountain

in Bolton, when he found the traveller—who had

started the day previous—in the snow, frozen to death.

The bridle reins were tied around his thigh, and his

horse stood by, keeping vigil by the body of his master,

in this dreary desolation. Mr. Ilibbard went forward

to the Lake, notified the inhabitants, and then came

back with four or five inen, to point out the spot

where the traveller lay. Owing to the quantity of

snow on the ground, and the absence of a road, they

knew that he could noj be removed, and consequently

took with them a few pieces of boards, a hammer and

nails, to construct a coflfin ; with the design of inter-

ring him at the place where he died. They erected a
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rude slab to mark his burial-place, and on it was this

simple inscription

:

DR. LEVI FRISBIE,

Jan. 28, 1800.

After they had performed this sad duty, they were

too weary to return the same day, therefore they

kinalcd a fire and remained all night.

The spot where the traveller was buried, is about

forty rods from the hotel of J. McMannis.

Mark Randall, from New Hampshire, settled at the

place now called Pcascley's Corners about 1797. He
settled on the lot where Mr. Bryant now lives. A
few of his descendants live in Bolton.

A year or two after the arrival of Randall, Moses

Peaseley, also from New Hampshire, settled here, on

the lot now owned by the heirs of Nathan Randall.

He lived here till his death, which occurred in 185S^.

When roads were laid out in this section, Mr. Peaseley

happening to live nearer than any other man to the

place where the roads intersected, his name gava

name to the place.

Not far from 1800, a man named Fraser settled on

a lot about a mile west of this, and which is now

owned by D. P. Powell. He did not long remain

here. Enoch Reynolds, about the same time, settled
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on the lot at present owned by Peter Williams. Mr.

Reynolds lived hero till about 1830, when he sold his

farm, and went to the States. lie had a large family,

and a number of his descendants live in this part of

Canada.

Mills were erected here in 1820, and this became

a place of considerable business. A mill for carding

and cloth dressing was built at the period named

above, by L. Huntley. At or about the same time,

a carding mill was built by Nicholas Austin, jun., and

Curtis Phelps. Both were in operation several years.

Nicholas Austin built a saw-mill here in 1828. These

mills have all gone to decay, and portions of the old

mill-dam are the only relics of them now remaining.

A store was built in 1841, by John Austin. This

has been occupied by different traders. Alexander

Sargent has traded here for eleven years.

A post-office, with the name of East Bolton, was

established here in 1852.

This place is situated at the head of the Bay, where

the steamer " Mountain Maid" calls on her trips

through the Lake.

A mile and a half north-east of this is another

inconsiderable village, called Thomson's Mills, where

business was done in former years. Alexander
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Thomson was the first settler here. He came from

Barnet, Vermont, but was formerly from Scotland.

lie settled in Bolton in 1704, on a lot now owned by

a grandson of the same name. A favorable mill-site

was the chief inducement for the st:lection of this lot.

About 1796, he buHt the first grist and saw-mill

erected in Bolton. They were burnt down a few

years subsequently, bnt oth^T-s wc'^ iLimediately

erected. lie and his son Alexander uopt these mills

in operation till his death, v ' ich occurrec^ in 1832.

After this, his son built a i tone grist-mill, but it '^

now in a tumble-down condition. Mr. Thomson was

an enterprising and industrious man. He had four

children—three sons and a daughter. His son Alex-

ander was brought under the influence of the Gospel,

and converted at the ago of sixteen. He united with

the Methodist Church at the age of twenty-one, and

was licensed as a hc^\ preacher, and labored in this

capacity in Bolton and occasionally in adjacent town-

ships for a perioi of thirty years. He was a faithful

and consistent Christian ; one who was always at the

post of duty. There are Christians who labor at times

with the utmost zeal ; and then, as if exhausted with

their efibrts, degenerate into a state of passive inaction,

that seems almost to denote indiflference to the Chrii-

' .i^-
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tian cause ; but nothing of this ki ud can be said of

Mr. Thomson. Though not soaring to the heights

of spirituality attained by some, yet he was always

faithful, abounding in the work of the Lord. Possessed

of some property, ho did all in his power to relieve

the wants of the poor, and was ever a faithful attend-

ant and counsellor at the bedside of the sick. It may

be said of Mr. Thomson, with as much truth doubtless

as it can be said of any man, that he visited the

fatherless and widows in their affliction, and kept him-

self unspotted from the world. lie died August 7th,

1845, at the age of fifty-nine. He married Betsey,

the eldest daughter of Daniel Taylor, another pioneer

of Bolton. She lived with him many years, always

sustaming an irreproachable Christian character. She

died a few years after her husband's death, at sixty-

five years of age.

They had six children, four of whom died in infancy.

Of the two living—a son and daughter—the former

owns and resides on the homestead, and worthily sus-

tains the good name borne by his fathers.

Daniel -Taylor, from Danville, Vermont, came to*

this place, and settled about 1795. He was poor at

that time, but by industry and economy he accumu-

lated considerable property. He had several children,

all of whom became industrious and useful citizens.
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A store was built at Thomson's Mills in 1842, by a

man named David Taylor, but there has been no trad-

ing here for nearly twenty years. The first school-

house at East Bolton was built in 1826 ; it stood just

south of the present Wesleyan Chapel.

The first preachers who came to this township were

Baptists. There was no Baptist Church formed here,

however, at an early day, those who embraced the

views of this denomination uniting with the Baptist

Church of Hatlcy.

Rev. Ashur Smith was one of the first who preached

Methodism in Bolton, and as a faithful laborer in the

cause of Christ, he -merits more than a casual notice

in these pages.

Mr. Smith was born in Sandersfield, Mass., Dec.

6th, 1776. He was converted when eleven years of

age. At the age of seventeen he began to preach,

being licensed by the Episcopal Methodist Society, of

which he was a member. Soon after this he went to

Maryland, where he was engaged in teaching. This

employment he followed through the secular days of

the week, and preached on the Sabbath. While

there, he was prostrated by yellow fever, which so

destroyed his constitution that he was obliged in a

measure to desist from his labors on the Sabbaths

;
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but his health being partially restored, in a few years,

ho -vras enabled to resume his duties as a local

preacher. In 1799, he went to Putney, Vermont,

where he remained several months, and married Miss

Sarah Wilson, a young woman of piety. Mr. Smith

spent a few years in different pjirts of Vermont, and

New Hampshire, laboring with zeal as a minister. He

travelled in both of these States in the towns lying on

the Connecticut river, and was in God's hand the

instrument of turning many from darkness to light.

Years after coming to Canada, many of those who had

been converted under his ministrations visited him,

evincing for him feelings of the warmest love and

respect.

About 1806, having purchased a tract of land in

Stanstead, he removed thither. Here, the time not

given to his duties as a local preacher was devoted

to farming. It was while Uving here that he first came

into Bolton.

In 1808, with his family, he visited Mass. While

there the troubles that led to the war of 1812, com-

menced, and his friends tried to induce him to remain

in the States ; but he persisted in his design of

returning.

He was somewhere in the vicinity of Grand Isle,
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Vermont, on his return, when his friends, by their

entreaties and by pointing out to him the difficulties'

that he might encounter in the coming war, if he

resided in Canada, induced him to remain and take

up his residence in Grand Isle. There he labored

with his usual zeal in his Master's cause. During the

greater portion of the time he lived there, a weekly

prayer-meeting was held at his house.

Mrs. Smith always eagerly and faithfully partici-

pated in the devotional exercises of these meetings.

In 181G, Mr. Smith came to Canada, to sell his farm

which had been unoccupied during the war. At that

time he visited his Christian friends in Bolton, and

found them without a religious instructor. So ear-

nestly did they beset him to return and become their

pastor, that he decided to sell his farm in Grand Isle,

and exchange that in Stanstead for One in Bolton.

This design was soon effected, and from that time till

his death he lived in this township. He not only

preached here, but extended his labors into Stanstead,

Hatley, Shefford, Stukeley, and others of the Eastern

Townships.

About 1840, he united with the New Connexion

Methodist Church, and during the remainder of his

days stood as a local elder on the minutes of that
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Society. He was able to attend to his chosen work

until a few years previous to his death. Five years

before this took place he expressed to his family his

determination to preach one more sermon, and selected

for his text, the words of the 37th Psalm, 25th verse.

Ihave been young, and now am old ; yet have I not

seen the righteousformhen, nor his seed begging bread.

From these, he preached a thrilling and effective

sermon at the schoolhouse at Peaseley's Corners.

During his last illness, he endured his sufferings

with Christian patience, and exhorted all who ap-

proached him to seek an abundant entrance into the

Redeemer's Kingdom. He died August 20th, 1865.

His companion, a woman of strong mind and fervent

piety, was a co-worker with him in the Master's vine-

yard for sixty-one years. She died April 8th, 1861,

aged seventy-nine. At the funeral of this mother in

Israel, Mr. Smith, bowed with age, came up to the

coflSn to take a last look of the departed, and as he

gazed on her features, the thought of their speedy re-

union in a happier world seemed to animate him, and,

standing erect, he exclaimed ;
" Glory to God, the

mom of the resurrection will soon dawn ! Sixty-one

years have we lived together, and though separated

now, we shall soon be united again, with renewed
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bodies, to spend eternity with one another and with

the Lord.'* The occasion and the person gave to these

words a powerful effect.

Of the five children of Mrs. and Mr. Smith, only

two daughters reside in Bolton,—Mrs. Austin and Mrs.

Thomson; both are followers of the Master their

parents served.

The Methodists erected the church now standing

near Thomson's Mills in 1825 ; this was the first

church built in the township.

New Connexion Methodist ministers came to Bolton,

in 1831, or the year following. There is quite a

large number now in the township belonging to this

denomination. They built a church at Peaseley's

Corners in 1865.

An Episcopal church was built here in the same

year. An account of it will be found in the history

of Mansonville, Potton.



BOLTON FOREST.

Though the localities mentioned under this head

may not belong to that part of the township generally

known as Bolton Forest, we shall notice under it the

settlements made in the north part of Bolton.

Ouisant Shanyo was the first settler in the north-

east part of the township. He settled in 1822, near

the base of Orford Mountain on the lot on which he

still lives. At this time his nearest neighbor was two

miles distant. The road now passing through this

section could then ^e travelled with teams, only in

the winter. M. Shanyo was from one of the French

Seigniories in the direction of the Richelieu. He

came into the woods like most of the pioneers with

but little, save his axe, and his good right arm, where-

with to make for himself a home. He built a log

cabin, cleared a few acres, and raised a crop of grain

the first year. The next year, he married, and con-

r^ij'rll

.



HISTORY OF BOLTON. 355

his head

generally

iler it the

:hc north-

J22, near

which he

was two

>ugh this

only in

e French

eu. He

3ers with

a, where-

ilt a log

of grain

and con-

tinued making improvements on his land, until he now

has a fine farm, a pleasant dwelling and farm-build-

ngs to correspond.

Two or three years after he came here, two of his

brothers followed and settled near him.

Daniel "Wingatc, from N. II., settled in the north

part of Bolton in 1810. He came to Stukely three

years previous to this, where he lived until he came to

Bolton. A part of the lot on which he settled is now

owned by Joseph Sutliffe. A clearing had been made

before his arrival, but he was the first permanent settler.

At this time his nearest neighbor was a mile and a

half distant, in Stukely ; southward the nearest neigh-

bor was eight miles distant. A few years afterward

Edward Phifield, from N. H. , settled near him.

In 1832, John Perdue, from the parish of St.

Cesaire, purchased a lot about three miles south of the

place where the individuals named above settled. Being

a Protestant—a Methodist—and not finding congenial

society among people of a difierent faith, he deter-

mined on seeking a home elsewhere. Pursuant with

this determination, he came to Bolton where he had a

brother laboring as a preacher. He effected but small
•

improvements on the lot where he first settled, but

soon afterward removed to an adjacent lot and cleared

I

m
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it of its forest. At that period, the road leading from

Stukely to Thomson's Mills was little more than a

footpath; being impassable for vehicles. It had

formerly been in a better state. The inhabitants of

Stukely years before had travelled this route, to reach

Thomson's Mills, but after having mills of their own

erected they no longer did so. It consequently had

become obstructed with old trees and underwood.

The old story of carrying grists on the back is told

by a son of Mr. Perdue, named Thomas. One spring

soon after his father came to this place, he carried ten

bushels of grain—taking a bushel each time he went

—on his back to Thomson's mills—about eight miles

distant. This son now lives two miles from the home-

stead.

The lot that Mr. Perdue cleared is now owned by

L. S. Huntington, M.P.P. A copy of the " District of

Bedford Times," which contains a description of the

copper mine and Lake in that vicinity, having just

been received by the writer, he transfers the article to

these pages. The paper from which it is taken was

issued Friday, August 24th, 1866.

" Mr. Editor,—A few days since, the writer of this

paid a visit to the copper mine belonging to L. S.

Huntington, M.P.P. , in the township of Bolton, on lot
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No. 8, in the 8th range, about four miles from the

turnpike leading from South Stukely to Magog. A
shaft has been sunk eighty feet, and 'there are two

drift3 of eighty feet each, in soHd rock, through the

Whole of which copper has been found, of a rich qua-

lity. Two hundred tons of this ore is sent to the

United States market per month, and sold at from

$45 to $80 per ton. Over one hundred laborers are

now employed on the works, among whom are Cornish

miners. Large sums of money have already been laid

out, not only in opening tliis mine, but in making roads,

bridges and houses for the laborers. As the mine is

in the woods, a very great disadvantage has been

labored under for want of roads, and mills for lumber.

These disadvantages are now about being obviated, as

the roads are quite good, and a large mill is so far

under way that it is to be put in operation in a few

days.

" This mine is not only at present a great success, but

really promises to be so for all time to come.

" About one mile from the mine, Mr. Huntington has

erected a commodious and spacious summer residence

in >vhich he is spending the summer with his family

together with D. R. Wood, Esq., and family from

Montreal. The two families, together with friends

visiting there, made a nice jolly party.

" The Hon. gentleman has shown great energy and

enterprise in diving into this wilderness, pouring out

his money to open up and develop the vast mineral

i^
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wealth of that wild region. lie has succeeded. He
deserves to succeed. No one should grudge him the

fortune he has or may make.

" The writer with other gentlemen, visited a beauti-

ful sheet of water about half a mile east of the mine,

and launched a small row boat upon its surface. This

sheet of water—about two miles long and half a mile

wide—is one of the most beautiful lakes that is to be

found in Canada. It is a gem of beauty dropped in

between the mountains and surrounded by a native

forest. This splendid body of water has hitherto been

called " Long Pond." On returning to the summer

mansion, in the evening, it was agreed by the ladies

and gentlemen present that this lovely gem of water

deserved a better and more appropriate name. Many
names were suggested, but finally " Lake Dillon"

was agreed upon in honor of a pioneer who settled

near that locality."

The history of Mr. Huntington is identified with the

townships. He is a native of Compton. After receiv-

ing his education, ho turned his attention to the law,

teaching a portion of the time while prosecuting his

studies.

He was engaged in teaching at Frost Village, when

he was called to edit " The Advertiser," a paper

Coming into existence at Knowlton. Subsequently he

published it at Waterloo.
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In addition to the business of editing this sheet, ho

practiced law, and discharged the duties of various

public offices. While thus engaged, the knowledge

he acquired of the wants of the country, the popu-

larity he gained among the people of the section

where he resided, won for him the office of represen-

tative for the County of Shefford.

Mr. Huntington is a man of most efficient business

talent, and an eloquent speaker. His name may bo

recorded on the page with those who, unaided by the

prestige of wealth or " noble birth," have earned for

themselves honorable distinction.

A copper mine has been recently discovered hi the

extreme north part of Bolton, on the land of Darius

Dingman. A mining company is now working it.

Another man, who maybe considered one of the pio-

neers of this part of Bolton, as he moved a mile into

the forest on coming here, is Luther Libby. He came

from the west part of the township and settled here in

1858 ; he built a saw-mill at the outlet of Comstock

Pond in the fall of the same year, and has since en-

larged it, so that he is doing good business in the

way of working up the hemlocks around him. He

has in it a circular and an upright saw, and a shingle

and lath machine. A few years after building this
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mill, he also prepared in it accommodation^! for grind-

ing the grain of the few inhabitants in this vi cinity.

A post-office was established in this part of Bolton

in 1865, with the name of Eolton Forest.

James Ohannell was appointed postmaster ; he resides

not far from Orford Lake.



WEST BOLTON.

Settlers camo into this part of the township as

early as 1800. John Brill, from St. Armand, but

formerly from Fishkill, New York, settled here about

that time. The lot where he settled, and which he

cleared, is now owned by J. S. Brill. He became a

captain of militia in this township ; he was a useful

citizen, a man of integrity, and an active member of the

Methodist Church. He died in 1856.

Jonathan Duboyce, from Rhode Island, settled in

West Bolton soon after the arrival of Mr. Brill. He

took up his residence on the lot now owned by Carmi

Stone ; but he soon removed to another lot, which is

now owned by his grandson, Jonathan Duboyce. He

died in 1865. He had three children—two sons and a

daughter. His sons have been industrious, and, conse-

quently, have accumulated property. The one living

in Bolton is one of the most wealthy men in the town-

ship. T
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David Blunt, from Danville, Vt., soon followed the

above settlers into, Bolton, and took up a lot which

is now owned by Luther Blunt, his grandson. After

livinf' a few j oars on this, he removed to another lot.

Mr. Blunt was poor when he came to this township

;

but being industrious and economical, ho soon amassed

a respectable ^ )mpetency. During the war of 1812,

he kept a house of entertainment for travellers, and

the smugglers passing through this section, on their

way to Montreal, always stopped with him, thus mak-

ing " tavern keeping" for him a profitable business.

Mr. Blunt was a man who took much pains in the

rearing of stock, and his animals Avere always of a

superior quality ; he was " close" in his trades, yet

was ready to engage in any enterprise that seemed

to promise any good to the public. Several years

before his death, he united with the Methodist Church,

and ever afterward gave freely for the support of the

ministry and for the relief of the poor.

In 1807, William Brill, brother to John Brill, settled

on the lot now owned and occupied by Frankhn Stone.

After living here a year, he went to Philipsburg, and

for four years managed the farm ofLodwick Streit.

lie then returned to Bolton, and spent the re-

mainder of his days on the lot above-mentioned. He
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was an industrious and upright man; he died in 1854at the age of se.enty-seven
; he has only two chil-'drenda Ht, One married Franklin' Stone

1823^ Mr. Stone has lived in Bolton ever sinee th ^penod and been an active, enterprising citizen andhas held municipal offices.
'

The other daughter of Mr. Brill lives in Ohio.
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SOUTH BOLTON.

The first settler in the locality bearing this name

was Brooks Davis. He settled, in 1815, on the lot

now owned by 0. Rexford, but his stay was short.

In 1816, Nathan Hanson settled on the lot now

owned by J. McMannis ; he built a *' cabin," and

lived here, in single blessedness, two years, preparing

for himself a farm. Bears and wolves often came in

close proximity to his cabin, but seemed satisfied with

taking a survey of the improvements he was making

without ofiering him any violence.

Once, however, the ofiensive attitude assumed to-

ward him by a she bear was calculated, like the tale

of Hamlet's Ghost, to make

" Each particular hair to stand on end,

Like quills upon the fretful porcupine."

After closing his labors in the field one day, in the

summer, he milked his cow, and had just taken a
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brand from a burning log heap, with which to kindle a

fire on reaching his cabin, when he observed that the

cow was snuffing and showing indications of alarm.

Looking in the direction in which she was gazing, he

saw a cub but a short distance from him. The cow

began to paw the ground and assume a warlike atti-

tude, when the old she bear came bounding from the

forest toward them, prepared for battle. With consi-

derable presence of mind, Mr. Hanson stood his

ground ; and when she had approached near enough,

he threw his firebrand at her, and, at the same time,

began to shout loudly. Astonished at this unexpected

noise, and probably awed by the proximity of the fire-

brand, she halted a moment, and then betook herself

to the woods, followed by her cub.

In 1818, Mr. Hansnvi married a daugtiter of Simon

D. Wadleigh. At thib time l\o opened a public house.

Though the road po^''^ ing his dwelUng was not passable

for waggons until 1 ^20, there »»'vre many who travelled

it on foot and on horseback, it being the only road, as

shown in the history of East Bolton, by which the in-

bitants could conveniently reach the west side of the

mountain.

Mr. Hanson died in ISSi, at the age of sixty-four.

He was a man of energy, and always encouraged



366 HISTORY OF BOLTON.

public improvements. The worthy companion of his

labors is still living. They had two daughters—one

married to William Green, the proprietor of the board-

ing house, near Tlie Spring, in Potton ; the other

married J. McMannis, who came into the possession of

the estate of Mr. Hanson in 1853.

A post-office was established here in 1852, with the

name of West Bolton ; but the name was subsequently

changed to South Bolton. Mr. McMannis was ap-

pointed postmaster, and still holds the office. He is

secretary of the Board of School Commissioners, and

also of the Municipal Council. Previous to receiving

these two offices, he was a member of both boards, and

for two years was Mayor of the township.

Since coming into possession of the premises where

he resides, he has made additions to the buildings, and

now sustains an hotel, much patronized by travellers

and those desirous of testing the medicinal virtues

of The Spnng, to which he provides a daily con-

veyance for his boarders. His hotel is most hap-

pily located to secure the patronage not only of such

as are named above, but of any seeking recreation

in a retired and beautiful spot. It is situated in

a delightful valley, five miles from the Lake, on one of

the best roads In the Eastern Townships. This road
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passes through a gorge of the mountain a short dis-

tance west of the hotel, and affords to the traveller

passing through the gorge a view of scenery wild and

picturesque.

The management of the hotel of Mr. McMannis, we

thiiilc, may he safely said to be different from that

of hotels generally. Instead of being odoriferous

of choice wines and the rendezvous of Bacchanals,

liquors are but seldom seen, and quietude and good

order pervade all its apartments. The sojourner here

will be sure of finding an agreeable family, and, in

summer, ample opportunities of " trouting" in rip-

pling streams, of climbing mountain crags, and of

dozing in " leafy bowers"' or '^ cosy dells."

In 1818, Enoch Davis settled near the lot of Mr.

Hanson, on land now owned and occupied by Alex-

ander Tavlor.

The first schoolhouse in this part of Bolton was

built about 1827, on the spot occupied by the present

schoolhouse.

The first rehgious society was formed here in 182G,

by Rev. E. Mitchell, a Baptist minister, of Hatley.

Twenty-eight individuals united with this.

The account of the building of the Episcopal Church

edifice here in 18G0, through the exertions of the Rev.

J. Godden, will be found in the history of Potton.
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A grocery was opened here in 1864, by 0. Rexford.

This is something more than a mile east of the hotel of

J. McMannis. The locality around it is known as

Rexford's Corners.

(*:.-

Three miles north of this is a place formerly called

Bolton Centre, but now knc- ,n as Willard's Mills.

The first settler here was Joseph Biizzel ; he came

about 1808, and built a log house, near where the pre-

sent schoolhouse stands. He erected a saw-mill soon

afterward.

Like many of the pioneers, he disposed of his pre-

mises on the first opportunity. They passed through

various hands within a few years.

Mark Randall built a grist mill here about 1820.

The present grist mill was built in 1864, by John

Hall.

James Kimball, from Mass., came in 1827, and

erected the building now used for a tavern by J.

C. Hall. The first public house was opened by Mr.

KimbalL

In 1860, John Willard, attracted hither by the

water power privilege, and by the large quantity of
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timber, built a saw-mill and tub factory, and has been

doing a good business ever since.

John Blaisdell opened a store here in 18G5.

In 1860, a man named Burns, residing between

this place and East Bolton, was arrested for the horrid

crimes of incest and infanticide, and expiated these

crimes in Montreal, the same year, on the gallows.

There are twenty-two elementary schools in Bolton,

two or three of which are dissentient.

In giving the number of communicants in each of

the different Protestant Churches in Bolton, the whole

number of the Wesleyans in the circuit, including East

Bolton and Potton, will be given, and the number of

New Connexion Methodists in the circuit, embracing

Bolton, Potton, and a part of Magog.

The number in each is as follows :

—

Methodists (Wesleyan) 125

Methodists (New Connexion) 113

Episcopalians 24

Baptists 15

In the north part of the township there are many

French Roman Catholics. They built a church there

a few years since.
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The impression scorns to have gone abroad that but

a small part of Bolton is cleared of its forest, and that

the surface is exceedingly rough.

This impression, doubtless, has arisen from the

reports of strangers, who have passed through only

certain parts of the township, where forests and moun-

tains are the most prominent features. But from this

prevailing opinion, the writer begs leave to differ.

It is true that the township is somewhat broken by

mountains, yet much of the surface is only gently

undulating, and presents to view as good farms as can

be found in the toAvnships.

A mountain range enters it from Potton in t!ie

south-west part, and passes north-easterly beyond its

centre. There is also another range passing partially

through the township, farther towards its eastern

boundary ; but aside from these, and the elevations and

depressions along their bases, the land is compara-

tively level.

There is no doubt that had it not been for the diffi-

culties in Bolton with regard to lands, capitalists would

have settled here, and flourishing villages sprung up, as

there has in other locahties ; but these difficulties hav-

ing at last become settled, it is very obvious that the

advantages bestowed by nature upon Bolton will not

long remain undeveloped.
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While otlior townsliipg may boast of suporioritj in

some things, Bolton can boast of excellent roads, being

equalled in this respect by no other township embraced

in this history.

Bolton is exc3odingly well watered, abounding both

in streams and ponds. Of the latter, the largest is

Long Pond, or " Lake Dillon," described in the history

of Bolton Forest. Orford Lake lies in the north-east

part of the township, at the foot of Orford Mountain.

It is nearly circular in form, and about a mile in

•breadth. Between this and the base of the mountain,

on the north-east, there is a level space, barely wide

enough for a road. On the south side of the lake

there is a similar narrow space at the foot of the steep

mountain bluflf. Along this margin the road runs that

leads from South Stukely to Magog.

The Missisquoi river, which has its source in a pond

in the south part of Stukely, runs southward through

Bolton. There are also many smaller streams in the

township.



MUNICIPAL AND JUDICIARY SYSTEMS.

The foregoing pages having been devoted to other

subjects, wo propose, before closing this work, to notice

briefly a few of the difficulties under which the early

inhabitants had to labor, from the absence of legal

tribunals in the tovv^nships, and in having roads esta-

blished " according to law ;" and also some of the

changes that have token place in our municipal and

judiciary systems.

In 1796, an act was passed entitled, " An Act for

making, repairing, and altering the highways and

bridges in this Province, and for other purposes ;"

and by this it was enacted that, " all the King's

highways and public bridges shall be made, repaired

and kept up, under the directions of the grand-voyer

of each and every district within the Province, or his

deputy."

The latter was appointed by the grand-voyer himself.

This law, with but little if any alteration, continued

in force till 1841.

Although his works were homologated by the Court

of Quarter Sessions, it will bo seen that much autho-

rity was vested in the grand-voyer.

^^f|:
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Many of these townships were obliged to send all

the way to Montreal or (^icbec for this dignitary, or

his deputy, to establish roads, and at that time the

Avork of bringing him to the backwoods of the town-

ships, Ave can easily imagine, involved both time and

expense.

Under an or nee passed in 1841, municipal dis-

tricts were established, in each of which a council,

called the District Council, was formed, which was

composed of a warden, appointed by the Governor-

General and of councillors elected by the diflferent

townships and parishes in the district. No township

or parish could elect more than two members, and

only one, provided the population therein did not

ec^ual or exceed a certain number.

The establishment of these local or municipal authori-

ties, formed an important era in the history of the

townships. In addition to the other authority be-

stowed upon the District Council, it received that,

which up to this time had been vested in the grand-

voyer.

These councils continued to exist until 1845, when

the ordinance by which they were established was

repealed, and an act passed establishing township and

parish councils. Under this act each township and
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374 MUNICIPAL AND JUDICIARY SYSTEMS.

parish elected seven individuals to serve as councillors,

who, at their first session, elected a major and clerk.

Two years afterwards, this act was also repealed,

and another passed, giving rise to County Councils.

To form a County Council, each township and parish

in the county elected two members, and, as in the case

of the township and parish councils mentioned above,

they elected a mayor and clerk at their first session.

In 1855, another change was made, by which the

then existing County Councils were dispensed with, and

the present system of Township or Parish and County

Councils established.

By this act, each township or parish elects seven

councillors who hold monthly sessions. A mayor and

secretary-treasurer are elected at the first session.

The mayors of the different local councils in the

county, with a warden they elect from their own num-

ber, and a secretary-treasurer, form a County Council

which holds quarterly sessions. The duty of each

County Council consists in attending to certain matters

in the county in which more than one township is

interested, and in acting upon those appeals that are

made from the Township or Parish Councils.

The object in all these changes has been " to pro-

vide for the better internal government of the Pro-
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vince ;" and in each now act, the legislator has

endeavored to dispense with some objectionable feature

of the old one, until our municipal system has been so

liberalized that it seems to be working to the general

satisfaction of the public.

The want of Courts of Justice in the rural districts

of Canada was long folt by the pioneers. Although

a magistrate was appointed here and there in the

country, who was serviceable to a certain extent in

preserving peace in the community, all matters of dis-

pute to be settled by civil process must be carried for

adjustment to Montreal. This state of things often

subjected the honest and industrious citizen to losses

and imposition, from the fact that he chose " to suffer

such things " rather than ap})ly for redress to a tri-

bunal so many miles distant
;
yet, for all this, there is

no doubt that it was productive of some good, inas-

much as it prevented the gratification of the person

of litigious proclivities, who upon the slightest })rovo-

cation would willingly expose his neighbor to the

rigors of the law. Individuals of this stamp are still

found in our communities, and as the means are now

at hand for tbem at any time to gratify in a " legal
'*

way a desire for revenge upon their neighbors, their
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frequent appearance as plaintiffs in courts of justice,

has won for them the title of " law characters ;" and

their course proves conclusively that the law, like

many other things which are calculated for the good

of man, may by perversion become prolific of evil.

Many years elapsed before our judiciary was so

altered as better to accommodate the townships, but

in process of time Commissioners* Courts were estab-

lished in all the townships and parishes that chose to

petition for them ; thus affording an easy and expedi-

tious way of recovering small debts. A few years

afterwards, Courts of Request were established with

a jurisdiction superior to that possessed by Commis-

sioners' Courts.

Of the many changes that have taken place in

our judiciary since that period, we shall notice only

the last important one which occurred in 1857. At

that time, Canada was divided into districts for judi-

ciary purposes, and in each of the districts Courts of

Justice established, with a jurisdiction equal to that

which, up to this time, had been monopolized by a few

courts of the Province.

This great boon to the townships and other parts of

Canada was procured in the face of a determined

opposition, mainly through the exertions of Attorney-

General Cartier. .
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